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INVITATION LETTER 

 

Dear Shareholder, 

 

COMPANHIA DE LOCAÇÃO DAS AMÉRICAS (the “Company” or “Locamerica”) is pleased to 

invite you to an Annual and Special Shareholders' Meeting to be held on April 26, 2019, at 11:00 

a.m., at the head offices of Unidas S.A., a subsidiary of the Company, located at Rua Cincinato 

Braga, 388, Bela Vista, São Paulo, SP, Postal Code (CEP) 01333-010, in the City of São Paulo, 

State of São Paulo, 01333-010 (“Shareholders' Meeting”), in accordance with the provisions of 

the call notice indicated as Exhibit I hereto. 

 

Enclosed to this invitation please find the information and clarifications inherent to the matters to 

be discussed at the Shareholders' Meeting, and instructions on the procedures to take part in the 

meeting.  

 

Your opinion has fundamental relevance for the development of the Company's business and, for 

that reason, we look forward to your attendance. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

São Paulo, March 25, 2019. 

 

 

PEDRO ROQUE DE PINHO DE ALMEIDA 

Chairman of the Board of Directors 

 

 

 

 

 



1. INSTRUCTIONS AND PROCEDURES INHERENT TO THE ANNUAL AND SPECIAL 

SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING 

 

1.1. Annual and Special Shareholders' Meeting 

 

The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting is the mandatory annual meeting of the Company’s 

shareholders, always held within the first four (4) months following the end of each fiscal year, 

in accordance with the provisions of art. 132 of Federal Law No. 6.404/1976, as amended (the 

“Corporation Law”), and its purpose is to take the accounts of the managers; to review, discuss, 

and vote on the financial statements; and to resolve on the allocation of the annual net income, 

the distribution of dividends, and the establishment of the global annual compensation for the 

members of Management. 

 

The Special Shareholders' Meeting is the meeting of the Company's shareholders, held whenever 

required for examination, by the shareholders, of any matters that, under the Corporation Law, 

require their express approval and/or the resolution of which is exclusively incumbent upon them. 

 

Whenever both types of meetings are required, the Corporation Law allows both to be 

cumulatively called for the same place, date, and time, as well as that unified minutes be drawn 

up. 

 

1.2. Opening 

 

As provided for by article 29, paragraph 4 of the Company's Bylaws, declaring the Shareholders' 

Meeting opening in first call shall require the proper attendance of shareholders and/or their legal 

representatives holding at least twenty-five percent (25%) of the Company's voting capital. 

 

Considering that the resolutions to be passed as part of the Special Shareholders' Meeting relate 

to a proposal of amendment to the Company's Bylaws, please note that they shall only take place 

upon attendance of shareholders holding shares that correspond to at least two-thirds (2/3) of 

the Company's voting capital in first call, as provided for by article 135 of the Corporation Law. 

 

In case none of said percentages is achieved, a new call notice shall be made at least eight (08) 

days in advance, after which the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting and/or the Special Shareholders' 

Meeting shall be declared open upon attendance of any number of shareholders. 

 

1.3. Attendance 

 



In order to attend the Shareholders' Meeting, the Shareholders shall demonstrate their capacity 

as holders of shares issued by the Company, by means of the following documents: 

 

(a) proof issued by the financial institution that is the depositary of the book-entry shares held 

by them or under their custody, and/or in relation to the shareholders members of the fungible 

custody of registered shares, the statement containing the respective equity interest, dated no 

more than two (02) days before the date of the Shareholders' Meeting; 

 

(b) instrument of power of attorney, duly regularized as provided for by law and by the 

Company’s bylaws, in case of representation of the shareholder; 

 

(c) copy of the identity document legally acknowledged as such, with a recent photo and national 

validity, within the validity terms, if applicable, in case of individuals; 

 

(d) copy of the updated articles of incorporation and of the act vesting sufficient powers in the 

representative for representation at the Shareholders' Meeting, in case of a legal entity; 

 

We recommend to the Shareholders that they check with the depositary or custodian of the 

shares issued by the Company and held by them the terms for issue of the documents listed in 

item “(a)”. 

 

For purposes of the document set forth in item (c), the Company shall accept the following 

documents: (i) Civil Identity Card (RG); (ii) Foreigner's Identity Card (RNE) issued by the Federal 

Police; (iii) Passport; (iv) Card of the Professional Body valid as civil identity for legal purposes, 

issued by the authorized body (Brazilian Bar Association (OAB), Regional Medical Council (CRM), 

Regional Board of Accountants (CRC), Regional Council of Engineers and Architects (CREA)); or 

(v) national driver's license with photo, within the validity term. 

 

For purposes of the documents established in item (d), the Company shall accept (i) bylaws and 

articles of association, in a certificate of the respective registry, plain copy of the original, provided 

that submitted together with a certificate issued by the registry, certifying the document 

registration; certified copy of the registered act; and (ii) specifically in relation to the act vesting 

powers in the representative to vote on behalf of the legal entity shareholder, in case of a private 

instrument of power of attorney, it shall contain the certified signature of the principal or of the 

principal’s representatives, as the case may be. In case such act corresponds to a meeting of the 

board of directors, the shareholder shall provide in advance the proof of filing and publication of 

the act with the applicable registry. 

 



In case of legal entities with representatives who are not appointed in the own bylaws/articles of 

association or with any appointment procedure by means of a separate act, the shareholder shall 

provide evidence of validity of the appointment, by submitting proof of filing of the act with the 

applicable registry. 

 

In case of investment funds, the representative shall provide evidence of his/her capacity as 

administrator or manager of the fund or as attorney-in-fact duly appointed by it, under the 

applicable law and regulations. 

 

In case of foreign legal entities, the documentation evidencing the powers of representation shall 

go through the notarization and legalization by the Consulate or apostille process, as applicable. 

Documents written in other languages under the Law shall be solely accepted upon submission 

of a certified translation. 

 

1.4. Early Delivery of Documents 

 

The Company requests the Shareholders to file or send said documents by correspondence to (i) 

the Company’s head offices located at Avenida Engenheiro Caetano Álvares, No. 150, Limão, 

postal code 02546-000, in the City of São Paulo, State of São Paulo, to the care of Gian Macarrão, 

or (ii) its Central Administration located at Avenida Raja Gabáglia, No. 1.781, 13th floor, 

Luxemburgo, postal code 30.380-457, in the City of Belo Horizonte, State of Minas Gerais, to the 

care of the Company’s Legal Department, or (iii) the place where the Shareholders’ Meeting is to 

be held, located at Rua Cincinato Braga, 388, Bela Vista, São Paulo, SP, Postal Code (CEP) 01333-

010, in the city of São Paulo, State of São Paulo, to the care of the Investor Relations Department, 

within forty-eight (48) hours before the date of the Shareholders' Meeting. 

 

The Company shall receive copy of the aforementioned documents to be sent by fax (+55 31 

3319-1573) or electronic mail (juridico @unidas.com.br / ri@unidas.com.br). 

 

The Shareholders or their legal representatives shall attend the Shareholders’ Meeting bearing 

documents to confirm their identity and/or their powers, as the case may be. 

 

Finally, the Company reiterates that the early submission of plain copy does not exclude the 

obligation to submit original counterparts, unless the documents submitted in advance are copies 

certified by an applicable notary office. 

 

1.5. Representation 

 



As provided for by paragraph one of article 126 of the Corporation Law and by the decision of 

the Collegiate Board of the Brazilian Securities Commission (CVM) in CVM proceeding 

RJ2014/3578, on November 4, 2014, the shareholder may be represented at the shareholders' 

meeting: (i) in case of an individual: by an attorney-in-fact appointed for less than one (1) year 

(who is a shareholder, manager of the company or lawyer regularly enrolled with the Brazilian 

Bar Association); (ii) in case of a legal entity: by its legal representatives or by an attorney-in-

fact appointed pursuant to its articles of incorporation and in accordance with the rules of the 

Civil Code; (iii) in case of an investment fund: by its administrator and/or manager or by an 

attorney-in-fact appointed pursuant to its articles of incorporation and in accordance with the 

rules of the Civil Code. In all cases, the representation may be evidenced by a public or private 

instrument, provided that, where the powers of attorney are granted by means of a private 

instrument, the original shall be submitted with certified signature of the principal. The documents 

evidencing the representation shall be also delivered at the Company's head offices, with due 

regard for the terms and form described above. 

 

Subject to the procedures set forth in CVM Instruction No. 481 of December 17 2009, as amended 

(“CVM Instruction 481”), in the Company’s Reference Form and in the instructions contained in 

this Management Proposal, the shareholder may exercise his voting rights by completing and 

delivering a Remote Voting Bulletin (the “Voting Bulletin”) made available by the Company on the 

websites of the Company (ri.unidas.com.br), of the Brazilian Securities Commission (CVM) 

(www.cvm.gov.br), and of B3 S.A. – Brasil, Bolsa, Balcão (“B3”) (www.b3.com.br). 

 

1.6. Remote Voting 

 

As permitted by CVM Instruction 481, the Company shall provide the possibility of participation 

in the Shareholders’ Meeting being called through the Voting Bulletin. 

 

In order to participate in the Shareholders’ Meeting by such means, the shareholders of the 

Company must complete the appropriate fields, sign the Voting Bulletin and send it to any of (i) 

the Bookkeeping Agent (as defined below) for the shares issued by the Company, (ii) the Custody 

Agent in charge of the custody of the shares issued by the Company held by such shareholder 

(the “Custody Agent”), if it is capable of receiving the Voting Bulletin under CVM Instruction 481, 

or (iii) directly to the Company. 

 

Accordingly, the Company informs that the bookkeeping agent for its shares is Itaú Corretora de 

Valores S.A. (the “Bookkeeping Agent”), in accordance with its agreement entered into with the 

Company. 

 



The Bookkeeping Agent has created the Assembleia Digital website, a safe solution which enables 

remote voting. In order to vote through the website, each shareholder must register and hold a 

digital certificate. Information on the registration and a tutorial on the issuance of the digital 

certificate are available online at http://www.itau.com.br/securitiesservices/assembleiadigital/. 

Voting instructions must be sent through the Itaú Assembleia Digital website. 

 

In addition, it should be stressed that, in accordance with the provisions of CVM Instruction 481, 

custody agents may, but are not required to, receive Voting Bulletins from shareholders of the 

Company. Accordingly, each shareholder is advised to verify with his respective Custodian Agent 

if it will provide such service, as well as its costs and procedures. In cases where the Custodian 

Agent chooses to receive Voting Bulletins, the shareholders of the Company may also, at their 

sole discretion, forward their Voting Bulletins directly to such agents. 

 

Moreover, in accordance with the provisions of CVM Instruction 481, shareholders who so wish 

may also forward their Voting Bulletins directly to the Company, in which case they must comply 

with the following rules: 

 

(i) The Voting Bulletin shall only be received when physically sent by mail to the Central 

Administration of the Company, located at Avenida Raja Gabáglia, No. 1,781, 13th floor, 

Luxemburgo, Postal Code (CEP): 30.380-457, in the city of Belo Horizonte, State of Minas Gerais, 

to the care of the Legal Department of the Company, or, alternatively, by electronic mail 

(juridico@unidas.com.br / ri@unidas.com.br), in which case the originals should be forwarded to 

the Company prior to the date scheduled for the Shareholders’ Meeting being called; 

 

(ii) The Voting Bulletin must contain the place, date, and signature of the applicant shareholder. 

If the shareholder is deemed a legal entity under Brazilian law, its signature must be of its legal 

representatives or attorneys-in-fact with powers to take such action; and 

 

(iii) The Voting Bulletin sent directly to the Company must be accompanied by documentation 

proving the status of shareholder or legal representative of the signatory shareholder, thereby 

complying with the requirements and formalities set forth in item 1.3 above. 

 

A Voting Bulletin unaccompanied by the documentation required to prove the status of the 

shareholder or its representation shall not be deemed valid and, consequently, shall not be 

processed by the Company; however, it may be corrected and resent by the shareholder to the 

Company, subject to the deadlines and procedures established in CVM Instruction 481. 

 



A Voting Bulletin received by the Bookkeeping Agent, by the Custody Agent (as the case may be), 

and/or by the Company at least seven (7) days in advance of the date of the Shareholders’ 

Meeting shall be accepted, in accordance with the provisions of art. 21-B of CVM Instruction 481. 

A Voting Bulletin delivered after such deadline shall be deemed invalid and shall not be processed 

by the Company. 

 

If any non-completed items remain in the Voting Bulletins submitted after the expiration of the 

abovementioned deadline, the Company informs that it shall understand them as an instruction 

equivalent to an abstention from voting on such matters. 

 

  



2. AGENDA OF THE ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING  
 
2.1. To examine the accounts rendered by the managers, examine, discuss and vote 
the Management Report and the Financial Statements of the Company, accompanied 
with the Independent Auditors’ Report, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 
 
The annual rendering of accounts by the managers is mainly evidenced by the Financial 
Statements of the Company (“Financial Statements”), approved by the Board of Directors of the 
Company at meeting held on February 25, 2019, disclosed to the market on February 25, 2019 
and attached to this Management Proposal as Exhibit V thereto. Additionally, pursuant to article 
25 of CVM Ruling No. 480/09, the Financial Statements must be accompanied with the following 
documents, in the case of the Company:  
 
a. Management Report, prepared according to the applicable regulations (“Management 
Report”); 
  
b. Independent auditor’s report;  
 
c. statement by the officers certifying that they reviewed, discussed and agreed with the 
opinions expressed in the independent auditors’ report, informing the reasons, in the event of 
disagreement; and 
 
d. statement by the officers that they reviewed, discussed and agree with the Financial 
Statements. 
 
The purpose of the documentation is to allow the shareholders to know better the results of the 
period, including upon submission of Management Comments to them, pursuant to section 10 of 
the Reference Form, attached to this management proposal as Exhibit II hereto (“Management 
Comments”).  
 
The Management Report, the Management Comments, and the Financial Statements of the 
Company (this latter also including paragraphs “b” to “d” above) relating to the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2017, may be found attached to this document, as well as (i) on the page of B3 in 
the World Wide Web (www.b3.com.br); (ii) on the page of CVM in the World Wide Web 
(www.cvm.gov.br); (iii) at the principal place of business of the Company; (iv) at the address of 
the Central Management of the Company mentioned above; and (v) on the page of the Company 
in the World Wide Web (ri.unidas.com.br). 
 
2.1.1. Management Proposal 
 
The Management of the Company proposes that the Shareholders carefully examine the 
documents submitted to them and subsequently approve the accounts of the managers without 
restrictions. 
 



2.2. To resolve on the management proposal of the Company to allocate the net 
income and distribute dividends relating to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 
 
The net income of the period is the one remaining after deduction of accrued losses, provision 
for the income tax and profit sharing of the Company’s employees. Such distribution shall be 
made by the Shareholders’ Meeting and shall be made upon determination of the portions of the 
net income that shall be allocated to the legal and statutory reserves and the portions that shall 
be distributed to the shareholders as dividend. 
 
The dividend is in turn the portion of the profit earned during the fiscal year as result of the 
current fulfillment of the business purpose of the Company, distributed among the shareholders 
proportionally to the number of shares held by them.  
 
The Corporation Law, article 202, institutes the mandatory dividend which consists of a minimum 
portion of the net income that, subject to the provisions of law and the Company’s Bylaws, shall 
be distributed to the Shareholders. As to the Company, article 36, paragraph 3, of its Bylaws, 
stipulates that such portion shall correspond to twenty-five percent (25%) of the net income 
verified in the period. 
 
In this sense, the Proposal for Allocation of Net income of the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2018, formulated by the Management of the Company as provided for in CVM Ruling 481 may be 
found in Exhibit III of this document. 
 
2.2.1. Management Proposal 
 
The Management proposes to the Shareholders the following:  
 
(I) The following allocation of the net income verified in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, 
in the amount of one hundred and eighty-nine million two hundred and two thousand and one 
Reais and eighty-seven cents (R$189,202,001.87):  
 
(a) nine million four hundred and sixty thousand one hundred Reais and nine cents 
(R$9,460,100.09) to the legal reserve, as provided for in article 193 of the Corporation Law, equal 
to five percent (5%) of the net income of the period. 
 
(b) Subject to subsection II below, eighty-seven million one hundred and forty-six thousand three 
hundred and thirty Reais and forty-four cents (R$87,146,330.44) already distributed to the 
shareholders of the Company as interest on equity based on the profits earned in the period. 
 
(c) ninety-two million five hundred and ninety-five thousand five hundred and seventy-one Reais 
and thirty-four cents (R$92,595,571.34) to the statutory profits reserve, referred to as Investment 
Reserve, as provided for in paragraph 2, article 36, of the bylaws of the Company. 
 



(II) The imputation to the statutory dividend of the amounts distributed as interest on equity 
based on the profits earned in the period, declared at the meeting of the Board of Directors of 
the Company held on March 26, 2018, June 22, 2018, September 19, 2018, and December 21, 
2018, in the total amount of eighty-seven million one hundred and forty-six thousand three 
hundred and thirty Reais and forty-four cents (R$87,146,330.44), corresponding to a net amount 
of Income Tax Withheld at Source of seventy-six million nine hundred and twenty-two thousand 
three hundred and thirty-four Reais and twenty-eight cents (R$76,922,334.28), and such amount 
corresponds to (a) one hundred and seventy-one percent (171%) of the amount that would be 
due by the Company to the shareholders as minimum mandatory dividend according to Article 36 
of its bylaws; and (b) twenty-five percent (25%) of the net income of the period ended December 
31, 2018. 
 
If the Shareholders do not approve the allocation to minimum mandatory dividend of the amounts 
paid as interest on equity pursuant to subsection (II) above, and thus resolve on the declaration 
of minimum mandatory dividend, such amount, set aside according to the applicable accounting 
rules, shall be equal to forty-four million nine hundred and thirty-five thousand four hundred and 
seventy-five Reais (R$44,935,475), and the remaining balance of the net income, less the amount 
allocated to the legal reserve of nine million four hundred and sixty thousand one hundred Reais 
and nine cents (R$9,460,100.09), shall be allocated to the Investment Reserve. 
 
The recommendation for the approval of the proposals is justified by the fact that such proposals 
were formulated in compliance with the legal and statutory obligations of the Company, as well 
as in compliance with its dividend policy, in view of the fulfillment of the business purpose of the 
Company.  
 
2.3. To fix the global annual compensation of the members of the Board of Directors 
and of the Executive Board of the Company 
 
The global annual compensation of the Managers consists of a remuneration in cash and other 
benefits paid or given by the Company in consideration for the services provided by the members 
of the Board of Directors and of the Executive Board. The amount is approved in a global basis, 
i.e. a limit is fixed within which the Management of the Company will make the distribution to its 
members, subject to the following: his/her liabilities, the time devoted to the performance of 
his/her duties, his/her skills and professional reputation, the risks he/she will assume, and the 
market value of such kind of service. 
 
In this sense, the Proposal of Compensation for the Managers for the fiscal year 2019 submitted 
by the Management pursuant to CVM Ruling 481 may be found in Exhibit IV hereto. 
 
Additionally, for the Shareholders to best understand the proposal of compensation for the 
managers of the Company for the fiscal year 2019 and in line with the instructions given in Circular 
Letter/CVM/SEP/No. 03/2019, the Company lists below some additional information relating to 
the proposal of compensation submitted. 
 



(a)  Period to which this proposal of compensation applies:  
 
The proposal of compensation for the managers submitted herein to the Shareholders applies to 
the fiscal year to end on December 31, 2019. 
 
(b) Amounts approved in the prior proposal and amounts currently realized: 
At the Annual Shareholders’ Meetings held on April 27, 2018 the proposal of compensation for 
the managers of the Company for the fiscal year 2018 was approved in the total amount of 
R$15,400,000.00. However, the amount of R$6,707,393.36, has been acknowledged, in the fiscal 
year 2018, as provided for in the Financial Statements of the Company disclosed on February 25, 
2019 and in Section 13 of the Reference Form of the Company for the same period and included, 
respectively, in the Exhibits V and IV hereto, to be the amount of the compensation of the 
members of the management of the Company. 
 
A difference was noted of R$8,692,606.64 between the amounts proposed and the amounts 
actually acknowledged for the year 2018, and such difference resulted mainly from: (i) non full 
achievement of the targets set in the structure of variable compensation attributed to the officers 
of the Company; (ii) non-exercise of options to buy shares by managers who held them, even 
after the vesting period; and (iii) an estimated number of directors and officers which is less than 
the actual average of members in year 2018, calculated as provided for in Circular 
Letter/CVM/SEP/No. 03/2019. 
 
The tables below contain a comparison between the compensation of the managers estimated 
for the fiscal year 2018 and the compensation actually acknowledged for said period: 
 

Total Compensation Estimated for the Current Fiscal Year 12/31/2018 – Annual Amounts
 

 Board of Directors 
Statutory Executive 

Board 
Fiscal Council Total 

Total no. of 
members 

5.00 3.00 0 8.00 

No of 
remunerated 
members 

5.00 3.00 0 8.00 

Annual fixed 
compensation 

    

Salary or 
management fee 
(pro-labore) 

    

Direct and indirect 
benefits 

    

Participations in 
committees 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 



Others 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Description of 
other fixed 
compensations 

    

Variable 
compensation  

    

Bonus 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Profit Sharing     
Attendance at 
meetings 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Commissions 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Others 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Description of 
other variable 
compensations 

    

Post-
employment 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Cessation of 
position 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Based on 
shares, 
including 
options 

    

Remark 

(1) The number of 
members of each 

body was 
determined as 

specified in 
Circular Letter 

CVM/SEP/Nº03/20
19.

(1) The number of 
members of each body 

was determined as 
specified in Circular 

Letter 
CVM/SEP/Nº03/2019. 

Total 
compensation 

    

 
Total actually acknowledged compensation in the fiscal year ended 12/31/2017 
 

 Board of Directors 
Statutory Executive 

Board 
Fiscal Council Total 

Total no. of 
members 

7.00 4.00 0 11.00 

No of 
remunerated 

7.00 4.00 0 11.00 



members 
Annual fixed 
compensation 

    

Salary or 
management fee 
(pro-labore) 

    

Direct and indirect 
benefits 

    

Participations in 
committees 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Others 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Description of 
other fixed 
compensations 

    

Variable 
compensation  

    

Bonus 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Profit Sharing     
Attendance at 
meetings 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Commissions 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Others 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Description of 
other variable 
compensations 

    

Post-
employment 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Cessation of 
position 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Based on 
shares, 
including 
options 

    

Remark 

(1) The number of 
members of each 

body was 
determined as 

specified in 
Circular Letter 

CVM/SEP/Nº03/20
19.

(1) The number of 
members of each body 

was determined as 
specified in Circular 

Letter 
CVM/SEP/Nº03/2019. 

Total     



compensation 
 

(c)  Amounts of this proposal and amounts included in Section 13 of the Reference 
Form of the Company:  
 
The Management highlights that both the amounts proposed herein and those evidenced in 
section 13 of the Reference Form of the Company, according to Exhibit IV to this Management 
Proposal, are relating to the same period, which is the same period as the fiscal year of the 
Company and congruent with it. 
 
2.3.1. Management Proposal 
 
The Management proposes that the Shareholders examine carefully the Proposal of 
Compensation for the Managers made available with this document and that they approve the 
Global Compensation for the Managers for the fiscal year 2019 in an amount not less than 
R$21,012,185.61. 
 
The recommendation for approval of the proposal is justified by the fact that such proposal was 
made in strict compliance with article 152 of the Corporation Law, i.e., taking into account their 
responsibilities, the time they devote to the performance of their duties, their skills and 
professional reputation, and the market value of their services. 

 

3. AGENDA OF THE SPECIAL SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING 

 

3.1. To amend the Bylaws of the Company by (a) adjustment to the wording of 

the following provisions: Article 2 (head provision); article 14 (head provision); article 

21 (head provision); article 27, sole paragraph; and item “s” of article 31, and, in view 

of the amendments set forth in the preceding item, (b) to restate the wording of the 

Bylaws of the Company. 

 

It is proposed to amend the head provision of Article 2 of the Bylaws to provide for the new 

addresses of the Head Office in São Paulo, SP and of the Legal Domicile of the Company in Belo 

Horizonte, MG. 

 

It is also proposed to amend Articles 14 and 21 of the Bylaws for purposes of (i) amending the 

number of members of the Board of Directors to a maximum of nine (9) members and of the 

Statutory Executive Board to a maximum of nine (9) members and (ii) amending, in Article 21, 

the title of the position of Chief Investor Relations and Business Development Officer to Chief 

Investor Relations Officer. 

 



It is also proposed to amend Article 27 of the Bylaws for purposes of amending the authority to 

approve the granting of accommodations, suretyships, mortgages, escrows, pledges, 

endorsements, or any other guarantees to companies directly or indirectly Controlled by the 

Company so as to define approval authority caps as between the Executive Board and the Board 

of Directors, as well as amending Article 31, item “s,” in regard to the authority of the 

Shareholders' Meeting, in order to authorize the repurchase or redemption of securities issued by 

the Company so as to make clear that only those securities convertible into shares shall depend 

upon shareholder approval. 

 

In view of the amendments made, for easier handling of the Company’s representation 

documents in its daily operations, reducing its operating costs and enabling a better 

understanding of its provisions, it is necessary to restate the Company's Bylaws, as provided for 

by Exhibit VI hereto. 

 

Below is an explanatory table of the amendments proposed, as well as the justification and the 

legal and economic effects of each change. 

 

Article 2, head provision 
(Current Wording) 

Article 2, head provision 
(Amended Wording) 

Justification and Legal 

and Economic Effects 
Article 2 – The principal place 
of business of the Company is 
in the city of São Paulo, State 
of São Paulo, at Avenida 
Engenheiro Caetano Álvares, 
No. 150, District of Limão, 
Postal Code 02546-000, and 
registered office in the city of 
Belo Horizonte, State of Minas 
Gerais, at Avenida Raja 
Gabaglia, 1781, 12th and 13th 
floors, District of Luxemburgo, 
Postal Code 30380-403. 

Article 2 – The principal place of 
business of the Company is in 
the city of São Paulo, State of 
São Paulo, at Rua Alameda (sic) 
Santos, No. 438, District of 
Paraíso, Postal Code: 01.418-
000, and registered office in the 
city of Belo Horizonte, State of 
Minas Gerais, at Rua Amoroso 
Costa, 348, District of Santa 
Lúcia, Postal Code: 30.350-570. 

The update to the address 

of the principal place of 

business and of the 

registered office of the 

Company is mandatory 

under the Law in force. 

 

Article 14, head provision 
(Current Wording) 

Article 14, head provision 
(Amended Wording) 

Justification and Legal 

and Economic Effects 
Article 14 – The Board of 
Directors consists of at least 
five (5) and no more than 
seven (7) members, all 
elected and removable from 

Article 14 – The Board of 
Directors consists of at least five 
(5) and no more than nine (9) 
members, all elected and 
removable from office by the 

The proposed increased in 

the number of positions in 

the Board of Directors is 

intended to enable, if 



office by the Shareholders’ 
Meeting, with a unified term of 
office of two (2) years, and 
reelection is permitted. 

 

Shareholders’ Meeting, with a 
unified term of office of two (2) 
years, and reelection is 
permitted.  

necessary, the formation 

of a body with a wider 

variety of expertise, 

thereby increasing the 

diversity and safety in the 

Company’s decision-

making. 

 

Article 21, head provision 
(Current Wording) 

Article 14 (sic), head 
provision 

(Amended Wording) 

Justification and Legal 

and Economic Effects 

Article 21 - The Company’s 
Executive Board shall be 
composed of at least two (2) 
and at most five (5) members, 
who may be shareholders or 
not, resident in Brazil, elected 
by the Board of Directors, 
authorized to having roles 
accumulated by a same 
Executive Officer, with the 
following designations: one 
(1) Chief Executive Officer, 
one (1) Chief Financial Officer, 
one (1) Investor Relations and 
Business Development 
Officer, one (1) Head Rent a 
Car Officer (RAC) and one (1) 
Officer without specific 
designation. 

Article 21 - The Company’s 
Executive Board shall be 
composed of at least two (2) and 
at most nine (9) members, who 
may be shareholders or not, 
resident in Brazil, elected by the 
Board of Directors, authorized to 
having roles accumulated by a 
same Executive Officer, with the 
following designations: one (1) 
Chief Executive Officer, one (1) 
Chief Financial Officer, one (1) 
Chief Investor Relations Officer, 
one (1) Head Rent a Car Officer 
(RAC) and five (5) Officers 
without specific designation. 

The proposed increased in 

the number of positions in 

the Statutory Executive 

Board is intended to 

enable, if necessary, the 

formation of a body with a 

wider variety of expertise, 

thereby increasing the 

diversity and safety in the 

Company’s decision-

making. 

 

Article 27, sole paragraph 
(Current Wording) 

Article 27, sole paragraph 
(Amended Wording) 

Justification and Legal 

and Economic Effects 
Article 27 - The Executive 
Board, under the terms of 
these By-Laws and the law, is 
prohibited from performing 
acts that depend on prior 
approval or authorization of 
the Shareholders’ Meeting or 
Board of Directors, as the case 

Article 27 - The Executive Board, 
under the terms of these By-
Laws and the law, is prohibited 
from performing acts that 
depend on prior approval or 
authorization of the 
Shareholders’ Meeting or Board 
of Directors, as the case may be, 

The changes are intended 

to improve the wording of 

this provision of the 

bylaws so as to bring 

greater dynamism to the 

Company’s decision-



may be, before obtaining their 
approval or authorization. 
Sole Paragraph - Any acts 
performed by Directors, 
Officers, attorneys-in-fact or 
employees in operations or 
businesses that are not 
related to the corporate 
purpose, such as aval 
guarantee, surety, mortgage, 
pledge, endorsement or any 
other guarantees are void and 
ineffective in relation to the 
Company, except in the event 
of granting an aval guarantee, 
surety, mortgage, surety, 
pledge, endorsement or any 
other guarantees of the 
Company to the companies 
Controlled directly or indirectly 
by the Company and vice-
versa. In such cases, the 
Board of Directors shall 
expressly authorize the 
granting of such guarantees. 

 

before obtaining their approval 
or authorization. 
Sole Paragraph - Any acts 
performed by Directors, Officers, 
attorneys-in-fact or employees in 
operations or businesses that are 
not related to the corporate 
purpose, such as aval guarantee, 
surety, mortgage, pledge, 
endorsement or any other 
guarantees are void and 
ineffective in relation to the 
Company, except in the event of 
granting an aval guarantee, 
surety, mortgage, surety, 
pledge, endorsement or any 
other guarantees of the 
Company to the companies 
Controlled directly or indirectly 
by the Company and vice-versa, 
in these cases, (i) the Executive 
Board shall expressly authorize 
the granting of such guarantees, 
the individual amounts of which 
shall be limited to fifty million 
Reais (R$50,000,000.00), and 
(ii) the Board of Directors shall 
expressly authorize the granting 
of such guarantees when the 
individual amounts thereof are 
greater than fifty million Reais 
(R$50,000,000.00). 
 

making and adjust it to its 

current situation. 

 

 
Article 31, sole (sic) item 

“s” 
(Current Wording) 

Article 31, sole (sic) item “s” 
(Current (sic) Wording) 

Justification and Legal 

and Economic Effects 

Article 31 - It is incumbent 
upon the Shareholders’ 
Meeting, in addition to the 
other attributions provided by 
law: 
 

Article 31 - It is incumbent upon 
the Shareholders’ Meeting, in 
addition to the other attributions 
provided by law: 
 
… 

The changes are intended 

to improve the wording of 

this provision of the 

bylaws so as to bring 

greater dynamism to the 



… 
 
s. repurchase or redemption 
of shares or securities issued 
by the Company, except for 
the repurchase or redemption 
of shares up to the limit of four 
percent (4%) of its capital 
stock for transfer to the 
beneficiaries of the call option 
plans granted by the 
Company. 
… 
 

 

s. repurchase or redemption of 

shares or securities convertible 

into shares issued by the 

Company, except for the 

repurchase or redemption of 

shares up to the limit of four 

percent (4%) of its capital stock 

for transfer to the beneficiaries 

of the call option plans granted 

by the Company. 

 
… 

Company’s decision-

making and adjust it to its 

current situation. 

 

 

3.1.1. Management Proposal 

 
Accordingly, the Company's Management proposes to the Shareholders the carefully reading of 
each of the resolutions and, afterwards, to approve them without any exception whatsoever. 
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COMPANHIA DE LOCAÇÃO DAS AMÉRICAS 

Corporate Taxpayers Registry of the Ministry of Finance (CNPJ/MF): 

10.215.988/0001-60 / State Registration Number (NIRE): 35300359569 

(Publicly-Held Company with Authorized Capital) 

 

ANNUAL AND SPECIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING 

CALL NOTICE 

 

The shareholders of COMPANHIA DE LOCAÇÃO DAS AMÉRICAS (“Company”) are called to 

hold an Annual and Special Shareholders’ Meeting to be held on April 26, 2019, at 11:00 a.m., at 

the principal place of business of Unidas S.A., a subsidiary of the Company, located at Rua 

Cincinato Braga, 388, Bela Vista, São Paulo, SP, Postal Code (CEP) 01333-010, in the City of São 

Paulo, State of São Paulo to resolve on the following agenda: 

 

In the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting: 

 

i) To examine the accounts rendered by the managers, examine, discuss, and vote on the 

Management Report and the Financial Statements of the Company, accompanied by the 

Independent Auditors’ Report, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018; 

 

ii) To resolve on the proposal from the Management of the Company for the allocation of net 

income and distribution of dividends for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018; and 

 

iii) To establish the global annual compensation for the members of the Board of Directors and 

of the Executive Board of the Company; 
 

In the Special Shareholders’ Meeting: 

 

i) To amend the Bylaws of the company by (a) adjustment to the wording of the following 

provisions: article 2 (head provision); article 14 (head provision); article 21 (head provision); 

article 27, sole paragraph; and article 31, item “s,” and, in view of the amendments set forth in 

the preceding item, (b) to restate the wording of the Bylaws of the Company. 

 

The Company requests the shareholders that wish to participate in the Shareholders’ Meeting 

hereby called to present, within forty-eight (48) hours before the date of its respective 

conduction: (i) proof issued by the financial institution that is the depositary of the book-entry 

shares owned or held in custody by it, in the form of article 126 of Law No. 6.404, of December 

15, 1976, as amended (“Corporation Law”), and/or in relation to the shareholders that participate 



in the fungible custody of registered shares, the summary containing the respective equity 

interest, issued by the competent body, dated at least two (2) business days before conduction 

of the Shareholders’ Meeting; and (ii) power-of-attorney, duly regularized pursuant to the law 

and to the Company’s By-Laws, in the event of representation by attorney-in-fact. 

 

The powers of attorney shall (i) (a) in the event of individual shareholders, have been granted 

in accordance with the provisions of paragraph one of article 126 of the Corporation Law, (b) in 

the event of legal entity shareholders, be granted pursuant to the provisions of their articles of 

incorporation and in accordance with the rules of the Brazilian Civil Code, (c) for shareholders 

that are investment funds, be granted pursuant to the provisions of their articles of incorporation 

and in accordance with the rules of the Brazilian Civil Code; (ii) contain certified signatures; and 

(iii) be accompanied by the documents that prove the representation powers and the identity of 

the grantor and of the grantee. 

 

We request the shareholders to deposit or send by correspondence the aforementioned 

documents to the principal place of business of the Company (at the address informed above) or 

to its Central Management, located at Avenida Raja Gabáglia, No. 1.781, 13th floor, Luxemburgo, 

Postal Code: 30.380-457, in the City of Belo Horizonte, State of Minas Gerais, to the attention of 

the Company’s Legal Department, within up to forty-eight (48) hours as from the date on which 

the Shareholders’ Meeting hereby called is held. 

 

In addition, the Company shall receive copies of the aforementioned documents, to be sent by 

facsimile (+55 31 3319-1573) or electronic mail (juridico@unidas.com.br / ri@unidas.com.br). 

 

The shareholders or their legal representatives shall attend the Shareholders’ Meeting with 

documents proving their identity and/or their powers, as the case may be. 

 

Subject to the procedures set forth in CVM Instruction No. 481 of December 17 2009, as amended 

(“CVM Instruction 481”), in the Company’s Reference Form and in the instructions contained in 

this Management Proposal, the shareholder may exercise his voting rights by completing and 

delivering a Remote Voting Bulletin (the “Voting Bulletin”) made available by the Company on the 

websites of the Company (ri.unidas.com.br) and of the Brazilian Securities Commission (CVM) 

(www.cvm.gov.br). 

 

All documents relating to the agenda to be analyzed or discussed at the Shareholders’ Meeting, 

including this Call Notice, the proposals of the Company’s Management, as well as those required 

pursuant to the provisions of article 133 of the Corporation Law and in the form of CVM Instruction 

481 are available to the shareholders, as from the date hereof: (i) on the page of B3 S.A. – Brasil, 



Bolsa, Balcão in the World Wide Web (www.b3.com.br); (ii) on CVM’s page in the World Wide 

Web (www.cvm.gov.br); (iii) at the principal place of business of the Company; (iv) at the 

address of the aforementioned Central Management of the Company; and (v) on the Company’s 

page in the World Wide Web (ri.unidas.com.br). 

 

Sao Paulo, March 25, 2019. 

 

PEDRO ROQUE DE PINHO DE ALMEIDA 

Chairman of the Board of Directors 
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EXHIBIT III – PROPOSAL FOR ALLOCATION OF THE ANNUAL NET INCOME UNDER SCHEDULE 

9-1-II TO CVM INSTRUCTION 481 

  



SCHEDULE 9-1-II 

 

ALLOCATION OF NET INCOME 

 

1. Please report the annual net income 

 

The net income determined by the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018 was 

R$189,202,001.87. 

 

2. Please report the global amount and the amount per share of the dividends, 

including any dividend advancements and interest on equity already declared 

 

The Board of Directors of the Company declared, in the meetings held on March 26, June 22, 

September 19, and December 21, 2018, interest on equity base on the profits accumulated in 

2018, as described in the table below: 

 

  R$ 

(-) Interest on Equity  87,146,330.44 

(-) Withholding Income Tax (IRRF) on Interest on Equity (JCP)  (10,223,996.16) 

   

Interest on equity net of Withholding Income Tax (IRRF) per 

share* 

 0.5202 

 

*As of December 31, 2018, 1,152,312 shares issued by the Company were held in treasury. 

 

The distributions of interest on equity to shareholders occurred in the first, second, third, and 

fourth quarters of 2018, in the gross amounts of R$8,089,888.93, R$25,213,537.68, 

R$24,989,834.01, and R$28,853,069.82, respectively, and it has been proposed that the net 

amount of interest on equity be applied, upon ratification by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, 

to the mandatory minimum dividends for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. 

 

3. Please report the percentage of the annual net income distributed 

 

The distributions of interest on equity based on the profits accumulated in 2018, in the gross 

amount of R$87,146,330.44, represent 46.1% of the annual net income; the abovementioned 

amount, net of withholding income tax, corresponding to R$76,922,334.28, represents 40.7% of 

the annual net income. 

 



  2018 

  R$’000 

Annual Net Income  102,055,671.43 

Interest on Equity distributed  87,146,330.44 

   

Percentage of the annual net income  46.1% 

Interest on equity distributed net of Withholding Income Tax 

(IRRF) 

 76,922,334.28 

Percentage of the annual net income  40.7% 

 

4. Please report the global amount and the amount per share of the annual net 

income distributed based on prior years’ profits 

 

Not applicable. 

 

5. Please report, net of any dividend advancements and interest on equity 

already declared: 

 

a. The gross amount of dividends and interest on equity, on a segregated basis, per share 

of each type and class 

 

Management proposed to the Shareholders the ratification and full application to the mandatory 

minimum dividend of the amounts distributed by way of interest on equity based on the profits 

accumulated in the year and declared in the meetings of the Board of Directors held on March 

26, June 22, September 19, and December 21, 2018, respectively, in the total gross amount of 

R$87,146,330.44, representing 46.1% of the annual net income; the abovementioned amount, 

net of withholding income tax, corresponding to R$76,922,334.28, represents 40.7% of the 

annual net income. 

 

Accordingly, the management proposal does not contemplate the distribution of dividends in 

addition to the interest on equity already declared, as described above. 

 

b. The form and term for payment of the dividends and interest on equity 

 

Not applicable, taking into account the provisions of clause “a” above. 

 

c. Any inflation adjustment and interest applicable to the dividends and interest on equity 

 



Not applicable. 

 

d. Date of declaration of the payment of dividends and interest on equity for purposes of 

identification of the shareholders entitled to the receipt thereof 

 

Not applicable, taking into account the provisions of clause “a” above. 

 

6. If any dividends or interest on equity have been declared based on profits 

determined in semi-annual balance sheets or balance sheets for shorter periods: 

 

a. Please report the amount of the dividends or interest on equity already declared 

 

The Company declared interest on equity to its shareholders based on the profits accumulated 

during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, as declared in the meetings of its Board of 

Directors held on March 26, June 22, September 19, and December 21, 2018, as described below: 

 

  R$ 

(-) Interest on Equity  87,146,330.44 

(-) Withholding Income Tax (IRRF) on Interest on Equity (JCP)  (10,223,996.16) 

   

Interest on equity net of Withholding Income Tax (IRRF) per 

share* 

 0.5202 

 

*As of December 31, 2018, 1,152,312 shares issued by the Company were held in treasury. 

 

b. Please report the date of the respective payments 

 

The interest on equity declared on March 26 were fully paid on April 13, 2018; declared on June 

22 were fully paid on July 6, 2018; declared on September 19 were fully paid on October 5, 2018; 

and declared on December 21, 2018 were fully paid on January 10, 2019. 

 

7. Please provide a comparative table indicating the following amounts per share 

of each type and class: 

 

a. Net income for the year and for the last three (3) years 

 

 Fiscal Year ended December 31, 

 2018 2017 2016 



Net income (R$’000) 189,202 60,598 28,907 

Net income per share 

(R$) 

1.2896 0.7486 0.4525 

 

b. Dividends and interest on equity distributed in the last three (3) years 

 

 Fiscal Year ended December 31, 

 2018 2017 2016 

Interest on equity 

(JCP) (R$’000) 

87,146 21,887 16,048 

Interest on equity 

(JCP) distributed (net 

of Withholding 

Income Tax (IRRF)) 

(R$’000) 

76,922 19,669 14,544 

Amount paid per 

share (R$)* 

0.5202 0.2894 0.2512 

* Taking into account the interest on equity (JCP) amount net of Withholding Income Tax (IRRF). 

 

8. If any profits were allocated to the legal reserve 

 

a. Please state the amount allocated to the legal reserve 

 

The amount proposed to be allocated to the reserve for the year ended December 31, 2018 is 

R$9,460,100.09, corresponding to 5% of the net income of the Company. 

 

b. Please demonstrate the calculation of the legal reserve 

 

  2018 

  R$’000 

Annual Net Income  189,202,001.87 

(-) Legal reserve (5%)  (9,460,100.09) 

Net Income adjusted by the creation of the Legal Reserve  179,741,901.78 

 

In accordance with the provisions of the Bylaws of the Company, 5% of annual net income shall 

be applied, prior to any other allocation, to the creation of the legal reserve, which shall not 

exceed twenty percent (20%) of the capital stock. In any year in which the legal reserve balance 

plus the amount of capital reserves mentioned in article 182, paragraph 1 of the Corporation Law 



exceeds thirty percent (30%) of the capital stock, the allocation of a portion of the annual net 

income to the legal reserve shall not be required. 

 

9. If the company has preferred shares entitled to fixed or minimum dividends 

 

a. Please describe the calculation of the fixed or minimum dividends 

 

Not applicable, given that the Company has no preferred shares. 

 

b. Please report whether the annual net income is sufficient to fully pay the fixed or 

minimum dividends 

 

Not applicable. 

 

c. Please state whether any unpaid portion is cumulative 

 

Not applicable. 

 

d. Please state the global amount of the fixed or minimum dividends payable to each class 

of preferred shares 

 

Not applicable. 

 

e. Please state the fixed or minimum dividends payable per preferred share of each class 

 

Not applicable. 

 

10. In regard to the mandatory dividend 

 

a. Please describe the calculation method set forth in the bylaws 

 

In accordance with the provisions of the Bylaws of the Company, the shareholders are entitled to 

receive a mandatory dividend of twenty-five percent (25%) of the annual net income, less or plus 

the following amounts: (i) the amount allocated to the creation of the legal reserve, (ii) the 

amount allocated to the creation of the reserve for contingencies and the reversal of such reserves 

created in prior years, and (iii) the amount resulting from the reversal of the unrealized income 

reserve created in prior years, in accordance with the provisions of article 202, item II of the 

Corporation Law. 



 

b. Please report whether it is being fully paid 

 

Management is proposing the ratification and application to the mandatory dividend of the 

amounts distributed by way of interest on equity based on the profits accumulated in the year 

and declared in the meetings of the Board of Directors of the Company held on March 26, June 

22, September 19, and December 21, 2018, in the total gross amount of R$87,146K, representing 

46.1% of the annual net income; the abovementioned amount, net of withholding income tax, 

corresponding to R$76,922 thousand, represents 40.7% of the annual net income. 

 

c. Please report any amount retained 

 

No retention of mandatory dividends has been proposed. 

 

11. If any mandatory dividend has been retained due to the financial condition of 

the company 

 

a. Please report the amount retained 

 

Not applicable. 

 

b. Please describe in detail the financial condition of the company, including any issues 

relating to the liquidity analysis, working capital, and positive cash flows. 

 

Not applicable. 

 

c. Please justify the retention of dividends 

 

Not applicable. 

 

12. If any income has been allocated to the reserve for contingencies 

 

a. Please state the amount allocated to such reserve 

 

Not applicable. 

 

b. Please state the loss deemed likely and its cause 

 



Not applicable. 

 

c. Please explain why such loss was deemed likely 

 

Not applicable. 

 

d. Please justify the creation of such reserve 

 

Not applicable. 

 

13. If any income has been allocated to the unrealized income reserve 

 

a. Please state the amount allocated to the unrealized income reserve 

 

Not applicable. 

 

b. Please state the nature of the unrealized income that gave rise to such reserve 

 

Not applicable. 

 

14. If any income has been allocated to reserves established in the bylaws 

 

a. Please describe the sections of the bylaws establishing such reserve 

 

In accordance with the provisions of the Bylaws, the Company shall maintain a profit reserve 

known as “Investment Reserve,” the purpose of which is to reinforce cash for the conduct of the 

businesses of the Company, as well as to enable the organic growth of the Company, to be 

formed by one hundred percent (100%) of the balance of net income remaining after any 

deductions set forth in law and in the bylaws, unless otherwise resolved by the Shareholders’ 

Meeting. The maximum limit for the creation of the Investment Reserve shall be the amount of 

the capital stock of the Company less the balances of any other profit reserves of the Company, 

in accordance with the provisions of article 199 of the Corporation Law; if such limit is reached, 

the Shareholders’ Meeting shall resolve on the application of the excess amount to the payment 

or increase of the capital stock or to the distribution of dividends. 

 

b. Please state the amount allocated to such reserve 

 



Management is proposing the allocation of an amount of R$92,595,571.34 to the Bylaws Reserve 

known as Investment Reserve, in accordance with the provisions of the Bylaws of the Company. 

 

c. Please describe how such amount has been calculated 

 

  2018 

  R$ 

Annual Net Income  189,202,001.87 

(-) Legal reserve (5%)  (9,460,100.09) 

(-) Interest on Equity  (87,146,330.44) 

Remaining balance to be allocated to the Investment 

Reserve 

 92,595,571.34 

 

15. In case of any retention of profits provided for in the capital budget 

 

a. Please state the amount of such retention 

 

Not applicable. 

 

b. Please provide a copy of the capital budget 

 

Not applicable. 

 

16. In case of any allocation of income to the tax incentive reserve 

 

a. Please state the amount allocated to such reserve 

 

Not applicable. 

 

b. Please explain the nature of such allocation 

 

Not applicable. 
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www.pwc.com.br 
 
 

(A free translation of the original in Portuguese) 

 

 

Companhia de Locação 
das Américas 
Parent company and consolidated  
financial statements at  
December 31, 2018  
and independent auditor's report 



(A free translation of the original in Portuguese) 
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Independent auditor's report 
 
 
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Companhia de Locação das Américas 
 
 

Opinion 

 
We have audited the accompanying parent company financial statements of Companhia de Locação das 
Américas ("Company"), which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2018 and the statements of 
income, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, as well as the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements of Companhia de Locação das Américas and its 
subsidiaries ("Consolidated"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2018 and 
the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Companhia de Locação das Américas and of Companhia de Locação das Américas and 
its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2018, and the financial performance and the cash flows for the year 
then ended, as well as the consolidated financial performance and the cash flows for the year then ended, 
in accordance with accounting practices adopted in Brazil and with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
 

Basis for opinion 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Brazilian and International Standards on Auditing. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Parent Company and Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Company and its subsidiaries in accordance with the ethical requirements established in the Code of 
Professional Ethics and Professional Standards issued by the Brazilian Federal Accounting Council, and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
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Key audit matters 

 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, 
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the  
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit  
of the parent company and consolidated financial statements as a whole,  
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate  
opinion on these matters. 
 
The scope of our audit is defined by the major activities carried out by  
Companhia de Locação das Américas in 2018. The most significant event  
for this year was the business combination that resulted from the acquisition 
of ownership interest in Unidas S.A., as described in Notes 1.1. and 11 to the  
financial statements. In this context, we added the matters related to the business  
combination and to the test of impairment of goodwill generated in that  
operation, as well as other matters related to that subsidiary, as  
key audit matters herein. 
 
 
Why it is a key audit matter  How the matter was addressed in the audit 
    
Acquisition of ownership control in  
Unidas S.A.  

  

   
Note 1.1 to the financial statements discloses that, on 
March 9, 2018, the Company fully acquired (100%) 
of the voting capital of Unidas S.A. Upon the 
acquisition of the ownership control in that entity, 
the Company measured and recognized the fair value 
of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, 
based on an independent study and assessment 
prepared by external experts that the Company 
hired. 
 
We considered this transaction as a key audit matter 
because it required significant attention when 
assessing management's judgment, especially when 
regarding the determination of assumptions used in 
the calculation of the fair values of the net assets, the 
definition of the acquisition price, and the 
accounting for the business combination. 
 

 Our audit approach considered, among others, the 
procedures below. 
 
We read the executed contract and analyzed the 
corresponding financial movement of the portion 
acquired in cash. For the portion acquired through 
the exchange of shares, we analyzed the supporting 
documentation for the Company's capital increase. 
 
We analyzed the mathematical accuracy of the 
calculation of the fair value of the total 
consideration transferred and compared it with the 
funds provided in cash and with the public 
quotation of the Company's shares at the 
acquisition date. 
 
Regarding the amounts determined by the experts 
hired by management with the purpose of 
allocating the acquisition price, we tested the 
methodologies and main assumptions adopted in 
the projections, especially by analyzing the  
 

Matters 

Why it is a  

key audit matter 

How the  
matter was 
addressed 
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Why it is a key audit matter  How the matter was addressed in the audit 
    

consistency of the projections in relation to 
historical information available and comparing the 
main assumptions with data that can be observed 
in the market and/or in the industry where the 
Company does business. 
 
We tested the procedures that management carried 
out to identify the other intangible assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed that are subject to 
recognition in the business combination. 
 
We compared the information disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements with the internal 
supporting documentation for management's 
assessment. 
 
Our audit procedures showed that the judgments 
and assumptions used by management were 
reasonable and consistent with the data and 
information that is both internally and externally 
observable, as applicable. 
 

Why it is a key audit matter  How the matter was addressed in the audit 
 
Impairment test for goodwill 
 
Notes 1.1 and 11 to the financial statements disclose 
that, at December 31, 2018, the Company had 
goodwill based on expected future profitability 
amounting to R$ 685,555 thousand recorded as 
intangible assets arising from the acquisition of 
Unidas S.A. and R$ 71,658 thousand arising from 
the acquisition of Auto Ricci S.A. The Company's 
subsidiary, Unidas S.A., on that same date, had 
goodwill based on expected future profitability 
amounting to R$ 48,843 thousand recorded as 
intangible assets arising from the acquisition of 
Best Fleet Locadora de Veículos Ltda. 
 
With the support of external experts, the Group 
tested the goodwill for impairment using the model 
of present value of expected future cash flows for 
the assets of the corresponding Cash-generating 
Unit (CGU) (value in use). 

  
 
Our audit procedures included, among others, the 
understanding of relevant internal controls related 
to the preparation of the discounted cash flows for 
the CGUs to which the goodwill balance was 
allocated. 
 
Together with our valuation experts, we analyzed 
the reasonableness and the consistency of the 
calculation model used by management to prepare 
the projections, as well as the data and the 
assumptions used to prepare the cash flows, such 
as growth rates and profitability estimates, by 
comparing them with economic and industry 
forecasts, and discount rates. We considered, in 
our assessment, the capital cost for the Group as 
well as similar entities. 
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We considered this fact as significant not only due to 
the relevance of the balance, but also because this 
area requires that management apply critical 
estimate and judgment when determining the 
assumptions and projections made, which, if altered, 
could significant affect the CGU's realization 
perspectives and, consequently, impact the financial 
statements.  

We tested the mathematical accuracy of the 
calculations and data of the main assumptions 
used in the cash flow projections. 
 
We performed a sensitivity analysis for the main 
assumptions of the projections in order to assess 
the results in different, possible scenarios. 
 
Finally, we assessed the disclosures that the 
Group made in Note 11 to the parent company 
and consolidated financial statements. 

 
Our audit procedures showed that judgment and 
assumptions that management used were 
reasonable and that disclosures were consistent 
with the data and information obtained. 
 

 

Why it is a key audit matter 
 How the matter was addressed in the 

audit 
    
Estimates used to define the net book value 
of vehicles  

  

    
Note 3(a) to the financial statements describes that 
the Group estimates the net book value of its vehicle 
fleet based on the estimated selling price of the 
vehicles after the end of the vehicles' useful lives for 
the Group, less selling expenses and expected 
market and retail discounts. 
 

We continued to focus on this area in our audit 
because using this accounting estimate requires also 
the use of assumptions that demand judgment and 
assessment by management, such as the vehicles' 
market value at the date of sale as well as the time of 
use. The net book value related to vehicles classified 
within the parent company and consolidated 
property and equipment totaled R$ 1,792,104 
thousand and R$ 4,957,861 thousand, respectively, 
at December 31, 2018 (Note 10). 
 

Any changes made in these assumptions could lead 
to adjustments in these assets, with a significant 
impact on the profit or loss for the year, especially in 
the depreciation expenses and in the future sale 
results. 

 Among other audit procedures, we obtained an 
updated understanding of (i) the design of the 
main processes and internal controls that 
management established for determining the 
vehicles' net book value, and (ii) the internal 
controls used to calculate the depreciation. 
 
On a sample basis, we compared the input data 
related to the vehicles' net book values, as inserted 
in the automated systems, with the supporting 
documentation provided by management 
concerning the estimated net book value. 
 
Also on a sample basis, we compared the 
estimated net book values with the prices of sales 
made during the year and with other sale prices 
disclosed in the media for similar vehicles. 
 
We consider that the assumptions used are 
consistent with the market data as well as historic 
data of sale transactions. 
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Why it is a key audit matter 
 How the matter was addressed in the 

audit 
    
 
    
Valuation and classification of derivative 
financial instruments for hedging against 
the risk of floating interest rate 

  

    
Note 2.6.8 to the financial statements describes 
that the Group uses derivative financial 
instruments to hedge against its exposures to 
floating interest rates, and that these instruments 
are recognized and subsequently remeasured based 
on their fair value. The recognition of variations in 
the fair value of these derivative financial 
instruments depends on whether the instrument 
was designated as and qualifies as a cash flow 
hedge. The compliance with the aforementioned 
requirements as well as the calculation of the 
hedging effectiveness will determine the amount of 
this variation that will be recognized in the profit or 
loss for the year and the amount that will be 
recognized in equity, as well as the future 
realization in the profit or loss. 
 
We continued to focus on this area in our audit due 
to: (i) the complexity involved in the related 
documentation and calculations; and to (ii) the 
judgment and governance/disclosure requirements 
involved in the definition of the hedge accounting 
policy, which may have a significant impact on the 
determination of the profit or loss for the year. 

 Among other audit procedures, we verified the 
independent prices informed by the contracted 
financial institutions that are adopted as one of 
the parameters for assessing these derivative 
financial instruments at fair value. We also 
inspected the major management's supporting 
documentation related to the definition of 
technical fair value valuation templates, as well as 
the definition, when applicable, of the designation 
and classification of the instrument as a cash flow 
hedge. 
 
Furthermore, we compared the valuation 
methodology used for these financial instruments 
and the main assumptions used by management 
with independent methodologies and 
assumptions in order to analyze these matters. 
 
Finally, with the support of our experts on 
financial instruments, we tested, on sample bases, 
the valuation calculation of the transactions. 
 
The determination of the fair values and the 
application of the hedge accounting are consistent 
with documentation and information we obtained 
as well as with the Group's financial risk 
management policy. 
 

Estimates related to losses on impairment 
of trade receivables 

  

    
Note 6 to the financial statements discloses the 
criteria applied to estimate losses on impairment of 
trade receivables. 
 
 
 

 Among other audit procedures, we obtained with 
management an updated understanding of the 
main criteria and controls used to prepare the 
credit risk estimate. 
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Why it is a key audit matter 
 How the matter was addressed in the 

audit 
    
Management uses judgment to estimate losses on 
impairment of trade receivables, considering 
payments overdue, guarantees obtained, and other 
indicators of deterioration of its customers' credit 
risk. 
 
We focused on this area in our audit because using 
this accounting estimate demands that 
management uses judgment and assessment 
regarding the probable realizable value of trade 
receivables. This estimate could significantly affect 
the results for the year. 

We performed tests on a sample basis in order to 
verify the integrity of the database used in the 
calculation of estimated losses on impairment of 
trade receivables. Then, based on management's 
assumptions, we recalculated the estimated losses 
on impairment of trade receivables and reviewed 
the supporting documentation related to the 
negotiations made with customers that could 
justify management's assessment. 
 
Our audit procedures showed that judgment and 
estimates that management applied are 
consistent with the documentation we examined 
and with the disclosures made in the financial 
statements. 
 

Realization of deferred income tax and 
social contribution assets 

  

    
The consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 
2018 had deferred income tax and social 
contribution amounting to R$ 37,580 thousand 
accounted for in non-current assets mainly 
arising from income tax and social contribution 
tax losses and temporary differences incurred by 
Unidas S.A. and its subsidiaries and considered 
as recoverable based on the projected future 
taxable profit generation. 
 
Estimating future taxable profit requires 
judgment as well as interpretation of tax laws, as 
disclosed in Note 8. The recoverable value of 
deferred tax assets accounted for may vary 
significantly in case different future taxable profit 
projection assumptions are used, which could 
impact the deferred tax asset recorded in the 
consolidated financial statements and the 
investment recorded using the equity method of 
accounting in the parent company financial 
statements. For this reason, we decided to focus 
on this matter in our audit. 
 

 Our audit procedures included, among others, 
the assessment of the reasonableness of the 
main assumptions used to support the future 
taxable profit projection, including expected 
growth, inflation rate, and comparison with 
historical data, industry data, and market data. 
 
We also carried out a sensitivity analysis 
concerning projections made by management.   
 
We assessed whether the Company projected 
sufficient future taxable profit against which 
unused tax losses and deductible temporary 
differences may be used and whether the level 
of information included in the notes to the 
financial statements are adequate. 
 
Our audit procedures showed that judgment 
and assumptions that management used were 
reasonable and that disclosures were 
consistent with the data and information 
obtained. 
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Why it is a key audit matter 
 How the matter was addressed in the 

audit 
    
Revenue recognition - sale of used cars 
   
In the year ended December 31, 2018, the 
Company and its subsidiaries recorded net 
revenue from sales of vehicles for fleet renewal 
amounting to R$ 594,494 thousand (Parent 
company) and R$ 1,456,088 thousand 
(Consolidated). The recognition of this revenue 
requires management to apply control in order to 
identify the moment when the control over the 
asset is transferred and it has no longer control 
over its management, as disclosed in Note 2.18. 
 
Due to the significance of this revenue and the 
need for a specific control to determine the 
proper time of recognition, we decided to focus 
on this area in our audit. 

 Our audit procedures included, among others, 
the assessment of the criterion over the 
recognition of revenue from sale of vehicles 
and the testing, on a sample basis, of the 
evidence supporting the revenue accounting in 
the proper period. 
 
In addition, we assessed cancellations and 
returns occurred in the beginning of January 
2019, as related to sales recognized in the year 
ended December 31, 2018, in order to test 
whether revenues were accounted for in the 
proper period. 
 
Our audit procedures showed that judgment 
and assumptions that management used were 
reasonable and that disclosures were 
consistent with the data and information 
obtained. 
 

Other matters 

 
Statement of value added 

The parent company and consolidated statements of value added for the year ended December 31, 2018, 
prepared under the responsibility of the Company's management and presented as supplementary 
information for IFRS purposes, were submitted to audit procedures performed in conjunction with the 
audit of the Company's financial statements. For the purposes of forming our opinion, we evaluated 
whether these statements are reconciled with the financial statements and accounting records, as 
applicable, and if their form and content are in accordance with the criteria defined in Technical 
Pronouncement CPC 09 - "Statement of Value Added". In our opinion, these statements of value added 
have been properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the criteria established in the 
Technical Pronouncement and are consistent with the parent company and consolidated financial 
statements taken as a whole. 
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Other information accompanying the parent company and consolidated financial 
statements and the auditor's report 
 

The Company's management is responsible for the other information that comprises the Management 
Report. 
 
Our opinion on the parent company and consolidated financial statements does not cover the 
Management Report, and we do not express any form of audit conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with the audit of the parent company and consolidated financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the Management Report and, in doing so, consider whether this report is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement in the Management Report, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the parent 
company and consolidated financial statements 

 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the parent company and 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting practices adopted in Brazil and with the 
Internacional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB), and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
In preparing the parent company and consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the 
Company and its subsidiaries. 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the parent company and consolidated financial 
statements 

 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the parent company and consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Brazilian and International Standards on 
Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. As part of an 
audit in accordance with Brazilian and International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
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• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the parent company and consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the internal control of the Company and its subsidiaries. 
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Company to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the parent company and consolidated financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the parent company and consolidated 

financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether these financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the parent company and consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 
São Paulo, February 25, 2019 
 
 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Auditores Independentes 
CRC 2SP000160/O-5 
 
 
 
Guilherme Campos e Silva 
Contador CRC 1SP218254/O-1 
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Unidas is a Company specialized in vehicle rental and management solutions, operating in the Fleet Management and Rent-a-Car 
(RAC) segments, with a solid track record of accelerated expansion and a nationwide presence. We are currently the second largest 
company in the Brazilian rental sector and the leader in the Fleet Management segment in Brazil (in terms of both fleet size and 
revenue). 
 
The Company has the partnership with Enterprise - the largest company in the global Rent-a-Car segment, a shareholder of the 
group and master franchisor - which allows us to use the Enterprise, Alamo and National brands in our operations in Brazil. 
 
In the Fleet Management segment, in which the Company is the market leader in Brazil, we ended the year 2018 with a portfolio 
of 2,327 corporate clients on long-term lease contracts, mostly of between 2 and 3 years. Unidas has a diversified customer base 
across more than 20 economic sectors, which demand different sizes of fleet, with contracts varying from 1 to 6,000 vehicles 
outsourced. 
 
In the Rent-a-Car segment, Unidas holds short and medium-term contracts with individuals who require vehicles for leisure and 
business, with companies which require vehicles for business purposes, and with insurers needing courtesy vehicles for Customers 
following accidents. At December 31, 2018, the Company had a network of 210 stores, of which 121 are its own stores and 89 are 

Rent-a-Car franchise stores. Our Rent-a-Car operations are located in 146 cities, present in all 26 Brazilian states and in the Federal 
District. 
 
In order to meet the constant need to renew its fleet, the Company demobilizes its vehicles through the sale of Pre-Owned Cars, 
and has a retail sales network comprised of 79 stores, of which 58 are its own stores and 21 are franchise stores, as well as six 
wholesale stores, totaling 85 stores, present in 47 cities and located in 16 states and the Federal District. 
 
Taking all its activities into account, the Company’s total fleet reached 121,099 vehicles under the Unidas Brand as at December 
31, 2018 (considering the total fleet of franchisees). 
 
Throughout 2018, the Company has built a complete service platform that can meet the full demand cycle of our clients, whether 
individuals or corporate entities. 
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Macroeconomic Scenario 
 
According to Central Bank projections, GDP growth of 1.30% and 2.50% is expected for 2018 and 2019 respectively, thus 
demonstrating an improvement in the Brazilian economy to 2019. 
 
The official inflation rate in 2018, as measured by the IPCA, was 3.75%, remaining within the lower band of the inflation target set 
by the Central Bank, which can vary from 3.00% to 6.00% pa. By 2019, inflation is expected at 3.87%, slightly higher than the 
inflation of 2018. We highlight that in 2018, most of our Fleet Management contracts were indexed to an inflation indicator (IPCA 
or IGP -M). 
 
The SELIC basic interest rate closed 2018 at 6.50% and the same percentage is expected for 2019, the lowest level since the 
creation of the Monetary Policy Committee (COPOM) in 1996. The car rental industry is capital-intensive, and a SELIC rate 
maintained at low levels positively impacts the growth of operations of the companies in the sector by providing a lower cost of 
capital. 
 

 
 

 

      
Source: IBGE and Central Bank. * GDP projected for 2018 according to the Focus Bulletin of April 1, 2019 and indicators projected for 2019 

according to Focus Bulletin of August 2, 2019. 
 

Sector Competition 
 
The Brazilian Rental Industry is still highly segmented compared to more developed economies such as the US. Considering the most 
up-to-date information on the sector for 2017 and the market share calculated by Gross Revenue, Unidas had a market share of 
11.2% for the Fleet Management segment and a market share of 7.8% for the Rent-a-Car segment. In the same period, the three 
largest US companies owned 95.1% of the US Rent-a-Car market. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

       
 
 

Source: Brazilian Yearbook of the Vehicle Leasing Sector 2018 - ABLA (Brazilian Association of Car Rental Companies), referring to the exercise of 

2017 (latest information available) and Auto Rental News (http: // http: //www.autorentalnews. com / fileviewer / 2689.aspx). Considers the 
combined results in 2017 of the Companhia de Locação das Americas and Unidas S.A. 
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In 2018, the year marked by the Locamerica-Unidas merger, the Company was able to deliver growth in parallel to the preservation 
of the margins of the businesses in which it operates. 
 

Fleet Management  
 
In the Fleet Management segment, where the Company is the market leader leader, we managed to achieve an increase of 85.7% 
in the Global Value of New Contracts at the end of 2018, 4.3 p.p. higher than the expansion of 81.4% in the number of new vehicles 
contracted during the same period. In turn, the Net Revenue reached R$ 930.6 million, growing 78.0% in 12 months, while the 
Recurring EBITDA Margin increased by 0.8 pp in the same period, reaching 64.6% in 2018. The Total Fleet at the end of 2018 totaled 
74,704 vehicles, with a 1.2 pp expansion of the Occupancy Rate, reaching 98.2%. 
 
 

    
 

Rent-a-Car¹ 
 
The Rent-a-Car segment reached 8.6 million daily rentals in 2018, with an average rate increase of 3.6%, reaching R$ 74.3. The 
segment's Net Revenue grew by 32.8% to R $ 614.3 million, with the Recurring EBITDA margin increasing by 1.1 p.p., closing 2018 
at the level of 40.9%. The total fleet reached 56,395 vehicles (including the Franchise fleet), 45.2% higher than the balance for 
2017. The total number of stores decreased by 6 stores in 2018, a result of the reduction in the number of franchises in the period. 
The Occupancy Rate (excluding Franchises) decreased by 4.9 p.p. to 78.8% in 2018. 

 

 

    
 

Used Car Sales (Pre-Owned Cars) 

We totaled 42,386 vehicles sold in 2018, with an increase in the average sale price of 5.7%. Gross Revenue reached                  
R$1,411.3 million, with a high percentage of retail sales of 69.5%. With this merger, we were able to expand our network to 58 
stores. The increase in the Stock Turnover to 7.7% is due to the sale of cars in the Rent-a-Car segment with an average age of 17.5 
months, while the average selling age in Fleet Management was 27.9 months in 2018. 
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New Contracts 
 

Net Revenue and EBITDA Margin 
 

Total Fleet and Occupancy Rate 
 

# of Daily Rentals and Average Daily Rate  
(Own Network) 

 

Net Revenue and EBITDA Margin 
(Own Network and Franchises) 

 

Total Fleet and # of Stores 
(Own Network and Franchises) 

 

-6 stores 

Average Price of Cars Sold and  
# of Cars Sold 

 

Gross Revenue and 

Retail as a Proportion of Sales 
Inventory/Total Fleet and # of stores 

(1) 2017: includes Auto Ricci from 3Q17, and from May 11, 2017 to June 30, 2017 under the equity method. 2018: includes Unidas S.A. from 2Q18, and from March 09, 2018 to March 31, 
2018 by equity method. The recurring EBITDA margin disregards non-recurring expenses in 2018 due to the merger of Locamerica-Unidas and in 2017 disregards the expenses related to 

Initial public offering attempt of Unidas S.A.  (for the Rent-a-Car segment only). We present the results for Rent-a-Car in 2017 and in 2018 to provide a better comparative basis. 
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Service Network 
 

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had a network of 295 service points, being 121 of its Rent-a-Car own stores, and 89 franchise 
stores of Rent-a-Car franchise stores, and 58 of its own Used Car retail stores and, 21 franchise retail stores and 6 six wholesale 
stores focused on wholesale sales for Used Cars sales (assets demobilization) distributed across the following regions of Brazil 
according as shown in the table below: 
 

  Southeast South Northeast Midwest North Total Network 

2017 21 6 - - - 27 

  Rent-a-Car – Own Network - - - - - - 

  Rent-a-Car – Franchises - - - - - - 

  Used Cars Sales Retail – Own Network 18 5 - - - 23 

  Used Cars Sales Retail – Franchises - - - - - - 

  Used Cars Sales Wholesale – Own Network 3 1 - - - 4 

2018 154 57 42 25 17 295 

  Rent-a-Car – Own Network 68 13 24 9 7 121 

  Rent-a-Car – Franchises 29 29 13 10 8 89 

  Used Cars Sales Retail – Own Network 41 9 4 4 - 58 

  Used Cars Sales Retail – Franchises 11 5 1 2 2 21 

  Used Cars Sales Wholesale – Own Network 5 1 - - - 6 

 
Investments 
 

The net investment reached R$ 1,536.0 million in 2018, 359.6% higher than the net investment of 2017, resulting in the net addition 
of 26,316 vehicles across our operations throughout 2018. The increase in investment in the period was aimed at the expansion of 
the operational fleet in both segments, in Fleet Management, due to the greater number of vehicles coming from new contracts 
signed during 2018 and, in Rent-a-Car, due to the strategy of accelerating the number of daily rates. 
 

 

 

         
 

Fleet at the End of the Period and Operating Fleet Average Age  
 
In 2018, Unidas' total fleet (including the Franchisees’ fleet) reached 131,099 vehicles, representing growth of 181.5% compared to 
the total fleet of 2017. Thus, after the merger of Locamerica-Unidas, we consolidated ourselves as the second largest Car Rental 
Company of the country, both in terms of fleet and in terms of revenue. 
 
In the Fleet Management segment, the average age of the operational fleet reached 16.8 months, a decrease of 7.2% compared to 
2017 due, as already mentioned, to the greater number of vehicles coming from new contracts signed during 2018. In the Rent-a-
Car segment, the average age of the operating fleet reached a historic 7.5 months, due to the Company's strategy of providing a 
renewed fleet to customers, as well as accelerating demobilization and lowering depreciation costs. 
 
 

    
 

 
 

  

859.4

2 ,944.8

525.2

1,408.8

2017 2018

Cars Acquis ition Car Sales Net Revenues

1,536.0

334.2

19,747 

68,702 

16 ,710 

42,386 

2017 2018

Cars Purchased Cars Sold

26,316

3,037

74,704 

52,271 

4,124

46,566 

131,099 

2017 2018

Fleet Management Rent-a-Car Rent-a-Car - Franchises

7.9 7.5

18.1 16.8

2017 2018

Fleet Management Rent-a-Car (disregarding Franchises)

Net Fleet Investment 
(R$ million)   

 

 

Net Fleet Investment 
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Fleet at the End of the Period 

 
 

Operating Fleet Average Age¹ 

(Months) 

(1) 2017: includes Auto Ricci from 3Q17, and from May 11, 2017 to June 30, 2017 under the equity method. 2018: includes Unidas S.A. from 2Q18, and from March 9, 2018 to March 31, 
2018 under the equity method. We present the results of the Rent-a-Car segment for the Operating Fleet Average Age in 2017 and 2018 to provide a better comparative basis. 
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Percentage of Segment overcontribution to the Company’s Gross Revenue 
 
In 2018, the Company recorded Gross Revenue of R$2,955.0 million, 168.3% higher than the Gross Revenue for 2017, in the amount 
of R$1,101.3 million. This growth was due to the increase in the Gross Revenue for all segments, as mentioned in "Business 
Management", driven by the Locamerica-Unidas merger and by the organic expansion of each business. 
 
Considering only the Gross Revenue from the rental business, this increased by 168.1% compared to 2017, reaching                
R$1,543.7 million. 
 
Below, we present the Gross Revenue comparison in percentage terms, dividing the Consolidated Gross Revenue into Rental Gross 
Revenue from the Used Cars Sales Gross Revenue, and dividing the Rental Gross Revenue from Rent-a-Car Gross Revenue from the 
Fleet Management Gross Revenue. 
 
 

 

              
 
 

EBITDA  
 
Recurring Consolidated EBITDA in 2018 was R$ 833.3 million, representing growth of 141.5% compared to R$ 345.0 million recorded 
in 2017. The Recurring EBITDA margin (Recurring Consolidated EBITDA over Rental Revenue) reached 59.4% in 2018, representing 
a decrease of 6.6 p.p. compared to 2017. The decrease in the Recurring EBITDA Margin is explained by the Company's entry into 
the Rent-a-Car segment, which ended 2018 with a Recurring EBITDA margin of 40.9%, while the Recurring EBITDA Margin for Fleet 
Management reached 64.6% in the same period. 

 
We highlight that there were non-recurring events in the Company's results in 2018, incurring expenses on account of the Locamerica-
Unidas merger in the amount of R$ 27.4 million, related to: i) financial and legal advisory expenses of the transaction; ii) consultancy 
expenses for the integration of the two companies; iii) expenses related to the management of Unidas S.A., which were discounted 
from the purchase price; and iv) expenses on the write-down of new brand renewal assets (rebranding). The expenses for 2017 in 
the amount of R$ 3.2 million refer to non-recurring expenses for the hiring of specialized consultants for integration and legal and 
financial advice, all linked to the acquisition of Auto Ricci S.A. 
 
According to the CVM standard, the table below shows the reconciliation of the Company's EBITDA: 
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EBITDA (R$ thousand) Consolidated 

  12/31/2017 12/31/2018 

(=) Net income for the period 60,598 189,202 

(+) Income tax 19,264 48,202 

(+) Net financial expenses 135,661 294,647 

(+) Depreciation and amortization 128,234 280,272 

(+) Non-recurring expenses  3,204 27,443 

(+) Equity method¹ (1,932) (6,437) 

(=) Recurring Consolidated EBITDA   345,029 833,329 

    

Recurring Consolidated EBITDA   345,029 833,329 

Rental Net Revenue 522,872 1,401,916 

Rental EBITDA Margin (%) 66.0% 59.4% 
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Participation of Consolidated 
Gross Revenue 

 

Participation of 
Rental Gross Revenue by Segment 

 

EBITDA and  
Rental EBITDA Margin   

 
 

(1) 2017: includes Auto Ricci from 3Q17, and from May 11, 2017 to June 30, 2017 under the equity method. 2018: includes Unidas S.A. as of 2Q18, and from March 09, 2018 to March 31, 2018 
under the equity method. 

 

-6.6 p.p. 

EBITDA Conciliation  
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Depreciation 

 

 

Indebtedness and Financial Cost 
 
The Gross Debt at December 31, 2018 totaled R$ 3,924.3 million, 168.3% higher than the gross debt of R$ 1,462.8 million at 
December 31, 2017. The increase in gross debt is due to the incorporation of the debt balance and the payment of R$ 398.0 million 
to the former shareholders of Unidas S.A. during the Locamerica-Unidas merger process, and the fact that we raised new debt to 
finance the growth of the fleet, according to the Gross Debt and Total Fleet Chart at the end of the Period (not including the 
Franchisees’ Fleet). 
 
The table below shows the comparison of the average cost (in CDI + and as a % of CDI) and the average balance of gross debt in 
the period, by type of financing and on a consolidated basis. We highlight that although leasing operations have an average cost 
higher than other debts, the Company benefits from PIS and COFINS credits when contracting these operations, since the vehicles 
will be used in the Company's activities. We also highlight the decrease of 128 bps (basis points) in the comparison of the average 
financing cost of 4Q18 of 2.02% with the average financing cost in 4Q17 of 3.30%. 
 
 

 

 
 
Net debt increased by 89.8%, as follows: 
 
 

 
 
The Company, in comparison with 2018 and 2017, has achieved 3 credit rating increases from Standard & Poor's, resulting in an 
increase of 5 brackets (brA in January 2017 to brAAA in December 2018), reaching the highest level of brAAA "triple A", and achieve 
one rating increase from Fitch Ratings - reaching AA (bra). 
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 Funding 

Average 

Amount 
(R$ thousand) 

Nominal 

Cost 
(Interest) 

Spread 
(CDI +) 

Spread 
(% of CDI) 

4Q17 1,484,213 11.03% 3.30% 147% 

Structured Debt  1,251,916 11.36% 1.80% 126% 

Leasing 7,133 16.09% 8.02% 215% 

FINAME 47,453 6.00% (1.37)% 80% 

CDC 47,698 12.82% 4.97% 171% 

Assignment of credits by suppliers 130,014 8.74% 1.17% 117% 

4Q18 4,829,882 8.55% 2.02% 134% 

Structured Debt 3,877,723 8.79% 1.45% 124% 

Leasing 303 11.74% 5.02% 183% 

FINAME 37,040 6.00% (0.38)% 94% 

Assignment of credits by suppliers 914,816 7.62% 1.15% 119% 
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Gross Debt and 
Fleet at the End of the Period 

 
 

Average Annual Financing Cost 
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Annual Depreciation by  
Operating Car  

 

Changes in Net Debt 
 

The Annual Depreciation per Operating Car reached                
R$ 3.4 thousand/car in the Fleet Management segment and   
R$ 2.2 thousand/car in the Rent-a-Car segment. These 
reductions are due to the increase in vehicle purchases given 
the scale of the Company after merger and also due to the 
revaluation of the fleet of Companhia de Locação das 
Américas and Unidas S.A., with the objective of equalizing the 
accounting costs of both Companies, bringing all models to 
the same value. 
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The chart below highlights the improvement in the Company's structured debt funding in 2018 compared to 2017, as a result of the 
debt rollover in 2018 having a lower spread cost, as well as higher amounts raised and longer maturities. 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
Companhia de Locação das Américas (trade/commercial name “Unidas”) is a Brazilian public held group whose shares have been 
traded on B3 S.A. – Brasil, Bolsa, Balcão (B3) since 2012. In 2018, the average daily trade volume of LCAM3 was R$5.8 million. 
 
On December 13, 2018, the Meeting of the Board of Directors was held, which resolved on the increase of the Company's capital 
stock, within the scope of the completion of the follow-on offer in the amount of R$ 992,000 thousand, through the issuance of 
31,000,000 new shares at the price of R $ 32.00 per share, thus increasing the Company's capital stock from R$ 977,517 thousand 
to R$ 1,969,517 thousand. 
 

On December 31, 2017, the Company had 147,863,827 shares, of which 1,152,312 were held in treasury. 
 
The Company is included in the American Depositary Receipts (ADR) Program Level I, since its approval by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission of Brazil (CVM) and Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), on December 11, 2018, and began trading 
on December 12, 2018. On December 31, 2018, the Company's position was 1,965,556 ADRs in the United States. Each ADR 
corresponds to one (1) share of the Company. 
 

 

 
 
The Company holds a Shareholders' General Meeting by April 30 of each year, when the annual dividend may be declared. However, 
dividends and interim dividends as well as interest on shareholders' equity may also be declared by the Board of Directors, pursuant 
to the Brazilian Corporation Law and other applicable laws. 
 
Paragraph 1 of Article 36 of Unidas' Bylaws requires that at least 25% of the net profit calculated for the year be allocated to the 
payment of the mandatory annual minimum dividend to the shareholders. 
 

On January 3, 2018, the Board of Directors' Meeting approved the payment of additional dividends to the Company's shareholders 
in the amount of R$ 17,501,364.38, related to the profit reserves at December 31, 2016. 
 
Thus, in 2018, Unidas distributed to its shareholders in the form of interest on capital the amount of R$ 81.1 million and in the form 
of dividends the amount of R $ 17.5 million from the net profit after allocation to the legal reserve. In 2017, Unidas distributed to its 
shareholders in the form of interest on capital the amount of R$ 21.9 million.  
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(1) The remuneration of this structured debt - 12th Series Debentures/2nd Series Debentures is given based on the correction of the debt amount by the IPCA (monetary correction) + 7.30% 

per year 
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The table below shows the changes to the investments made in each subsidiary of Unidas: 

 

Unidas 
(R$ thousand) 

Investments  
on 

12/31/2017 

Investments 
Acquisition 

Investments 
write-off 

Subsidiaries 
Incorporation 

Equity 
Method 

Results 

Dividends 

received 
and 

receivable 

Goodwill 
Investments  

on  

12/31/2018 

 Acelero Comércio de Veículos Ltda.  - - -            (214)         (1,018) - -           (1,232) 

 Agile Car Locações Ltda.              1,046  -               (50) -                                1,503  - -       2,499  

 Auto Ricci S.A.           222,884  - -      (222,884) - - - - 

 Unidas S.A.  -       1,455,694  - -         106,786       (26,101)     (5,109)        1,531,270  

 Outros investimentos  -              2  - - - - -                   2  

 Total          223,930       1,455,696                 (50)     (223,098)        107,271     (26,101)    (5,109)      1,532,539  

 
 

 
 

 

 
Throughout the first quarter of 2017, Companhia de Locação das Américas (the Company) completed the process of integrating the 

fleet and client portfolio acquired from Panda de Itu Veículos Ltda. 
 
On March 19, 2017, the Signature of the Investment Agreement was announced through a Relevant Fact with the purpose of 
implementing the terms and conditions for the business combination between Auto Ricci S.A. and the Company. 
 
On April 29, 2017, the agreement to acquire the fleet and client portfolio of Meridional Locadora de Veículos LTDA was 
announced through a Notice to the Market, through Agile Car Locações Ltda., a subsidiary of the Company. 
 
On May 11, 2017, the conclusion of the business combination between Auto Ricci S.A. and the Company was announced through 
a Material Fact. 
 
On December 1, 2017 a Meeting of the Board of Directors was held, which deliberated on the Merger of Auto Ricci S.A. and ratified 
all of the actions necessary for implementation. 
 
On December 27, 2017 a Meeting of the Board of Directors was held, which deliberated on execution of the Investment Agreement 
between the Company and the shareholders of Unidas S.A. 
 

On January 2, 2018, the Company announced the incorporation of Auto Ricci S.A., which was fully controlled by the Company, and 
its consequent extinction, aiming at simplifying its organizational and corporate structures, administrative and operational costs. 
 
On January 23, 2018, the merger between the Company and Unidas S.A. was approved without restriction by the Administrative 
Council for Economic Defense (CADE) in the order published in the Official Gazette of the Union. 
 
On February 8, 2018, the Company concluded the bookbuilding procedure for the 15th issuance of debentures for payment of the 
Operation with Unidas S.A. in the total amount of R$ 500.0 million 
 
On March 12, 2018, a Material Fact announced to the market the business combination between the Company and Unidas S.A. 
 
On September 5, 2018 it was announced through a Notice to the Market that, after several studies, it was decided that from this 
date the Company would use trade/commercial name "Unidas" instead of the "Locamerica" brand. 
 
On December 26, 2018, a Notice to the Market announced the acquisition of NTC Serviços LTDA. with the purpose of expanding 
the fleet of vehicles available to the Company and assuming a new position in the Agribusiness industry, in which the Unidas Agro 
business division will be created. The acquisition was approved by CADE on January 3, 2019 and at the Extraordinary General Meeting 

on January 31, 2019 (event after the reporting period).  

7- INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES¹  

8- MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS 

(1) 2017: includes Auto Ricci from 3Q17, and from May 11, 2017 to June 30, 2017 under the equity method. 2018: includes Unidas S.A. from 2Q18, and from March 9, 2018 to March 31, 2018 
under the equity method. 
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Social Impact Statement 
 

Unidas closed the year 2018 with 2,601 employees, representing a 310.9% increase on the 633 employees at the end of 2017, even 
with the continuing high average unemployment rate in Brazil of 12.3% in 2018 (in 2017, the average unemployment rate was 
12.7%). If we aggregate the total number of employees of Unidas S.A. in 2017, the growth would be 23.3%, considering the 
employees of the Rent-a-Car and Used Cars Sales stores and the employees of the administrative structure and Fleet Management 
segment of Unidas S.A. in the period. 
 
The Company believes that these impressive results are attributable to its focus on and development of its professionals. 
 
The Company's staff turnover rate reached 40.1% in 2018, slightly higher than the rate reached in 2017. We point out, as already 
mentioned, that the Company began operating in the Rent-a-Car segment from 2018, which operates similarly to retail, which 
intrinsically has higher turnover rates compared to other sectors. 
 
 
 

       
 
The following table shows the Company's Social Impact Statement for 2017 and 2018: 
 

Indicators – Social Statement (R$ thousand)¹     2017     2018 

Net Revenue (NR)   1,048,051    2,810,728  

EBT (Earnings Before Taxes)     79.861     237,404  

Gross payroll (GP)         40,825        160,660  

       

Internal Social Indicators 
Amount 

(R$ thousand) 
% on GP % on NR 

Amount 

(R$ thousand) 
% on GP % on NR 

Meals 2,236 5.5% 0.2% 11,618 7.2% 0.4% 

Compulsory payroll taxes 10,703 26.2% 1.0% 36,333 22.6% 1.3% 

Health 1,919 4.7% 0.2% 12,653 7.9% 0.5% 

Professional training and development 559 1.4% 0.1% 2,574 1.6% 0.1% 

Daycare centers or childcare allowance 42 0.1% 0.0% 46 0.0% 0.0% 

Others (Internal) 291 0.7% 0.0% 501 0.3% 0.0% 

Profit sharing² 4,600 11.3% 0.4% 33,301 20.7% 1.2% 

Total - Internal Social Indicators 20,349 49.8% 1.9% 97,026 60.4% 3.5% 

       

External Social Indicators 
Amount 

(R$ thousand) 
% on GP % on NR 

Amount 
(R$ thousand) 

% on GP % on NR 

Others (External) - - - 207 0.09% 0.01% 

       

Staff Indicators     2017     2018 

Number of employees at the end of the period   633            2.601  

Number of new hires during the period   282             1.055  

Number of third‐party workers   61                272  

Number of Interns   -                    6  

Number of employees above 45 years old   70                240  

Number of female employees   273             1.062  

% off female employees over total employees   43,1%   40,8% 

% of lead positions held by female employees   29,0%   41,8% 

Number of disabled employees   2                    25  
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9- PEOPLE MANAGEMENT 

# of Employees 
 

 

Turnover in 2017 
 

 

Turnover in 2018 
 

 

(1) 2017: includes Auto Ricci from 3Q17, and from May 11, 2017 to June 30, 2017 under the equity method. 2018: includes Unidas S.A. as of 2Q18, and from March 9, 2018 to March 31, 2018 
under the equity method. 

(2) considers the extraordinary bonus payment to Unidas S.A., which was discounted from the purchase price, as explained in the section "Economic and Financial Performance". 
 



 
 

    

10 de 98 

 

 
 

Internal Actions 
 

During the year, Unidas implemented the following internal measures aimed at improving the company’s working environment and 
employee satisfaction level:   
 
 Coffee with the President and the Directors: these events are held throughout the year with the objective of improving 

communications between the Presidency, the Board of Directors and other employees; 
 

 Regional Meeting: annual meeting with all employees to discuss the Company's goals and strategy; 
 

 Year-End Party: annual celebration bringing together all the Company's operating units to celebrate the results achieved in the 
period; 

 

 Climate Research and Net Promoter Score (NPS): surveys conducted annually to evaluate employee satisfaction with the 
Company and the level of cooperation between the areas; 

 

 Career week: week of lectures and workshops on career progression in general for investment in professional development; 
 

 Internal Campaigns: Annual flu vaccination, which the company offers through application of vaccines in the workplace and 
reimbursements for branch employees, Yellow May for, where lectures on traffic safety awareness are held, Pink October for 
the prevention of breast cancer, Blue November for the prevention of prostate cancer and Red December for the prevention 
of AIDS; 

 

 SIPAT Week (Internal Week for the Prevention of Accidents at Work), covering several lectures on the subject; 
 

 UPA Kids – Unidas Open Doors: opportunity for employees to share a day of work with their children through special 
programming with children; 

 

 "Well With Life": Quick Massage in the workplace, Indoor Soccer Cup and Best Maternity Program; 
 

 Passport My Trips Unidas: rewards in the form of trips to employees who participate more in internal training and projects of 
the Company; 

 

 Thank you cards: enabling the recognition of employees by their peers and their managers; 
 

 Celebration of the Birthdays of the Month: thematic celebrations of the Company's birthdays - Carnival, Festa Junina, Natal 
and others; and 

 

 Partnerships: The Company enters into partnerships for discounts to the employees, regarding colleges, language school, Gym 
Pass and with service companies (restaurants, beauty/aesthetics, health, etc.). 
 

Training and Development 
 
In 2018, 18,068 training hours sessions took place, of which 2,560 hours were through Distance Learning (EAD), with the participation 
of 1,665 employees from all areas and businesses of Unidas. In addition, the Company offered a specific program for the qualification 
of vendors, for eligible employees. 
 
These actions resulted in a total investment of R$ 2,574 thousand in Training and Development (T&D) by the Company, we highlight 
that the Brazilian national average was an average investment of R$ 2,217 thousand in 2018, and approximately 86% of Brazilian 
companies work with an annual budget for T&D¹. Meanwhile, the average investment per employee by Unidas was R$ 1,663 in 
2018, and the Brazilian national average was R$ 746¹ in the same period. 
 
The Company has the "Superior Training Program", through which eligible employees benefit from undergraduate and postgraduate 
scholarships. We also make available to our employees the "United University", a platform with training aimed at all Unidas 
employees, which is a common practice in only 22% of Brazilian companies¹. 

 
In 2018, we updated our Code of Ethical Conduct, which was widely disseminated to all Company employees. 

 
 
Meritocracy 
 
Unidas adopts a policy of meritocracy through its Variable Compensation Program, based on the achievement of goals and objectives 
at all levels of the organization, which are disclosed in a clear and transparent manner to all its employees. The Company also adopts 
the Stock Options and Restricted Shares program as an additional retention policy for eligible positions. 

  

(1) Souce:  Brazilian Association of Training and Development 

9- PEOPLE MANAGEMENT 

10-  



 
 

    

11 de 98 

 
 
Attraction and Retention of Talents 
 

One of Unidas’ main objectives is Talent Attraction and Retention, which is directly aligned with its organizational values, such as 

"We act as owner" and "Respect people and work as a team". Internal recruitment is a practice focused on valuing and retaining 
talent, generating opportunities for promotions and movements between the Company's areas. 
 
Thus, Unidas is able to promote and disseminate a strategic vision of the business, improving the Organizational Climate and the 
satisfaction of its Employees, which the Company evaluates annually through the accompanying Net Promoter Score (NPS) 
Research and Climate Survey. 
 
These actions reinforce our values and demonstrate Unidas’ commitment to the development of its employees. We also highlight 
that in 2018 326 employees were promoted. 
 

 

 
 

 On January 15, 2018, we were ranked as the 13th company with the Most Satisfied Employees in Brazil, according to 
the ranking of the Love Mondays portal. 

 
 On May 24, 2018, we won the 2018 Golden Tombstone Award as the Best M&A Transaction of 2017 – for the Case "Merger 

between Locamerica and Unidas" organized by the Brazilian Institute of Finance Executives of São Paulo Paulo (IBEF-SP); 
 
 On May 25, 2018, the Company won 16th place in Great Places to Work ranking of the best companies to work for in Latin 

America; 
 
 On May 30, 2018, the Company won for the 4th time the Modern Consumer Award of Excellence (19th edition) in Customer 

Services in the category of Rental Companies; 
 
 On June 26, 2018, we were considered one of the 74 franchise networks with a maximum score of Five Stars in the 

Best Franchise Awards of Brazil 2018, for the second consecutive year, organized by the magazine Pequenas Empresas & 
Grandes Negócios, in the Quality of the Network, Network Performance and Franchisee Satisfaction. The ranking considers 411 
networks and a total of 1,052 brands in Brazil; 

 
 On August 13, 2018, we won 10th place in the Great Place to Work ranking of the best companies to work in Brazil in the 

category of Large Companies. 
 
 On August 13, 2018 Unidas was ranked in the Exame Best and Largest 2018 ranking as the 489th largest company in Brazil 

by net sales. 
 
 On August 20, 2018 Unidas S.A. was ranked in the Valor 1,000 ranking as the 351st largest company in Brazil, an improvement 

of 53 positions compared to the previous year. The Company ranked 474th in 2018, up 121 places compared to the previous 
ranking. 

 
 On September 10, 2018, our Company was elected, for the second consecutive time, the Best Company in Customer 

Satisfaction in the category "Rent-a-Car Company" by the ranking of the 100 Best Companies in terms of Customer 
Satisfaction for 2018, performed by the MESC Institute. In the overall ranking, we were again among the top 20 in Brazil, 
reaching 16th place;  

 
 On September 13, 2018 Unidas was ranked in the ranking of the 1,000 Largest Companies in Brazil in the “The Best 

Companies Isto É Dinheiro Magazine” prize, as the 332nd largest company in billing. It was in 369th place the year before. 
 
 On October 18, 2018, we received from the National Association of Executives of Finance, Administration and Accounting - 

ANEFAC, the 2018 Transparency Trophy in the category "Companies with net revenue up to R$ 5 billion". 
 
 On December 12, 2018, we won the Company category with the "Mapping Opportunities and Converting to Promoters" 

case, using the NPS methodology to increase team engagement and improve customer experience. 

 

 
 
In 2018, the Company sponsored the following: 
 
Brazil Ride 2018: Company was the official sponsor of Brazil Ride, the largest mountain bike event in the Americas, the event 
took place from October 21 to 27, 2018, over a 600 km course in the south of Bahia State; and 
 
Top of Mind 2018: The Company was the official sponsor of “Folha Top of Mind 2018”, the most important brand remembrance 
award in Brazil.  
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Unidas annually carries out the following actions internally with its employees: 
 

 Donations of Winter Clothes and Blankets: in 2018 there were actions through the "Double Donations" program with the 

São Vicente de Paula Asylum, Caminhos para Jesus, CEAH, Social Solidarity Fund and Amor Maior Church; 
 Bicycle donations: in 2018 there were actions with Casa Copacabana and Lar Batista; 
 Donations of Toys and School Supplies: in UPA Kids held in 2018, as already mentioned in "Internal Actions", we promote 

donations of used toys from the employees' children and donations of school materials kits for social institutions; 
 Unidas’ Santa Claus 2018: solidarity Christmas present-giving in partnership with the Post Office, in addition to schemes 

with the Karan Institute, Eugenio Francisco de Santana Institution, Lar São Vicente de Paula and Espaço Nova Geração Home; 
and 

 Professional Training Programs - SENAI/MG and SENAC/SP: the programs contribute to the professional formation of 
young people for the labor market (people from the community and indications of employees), offering scholarships in 
partnership with SENAI/MG (Technical Automotive Maintenance - 17 students in 2018) and SENAC/SP (Seller Course - 16 
students in 2018). 

 

Statement of Value Added 
 
This statement shows the importance of the Company to society: Unidas created wealth amounting to R$965.6 million in 2018 
(R$470.9 million in 2017), which was distributed as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Company has implemented the following environmental responsibility actions: 
 

 Water consumption: bathrooms with automatic faucets that, according to studies, can provide water savings of up to 70%. 
Internal communications are also carried out in the common areas of the Operational Units and Rent-a-Car Used Cars Sales 
stores to raise awareness about water use; 

 Power consumption: use of timers, which control the time of use of air conditioning. We also use a self-contained air-
conditioning model which, unlike the traditional split models, is more efficient at cooling medium and large commercial 
environments; 

 Campaign for the conscious use of printers: use of printers with password control. 
 
Actions at Rent-a-Car and Used Cars Sales stores: 

 
 Use of LED spotlights in stores; 
 Use of timers on facades (totems and frames); 
 Replacement of washing with water for washing with wax - which generates an average saving of 50 liters of water per washed 

car. With this action, the Rent-a-Car store located at Congonhas airport has resulted in a saving of 3.3 million liters of water; 
and 

 In the most extreme cases, where water washing is necessary, we use reuse water. 

 
 
It should be noted that the Unidas fleet, because it has a low average age and mileage - evidenced by the fall in the average age of 
the operating fleet in the item "Business Management", to be mostly bi-fuel, and because we carry out maintenance regularly, it 
becomes a more efficient and less polluting fleet, leading to a lower impact on the environment. 
 
In 2018 Unidas, in partnership with NcarS (an automotive dry cleaning company) and the Green Initiative (a third sector organization) 
seeking to contribute to the improvement of environmental services such as biodiversity, water and air quality, has carried out the 
planting of a native tree of the Atlantic Forest for every 100 clean cars in the Unidas Rent-a-Car store located at Congonhas airport. 
 
The planting was done by the Friends of the Forest Program, which combines ecological restoration with the protection of water 
resources. Thus, in 2018, 50 trees in degraded areas in the Serra da Mantiqueira region were planted by Carbon Compensation, 
certifying the Company with the Green Seal for following rigorous standards of sustainability and social and environmental 
responsibility. 
 

12-  SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
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2017 

 
2018 
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Actions carried out by Unidas in 2018: 
 

- New brand identity: as already mentioned in "Mergers and Acquisitions", the Company announced to the market that it would 
adopt the Unidas brand, a brand already established in the Rent-a-Car segment, but totally revitalized, in which was announced at 
an event in São Paulo to publicize the new brand, as well as media campaigns at the main airports where Unidas operates. 
 

- New standard of Rent-a-Car and Used Cars Sales Stores: Rent-a-car stores, located in major airports and large urban 
centers, and the Used Cars Sales stores, already present the new standard of the Company, with a more modern and technology-
based stores’ structure. We emphasize the adoption of the blue color for the Rent-a-Car and Fleet Management branding segments 
and the adoption of the red color for Used Cars Sales stores operations. 
 

- New sites and social networks: Throughout 2018, in line with the modernization of the stores, all our sites had a complete 
redesign: i) Rent-a-Car, CMS platform, leaving the site responsive to facilitate future maintenances and inclusion of various 
functionalities such as customer loyalty and accounts; ii) Fleet Management; iii) Used Cars Sales; iv) Unidas Livre; and v) Investor 
Relations, as well as our social networks: i) Facebook; (ii) Instagram; iii) LinkedIn; and iv) Twitter were redesigned with the new 
brand. 
 

- Unidas Livre: long-term lease for individuals in the segment of Fleet Management, totally customizable product, which is the 
Company’s investment to the transition from possession of the right to use goods (ownership) towards the transactions between 
the user/consumer and provider (usership), which is increasingly prevalent among Brazilians. Unidas created the first e-commerce 
portal in Brazil for this service, where customers can browse offers and hire cars online in a practical way, without the need for 

human intervention. 
 

- Partnership with Alelo: in 2018, Unidas exclusively offered to its clients and prospects specialized Alelo products for Total Cost 
of Ownership (TCO) solutions, while Alelo will offer exclusively to its clients’ customers, prospects and holders of Alelo cards, 
Unidas's services and products. 
 

- Unidas Sempre: loyalty program for the Rent-a-Car segment, in which the customer has access to advantages such as daily and 
free services, with increasing benefits based on the frequency of rental of each customer. The program is divided into three modes: 
Always, Platinum and Black. 
 

- Emerald: new product through the inclusion of the Enterprise loyalty program (also incluidng the Alamo and National brands) at 
Unidas, allowing an international customer to see their scores and access unique services. 
 

- Cred Defense: anti-fraud actions, through the inclusion of facial biometrics in the leasing process. 
 

- Light collector: efficiency in the operations of the Rent-a-Car segment, through a technological evolution of the collector using 
a conventional smartphone, such as opening and closing contracts, reviewing cars, vehicle replacement and changing status. 
 

- Double Authentication Factor: anti-fraud actions through a double factor mechanism to access the corporate portal and 
thereby ensure that reservations made by the agencies are really correct. 
 

- Paperless: actions in stores aimed at operational efficiency, through the bureaucratization of store paperwork. 
 

 
 
 
The corporate governance practices adopted by Unidas uphold ethics and transparency in the relationship with the Company's 
shareholders and other stakeholders and are duly evidenced by the disclosure of the information to the market. 
 
These practices have the purpose of cooperating with an understanding of the Company's real value, facilitating its access to capital 
and contributing to its permanence. Unidas’ practices were strengthened by the approval, at the Ordinary and Extraordinary General 
Meeting held on February 27, 2012, of the Company's Code of Conduct and Ethics. 
 
Unidas also holds its shares traded in the special corporate governance segment of B3's Novo Mercado (New Market) segment, 
exclusively for companies that meet the minimum requirements and subject themselves to differentiated corporate governance rules. 
 
The Company is managed by the Board of Directors composed of seven members and the Executive Board composed of six members. 
In view of the Novo Mercado's governance practices, the Company's Board of Directors has two independent members. Unidas does 
not have a Fiscal Council in place. 
 
In order to advise the Company's Management to manage and mitigate the risks to which it is subject, the Company created 
specialized committees: i) Audit and Risk Management Committee; ii) Personnel Management Committee; iii) Compliance Committee; 
iv) Used Cars Sales Committee; v) Customer Relations Committee; vi) Fleet Management Committee; and vii) Rent-a-Car Committee. 
Each committee counts on the participation of a specific number of members, elected by the Board of Directors, for a period of one 
year, and may be reelected. 
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Currently, the composition of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board were as follow: 

 
 

Board of Directors Position 

Pedro Roque de Pinho de Almeida Chairman 

Sérgio Augusto Guerra de Resende Vice-Chairman 

Luis Fernando Memória Porto Member 

Lee R. Kaplan Member 

Dirley Pingnatti Ricci Member 

Francisco Nuno Pontes Correia Neves Independent Member 

Eduardo Luiz Wurzmann Independent Member 

 
 

Management Position Designation 

Luis Fernando Memória Porto Chief Executive Officer Statutory Director 

Marco Túlio de Carvalho Oliveira Chief Financial Officer Statutory Director 

Jose Antonio de Sousa Azevedo New Business Director and Investor Relations Officer Statutory Director 

Carlos Horácio Sarquis Rent-a-Car Head Officer Statutory Director 

Luis Augusto de Lima Used Cars Sales Head Officer Non-Statutory Director 

Dirley Pingnatti Ricci  Chief Operations and Customer Relationship Head Officer Non-Statutory Director 

João Antonio Martins Mendes Head of IT Non-Statutory Director 

Cynthia Maria Delfini Tamura Human Resources Director Non-Statutory Director 

Daniel Machado dos Santos Operations and Logistics Director Non-Statutory Director 

Felipe Ribeiro Unidas AGRO Director Non-Statutory Director 

Flavio Kanaan Nabhan  Relationship Director Non-Statutory Director 

Gustavo Araújo Retail Used Cars Sales Director  Non-Statutory Director 

Levi Avila da Fonseca Filho Supplies Acelero Director Non-Statutory Director 

Marcelo Andrade dos Reis Rent-a-Car Network Director Non-Statutory Director 

Marcos Moreira Marques Retail Used Cars Sales Director Non-Statutory Director 

Mauricio Borges de Oliveira Pricing and Products Rent-a-Car Director Non-Statutory Director 

Paulo Alexandre Chequetti da Rocha Rent-a-Car Commercial Director  Non-Statutory Director 

Renan Martinez Campoy Correa da Rocha Rent-a-Car and Innovation IT Director Non-Statutory Director 

Ricardo Luiz Matos de Sousa Fleet Management, Used Cars Sales and Infrastructure IT Director  Non-Statutory Director 

Wagner Dias da Silva Retail Used Cars Sales Director Non-Statutory Director 

 
 
Our bylaws provide that the Company's employees, our shareholders and administrators, effective and alternate, are required to 
resolve, through arbitration, before the Market Arbitration Chamber, in the form of its regulations, any and all disputes or 
controversies that may arise among them related to or arising from their status as issuer, shareholders, managers, in particular, 
arising from the provisions of Law No. 6,385/76, Brazilian Corporate Law, our bylaws, the rules issued by the Monetary Council By 
the Central Bank of Brazil and by the Securities and Exchange Commission, as well as the other rules applicable to the operation of 
the capital market in general, in addition to those contained in the Novo Mercado Regulation, the Arbitration Rules, the B3 regulations 
and the Contract for Participation in the New Market. 
 

In addition, the Company adopts the corporate governance practices recommended by the Corporate Governance Best Practice Code 
published by the Brazilian Corporate Governance Institute (IBGC), to which it is associated, and declares that it applies the principles 
and rules established in this code. 
 
With a view to standardizing ethical standards and moral principles among our employees, we have developed and instituted our 
Code of Ethical Conduct ("Code of Ethics"), as already mentioned in the "People Management" section. We understand that, in order 
to guarantee our integrity and the success and sustainability of our business, it is essential to establish rules regarding conduct, 
coexistence, relations with the press and professional secrecy, among others. Our guidelines are for shareholders, officers and 
employees to comply strictly with all applicable laws and regulations and to observe the highest standards of corporate ethics. 
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The Company has a complaints channel, called the Unidas Ethics Channel ("Ethics Channel"), which aims further to stimulate open 

dialogue and transparency in its relations with the Company, the market and society. The Ethics Channel is administered by a 
contracted company that does not belong to its corporate group and is open to internal and external complaints, and can be accessed 
on the website https://www.contatoseguro.com.br/unidas. 
 
All complaints received via the Web or by telephone on 0800-602-6914 are determined by the Ethics Committee, and it is possible 
to whistleblow anonymously, thus ensuring confidentiality and confidentiality. Complaints relating to violations of standards of 
conduct will not in any way lead to retaliation. 
 
Internal Audit: The Internal Audit Department, subordinated to the Financial Department and Company's President, has the 
following responsibilities: i) to investigate all communications received through the whistleblowing channels; ii) create and execute 
an internal audit plan focused on internal controls and compliance with the Company's internal laws and policies; and iii) perform 
testing of key internal controls in relation to the Company's financial statements. 
 
Compliance: The Compliance Department, subordinated to the Finance Department and the Company's Presidency, has the 
following responsibilities: i) to verify all communications received through the ethics channel; ii) to carry out the continuous training 
of Employees, Managers and Third Parties of the Company; iii) monitor compliance with the Code of Ethical Conduct, other policies, 
processes, standards, norms and regulations of the Company; iv) apply appropriate sanctions and disciplinary and pedagogical 

measures to correct inappropriate conduct; v) to ensure, together with the other areas, the adequacy, strengthening and operation 
of the Company's internal controls, seeking to mitigate existing risks; and vi) ensure compliance with the legislation in force. 
 
Anti-Corruption Policy: The Anti-Corruption Policy obligates all employees, managers and third parties linked to the Company to 
conduct business and conduct their professional actions ethically and with absolute integrity, requiring compliance with the Code of 
Ethical Conduct of the Company and with all applicable legislation against bribery and corruption, in particular Law No. 12,846/2013 
and Decree No. 8,420/2015, as well as any and all other relevant regulatory acts and regulations. The Anti-Corruption Policy was 
approved at a meeting of the Company's Board of Directors held on January 3, 2018. 
 
Information Security Policy: The Information Security Policy aims to guarantee the confidentiality, integrity and availability of 
the information assets of companies operating in the Brazilian market under the name "Unidas", identifying the vulnerabilities and 
risk management policies associated with the various information assets regardless of their form or medium in which they are shared 
or stored, digital or printed. This Policy was prepared by the Company's Information Technology Department and approved by the 
Executive Board on April 6, 2017. 
 
Corporate Operations Policy: The Company's Corporate Operations Policy has the objective of establishing the rules and 
guidelines for carrying out corporate operations, that is, changes to the type or structure of the company, including but not limited 
to the transformation, incorporation, merger, spin-off and incorporation of the shares. This Policy applies to the entire Company, its 
administrators, employees, auditors, third parties and suppliers. The Company's Corporate Operations Policy was approved at a 
Board Meeting held on October 31, 2012. 
 
The Company is also part of the Ethos Institute, a specialist institute that has know how to direct our work on this subject, as well 
as the references and competencies they have in the market: i) Largest business network for sustainable development in Latin 
America (500 members); ii) Access to tools to improve management, defining sustainability as a business strategy; iii) Participation 
of our spaces for dialogue and the construction of public policies in the areas of Integrity, Human Rights, Urban Mobility and Climate 
Change; iv) Greater visibility; and v) Benchmarking against other companies. 
 

 
 
 
Throughout 2018, pursuant to CVM Instruction 381/03, we hereby announce that PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores Independentes 
exclusively provided audit services for the parent company and consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2018 and services related to tax review, pro forma financial statements, due diligence and other services to issue a comfort letter 
for a fee of R$ 2,100,000, representing 170% of the fees paid for external audit services. We understand that these services do not 
represent a conflict of interest, loss of independence or objectivity on the part of our independent auditors. 
 
In compliance with Article 25, paragraph 1, items V and VI of CVM Instruction No. 480/09, the Company's Executive Officers Luis 
Fernando Memoria Porto, Chief Executive Officer and Marco Túlio de Carvalho Oliveira, Chief Financial Officer, declare that: (i) they 
have discussed and agreed with the financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018; and (ii) they have reviewed, 
discussed and agreed, without any qualifications, with the opinions expressed in the report issued on February 25, 2019 by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores Independentes, independent auditors of the Company, with respect to the individual and 
consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. 
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 Parent company  Consolidated 

Assets  
 

 
    

 2018  2017  2018 (*)  2017 

Current assets        
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5 a) 1,678,246  385,683  1,755,864  402,489 

Trade receivables (Note 6) 128,967  92,035  377,743  136,913 

Marketable securities (Note 5(b)) 181,150  21,248  207,324  21,516 

Vehicles being decommissioned for fleet renewal (Note 7) 57,447  42,739  330,290  63,965 

Taxes recoverable  39,877  36,766  73,730  38,935 

Prepaid expenses 6,449  1,885  10,926  13,681 

Assets held for sale   2,373    2,373 

Related parties (Note 17) 26,599    16,850   
Other receivables 8,718  11,895  11,872  11,785 

        
Total current assets 2,127,453  594,624  2,784,599  691,657 

        
Non-current assets        
Trade receivables (Note 6) 1,516  2,639  6,399  2,639 

Marketable securities (Note 5(b)) 1,710  6,721  1,710  6,721 

Prepaid expenses     1,149   
Other receivables 1,915  1,818  1,915  1,819 

Deferred taxes (Note 8)     37,580   

Judicial deposits (Note 15) 17,123  14,102  49,829  14,379 

Assets held for sale 2,373    3,223   
Related parties (Note 17) 3,279  5,019  302  302 

        
 27,916  30,299  102,107  25,860 

        
Property and equipment (Note 10) 1,804,517  1,077,617  4,957,861  1,591,234 

Investments (Note 9) 1,532,539  223,930  2  442 

Intangible assets (Note 11) 83,786  4,381  899,949  85,409 

        
Total non-current assets 3,448,758  1,336,227  5,959,919  1,702,945 

        
Total assets 5,576,211  1,930,851  8,744,518  2,394,602 

 
 
(**) From March 9, 2018, the date of acquisition of the control of Unidas S.A., the Company started to include this subsidiary in its consolidated 

financial information. 
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 Parent company      Consolidated 

Liabilities and equity  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 2018  2017   2018 (*)  2017 

        
Current liabilities        
Trade payables (Note 12) 244,271  133,135  976,041  168,193 

Borrowing, financing and debentures (Note 14) 163,375  197,639  298,687  220,923 

Derivative financial instruments (Note 16) 29,326  25,416  31,506  29,371 

Assignment of credits by suppliers (Note 13) 370,393  141,635  998,086  186,463 

Salaries, charges and social contributions 13,037  9,260  23,997  10,499 

Tax liabilities 4,230  1,205  21,730  6,945 

Dividends and interest on capital payable (Note 18) 25,567  4,941  25,567  4,941 

Related parties (Note 17) 799    13,840   
Advances from customers     5,110   
Other payables 2,683  2,509  21,513  4,778 

 
Total current liabilities 853,681  

 
515,740  2,416,077  

 
632,113 

        
Non-current liabilities        
Borrowing, financing and debentures (Note 14)  2,098,479  898,963  3,594,154  1,212,482 

Provision for contingencies (Note 15) 11,721  5,600  108,846  11,721 

Deferred taxes (Note 8) 44,463  23,346  57,574  51,091 

Other payables  2,321  3,921  2,321  3,914 

 
Total non-current liabilities 2,156,984  

 
931,830  3,762,895  

 
1,279,208 

        
Total liabilities 3,010,665  1,447,570  6,178,972  1,911,321 

        
Equity (Note 18)        
Share capital 1,922,181  397,900  1,922,181  397,900 

Treasury shares (9,925)  (9,785)  (9,925)  (9,785) 

Capital reserve and options granted 528,961  45,129  528,961  45,129 

Revenue reserves 140,620  61,951  140,620  61,951 

Carrying value adjustments (16,291)  (11,914)  (16,291)  (11,914) 

        
Total equity 2,565,546  483,281  2,565,546  483,281 

        
Total liabilities and equity 5,576,211  1,930,851  8,744,518  2,394,602 

 
(**)From March 9, 2018, the date of acquisition of the control of Unidas S.A., the Company started to include this subsidiary in its consolidated 

financial information. 
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    Parent company  Consolidated 
          

 
  2018  2017  2018 (*)  2017 

          
Operating revenue (Note 19)   1,229,950  849,418  2,917,195  1,094,614 
Cost of rental and sale of vehicles (Note 20)   (844,883)  (605,250)  (2,032,922)  (772,778) 

 
         

Gross profit   385,067  244,168  884,273  321,836 
 

         
Selling expenses (Note 21)   (51,755)  (39,359)  (165,801)  (45,749) 
General and administrative expenses (Note 22)   (77,847)  (43,070)  (164,075)  (52,170) 
Other operating income (expenses) (Note 24)   (5,054)  186  (7,887)  (126) 
Equity in the results of subsidiaries (Note 9)   107,271  21,644      

 
         

Profit before finance income (costs) and taxes   357,682  183,569  546,510  223,791 
 

         
Finance income (Note 23)   39,283  22,929  57,388  25,073 
Finance costs (Note 23)   (209,355)  (136,589)  (361,772)  (168,009) 

           
Finance costs, net (Note 23)   (170,072)  (113,660)  (304,384)  (142,936) 

 
         

Profit before taxation   187,610  69,909  242,126  80,855 
 

         
Deferred income tax and social contribution (Note 25)   1,592  (9,311)  (52,924)  (20,257) 

           
Profit for the year   189,202  60,598  189,202  60,598  

           
Basic earnings per share - In reais (Note 28)          1.2896      0.7486            1.2896  0.7486 

Diluted earnings per share -  In reais (Note 28)   0.77870      0.7316           0.7870  0.7316 

 
 (**) From March 9, 2018, the date of acquisition of control of Unidas S.A., the Company started to include this subsidiary in its consolidated 

financial information. 
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  Parent company    Consolidated 

 
 

 
2018  2017     2018 (*)  2017 

         
Profit for the year  189,202  60,598  189,202  60,598 

          
Other comprehensive income (loss)         
         
     Hedge accounting - cash flow  (4,658)  (995)  (6,633)  (4,148) 
     Income tax and social contribution - hedge accounting  1,584  338  2,256  1,410 
     Hedge accounting effects – Subsidiary  (1,303)  (2,081)      

         
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the period, net of tax effects  (4,377)  (2,738)  (4,377)  (2,738) 

         
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year  184,825  57,860  184,825  57,860 

 
(**) From March 9, 2018, the date of acquisition of the control of Unidas S.A., the Company started to include this subsidiary in its consolidated 

financial information. 
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Capital reserve and options 

granted  Revenue reserves       

 

Share 
capital  

Treasury 
shares  

Options 
granted  Reserves  

Legal 
reserve  

Investment 
reserve  

Carrying value 
adjustments  

Retained 
earnings  Total equity 

                    
At January 1, 2017 299,279  (5,061)  2,639  (10,030)  5,740  17,502  (9,176)     300,893 

                   
Profit for the year               60,598  60,598 
Hedge accounting - cash flow (Note 16)             (995)    (995) 
Income tax/social contribution – Hedge accounting (Note 8)             338    338 

       Hedge accounting effects – Parent company             (2,081)    (2,081) 

 
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year             (2,738)  60,598  57,860 

                   
Capital increase (Note 18) 98,621                98,621 
Goodwill reserve (Note 18)       51,836          51,836 
Share buyback plan   (7,957)              (7,957) 
Options granted (Note 18)     1,592            1,592 
Options exercised   3,233  (1,310)  402          2,325 
Legal reserve         3,030      (3,030)   
Investment reserve           35,679    (35,679)   
Interest on capital (Note 18)               (21,889)  (21,889) 

 
Total transactions with shareholders 98,621  (4,724)  282  52,238  3,030   35,679      (60,598)  124,528 

                   
At December 31, 2017 397,900  (9,785)  2,921  42,208  8,770  53,181  (11,914)    483,281 

                  
At January 1, 2018 397,900  (9,785)  2,921  42,208  8,770  53,181  (11,914)     483,281 

                  
First-time adoption of IFRS 9 (Note 2.19.1)                (5,885)        (5,885) 

 
Adjusted opening balance 397,900  (9,785)  2,921  42,208  8,770  47,296  (11,914)    477,396 

                  
Profit for the year               189,202  189,202 
Hedge accounting - cash flow (Note 16)             (4,658)    (4,658) 
Income tax/social contribution – Hedge accounting (Note 8)             1,584    1,584 
Hedge accounting effects - Subsidiary             (1,303)    (1,303) 

 
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year                   (4,377)  189,202  184,825 

                   
Capital increase (Note 18) 579,617                579,617 
Goodwill reserve (Note 18)       478,363          478,363 
Share offering (Note 1b) 992,000                992,000 
Share issuance expenses (Note 1b) (47,336)                (47,336) 
Share buyback plan   (3,544)              (3,544) 
Options granted (Note 18)     5,844            5,844 
Options exercised   3,404  (2,476)  2,101          3,029 
Legal reserve         9,460      (9,460)   
Investment reserve           92,596    (92,596)   
Distribution of dividends (Note 18)           (17,502)      (17,502) 
Interest on capital (Note 18)               (87,146)  (87,146) 

Total transactions with shareholders 
 

1,524,281  (140)  3,368  480,464  9,460  75,094    (189,202)  1,903,325 

 
At December 31, 2018 1,922,181  (9,925)  6,289  522,672  18,230  122,390  (16,291)    2,565,546 
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 Parent company  Consolidated 

  
2018 

  
2017 

  
2018 

  
2017 

Cash flows from operating activities       
 

        
 

Profit for the year 189,202   60,598  189,202  60,598 
Adjustments to non-cash income and expenses        

Income tax and social contribution on net income (1,592)  9,311  52,924  20,257 
Equity in the results of subsidiaries (107,271)  (21,644)     

Depreciation and amortization 155,270  96,809  294,204  137,550 
Provision for stolen and damaged vehicles     29,962   
Written off residual value of vehicles decommissioned for fleet renewal 524,929  388,780  1,298,431  479,218 
Residual value of stolen vehicles and total losses on vehicles 19,096  9,397  51,459  10,543 
Provision for share-based payments 4,701  1,591  5,844  1,590 
Financial charges on borrowing 150,825  94,898  258,820  123,099 
Estimated impairment loss on trade receivables  (2,899)  5,685  10,743  5,754 
Provision for contingencies   3,005  (834)  3,367 
Profit sharing 5,875  1,494  12,988  4,425 
Adjustment to present value (296)  (754)  (296)  (755) 
Provision for impairment   (4)    (951) 
Assignment costs 14,098  13,566  35,539  4,324 
Swaps 26,620  17,723  26,620  18,537 
Other 8,322  6,695  16,508  31,913 

  
986,880  

       
687,150  2,282,114   899,469 

Changes in working capital        
Trade receivables  3,228  (4,492)  (65,342)  (18,466) 
Taxes recoverable (970)  (2,807)  (13,678)  (3,958) 
Prepaid expenses (3,125)  1,303  40,152  (3,069) 
Trade payables - except automakers (4,615)  6,957  (36,789)  (10,898) 
Other assets (30,049)  (14,249)  (30,164)  (10,407) 
Acquisition of vehicles net of trade payables - automakers and assignment of credits  (639,515)  (542,445)  (1,910,761)  (683,142) 
Other liabilities (17,704)  (10,854)  (41,636)  (21,759) 

 
Net cash inflow from operating activities 294,130  120,563  223,896  147,770 

         
Cash flows from investing activities        

Acquisition of investments (397,714)  (51,620)  (210,004)  (17,717) 
Acquisition of other investments     442   
Loans to related parties 1,125  (4,717)  5,767   

   Net changes of other property, equipment and intangible assets (1,577)  (6,615)  (31,379)  (7,417) 
   Net changes in marketable securities (154,623)  4,908  (180,797)  4,640 

 
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities (552,789)  (58,044)  (415,971)  (20,494) 

         
Cash flows from financing activities        

Proceeds from borrowing and debentures - net of funding costs 1,230,250  605,562  1,965,408  892,082 
Repayment of borrowing and debentures (434,266)   (344,085)  (998,279)  (642,601) 
Interest paid on borrowing and debentures (128,460)  (90,425)  (262,497)  (126,383) 
Proceeds from stock option plans 3,029  2,325  3,029  2,325 
Share buyback plans (3,544)  (7,957)  (3,544)  (7,957) 
Interest on capital paid to the shareholders of the subsidiary Unidas S.A. before the business combination     (27,536)   
Amount received for the issue of common shares (follow-on offering), net of funding costs 944,664    944,664   
Dividends and interest on capital paid (75,795)   (14,734)  (75,795)  (14,731) 

        
        

Net cash inflow from financing activities 1,535,878  150,686  1,545,450  102,735 
        

Increase in cash and cash equivalents  1,277,219  213,205  1,353,375  230,011 
         
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 385,683     172,478   402,489  172,478 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 1,678,246  385,683   1,755,864  402,489 
(-) Cash and cash equivalents arising from the acquisition of Auto Ricci S.A. 15,344       

 
Balance net of changes in cash and cash equivalents 1,277,219  

 
 213,205  1,353,375  230,011 

        
Activities not affecting cash        

Derivatives – hedges 4,658  2,168  4,658  2,168 
Interest on subscribed and unpaid capital 28,853  4,941  28,853  4,941 
Share of other comprehensive income of subsidiaries (1,303)  2,018    2,081 
First-time adoption of IFRS 9 (Note 2.4.1) 8,916    8,916   

        
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information         

Total vehicles and accessories purchased for property and equipment (900,066)  (643,281)  (3,028,658)  (859,932) 
Net changes in the balance of trade payables - automakers and assignment of credits  260,551  100,836  1,117,897  176,790 

        
Total cash paid or provisioned on the acquisition of vehicles (639,515)  (542,445)  (1,910,761)  (683,142) 
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 Parent company  Consolidated (*) 

 

 
2018  2017  2018  2017 

Revenue        
Gross revenue less discounts 1,288,146  890,942  3,065,103  1,147,854 
Estimated impairment loss on trade receivables and write-off of bad debts 1,728  (5,684)  (12,691)  (5,829) 

         
 1,289,874  885,258  3,052,412  1,142,025 

Inputs acquired from third parties         
Materials, electricity, third party services and other  (56,251)  (25,526)  (91,908)  (32,587) 
Costs of sales and rentals of cars/fleet  (649,335)  (479,330)  (1,758,134)  (540,192) 

        

 (705,586)  (504,856)  (1,850,042)  (572,779) 

         
Gross value added 584,288  380,402  1,202,370  569,246 

Depreciation and amortization (155,270)  (96,805)  (294,204)  (147,140) 

         
Net value added generated 429,018  283,597  908,166  422,106 

        
Value added received through transfer        

Equity in the results of subsidiaries 107,271  21,644    
 

Finance income 39,283  41,371  57,388  48,825 

 
Total value added to distribute 575,572  346,612  965,554  470,931 

 
Distribution of value added        
        

Taxes, charges and contributions        
Federal 75,358  59,659  171,177  85,583 
State 33,449  21,648  33,630  31,564 
Municipal 1,040  633  2,286  763 

        
Personnel        
Direct compensation 47,608  34,423  126,073  43,991 
Benefits 8,021  5,581  27,070  7,504 
Government Severance Indemnity Fund for Employees (FGTS) 4,015  2,934  7,517  3,791 

        
Remuneration of third party capital        
Interest 209,354  155,032  361,772  228,334 
Rentals 7,525  5,458  46,827  8,157 

        
Remuneration of own capital        
Dividends and interest on capital 104,648  21,887  104,648  21,887 
Retained earnings 84,554  39,357  84,554  39,357 

 
Value added distributed 575,572  346,612  965,554  470,931 

 
(**) From March 9, 2018, the date of acquisition of the control of Unidas S.A., the Company started to include this subsidiary in its consolidated 

financial information. 
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1 Operations 
 

Companhia de Locação das Américas (the "Company" or "Locamerica") is a listed corporation domiciled 
in Brazil, established on July 18, 2008. On March 9, 2018, the Company acquired Unidas S.A. (Note 1.1), 
expanding the portfolio of services offered to the Group's customers, and starting to operate in the rent-
a-car (RAC) segment, through its indirect subsidiary Unidas Locadora. The Company and its 
subsidiaries (together the “Group") are engaged in the following activities: 

 

 Renting national and imported vehicles with or without a driver - "Fleet" segment (Locamerica 
and Unidas). Auto Ricci was engaged in car rental activities up to January 2, 2018, when it was 
merged into Locamerica; 

 Purchasing and reselling semi-new vehicles (Acelero and Unidas Comercial); 

 Third party fleet management (Agile); 

 Franchise management (Unidas Franquias); and 

 Rental of vehicles (Unidas Locadora); 
  
The Group has its registered office at Avenida Engenheiro Caetano Álvares, 150, district of Limão, São 
Paulo, state of São Paulo, and operates in a number of Brazilian states through its branches. Its main 
operating bases are located in the states of São Paulo, Minas Gerais, Rio de Janeiro and Paraná. 
 
The Company is listed on the São Paulo Stock Exchange (B3) and its shares are traded in the Novo 
Mercado (New Market) listing segment under the ticker symbol LCAM3. 
 
At December 31, 2018, the Group's fleet was comprised of 131,099 vehicles (46,566 vehicles at December 
31, 2017) (unaudited data). The Company’s fleet is renewed after the end of the vehicles’ economic useful 
lives, which range from 12 to 60 months, according to the characteristics of the vehicles rented and the 
terms of the agreements entered into with customers. After the ends of their useful lives, the vehicles are 
sold either to independent dealers who have their own sales points, or in the Group's own stores. 

 
 The issue of these financial statements was authorized by the Board of Directors on February 25, 2019.  

 
(a) Investment Agreement with NTC Serviços Ltda. 

 
On December 26, 2018, the Company and the shareholders of NTC Serviços Ltda. signed an investment 
agreement for the purpose of expanding the Company’s fleet of available vehicles, through the 
acquisition and subsequent merger of NTC shares into the Company. This transaction will enable the 
Company to increase its current service platforms, through the expansion of the fleet and service units, 
as well as to achieve a new market in the Agribusiness segment. 
 
The transaction will take effect, after approval by the CADE and subject to the fulfillment of certain 
conditions foreseen in the Investment Agreement (including the conversion of NTC from a limited 
liability company into a corporation), in two separate but simultaneous stages:  
 
(i) On the closing date, the Company will acquire from the shareholders Felipe José Gomes Ribeiro, 

Carlos Roberto Sabbag, and Marcelo de Amorim Biagi (“NTC Shareholders”) shares representing 
55.5% of NTC’s capital, for R$50,000,000.00 (fifty million Reais); and 
 

(ii) On the same date, all the shares issued by NTC and not yet acquired will be merged into the 
Company (“Merger of Shares”). Within the scope of this transaction, each common share issued by 
NTC will be replaced by 0.075693842 registered, book-entry, common shares without par value 
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issued by the Company. Accordingly, at the Merger of Shares, the Company will issue in favor of 
the shareholders of NTC a total of 1,379,310 (one million, three hundred and seventy-nine 
thousand, three hundred and ten) registered, book-entry, common shares without par value, 
representing 0.9328% of its share capital.  

 
(b) Secondary offering of shares  

 
At a meeting held on November 27, 2018, the Board of Directors approved the public offering of  primary 
distribution of 31,000 (thirty-one million) registered, book-entry, common shares without par value 
issued by the Company, all free and clear of any liens or encumbrance, with restricted placement efforts, 
in accordance with CVM Instruction 476 ("Offering"), at the price per share of R$32.00 (thirty-two reais), 
which will result in a capital increase of R$992,000 (nine hundred and ninety-two million), as follows: 
 

Number of shares offered            31,000  
Price per share               32.00  
  
Total amount of the offering         992,000  
  
Share issuance expenses  

Commission to financial institutions (39,410) 
Consulting fees  (3,942) 
Audit fees (2,554) 
Other (1,430) 

  

Net amount raised 944,664 

 
The net proceeds from the Primary Offering will be intended for expanding the Group's operations, by 
means of: 
 
- Acquisition of new vehicles to increase the fleet in the vehicle rental (RAC) segment, in order to cope 

with the increased demand in this segment, with a consequent increase in revenue and gains of scale;  
- Acquisition of vehicles related to new contracts for fleet outsourcing (TF); 
- Improvements to technologies used in vehicle rental operations; 
- Improvements to employee training programs and the optimization of internal processes, for the 

purpose of generating operational efficiency gains and reducing costs; and 
- Reinforcement of the Group’s cash position. 
 

(c) Relevant funding in the year 
 
17th Issue of Debentures - Locamerica 
 
On September 21, 2018, the Company’ Board of Directors approved the 17th Issue of Non-Convertible 
Debentures, totaling R$400 million (four hundred million Reais). The net proceeds obtained through 
the Offering pursuant to the terms of CVM Instruction 476 were used by the Issuer in the normal course 
of business, to reinforce cash. Below is a detailed description of this issue: 

 
· Approved based on the minutes of the Board of Directors’ Meeting held on September 21, 2018;  

· Issue of debentures in accordance with CVM Instruction 476; 
· Issue of 400,000 (four hundred million) debentures;  

· Date of issue – September 27, 2018;  
· Payment date – September 27, 2018; 

. Maturity date – September 27, 2023;  
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· Amortization – Compensatory interest will be paid on a half-yearly basis, and the debentures will be 
amortized in 2 (two) annual installments, the first of which matures on September 27, 2022, and 
corresponding to 50.00% of the unit face value of the debentures, and the second on the final maturity 
date, corresponding to 100.00% of the balance of the unit face value of the debentures; 
· Interest rate – 113% of the DI rate. 

   
  16th Issue of Debentures - Locamerica 

 
On April 24, 2018, the Board of Directors approved the 16th Issue of Non-convertible Debentures, totaling 
R$350 million (three hundred and fifty million Reais). The net proceeds obtained by the Issuer under this 
Offering pursuant to CVM Instruction 476 were used to settle the optional early redemption of the total 
debentures of the 7th Issue, and the optional early redemption of the total debentures of the 9th Issue. 
Below is a detailed description of this issue: 

 
· Approved based on the minutes of the Board of Directors’ Meeting held on April 24, 2018;  

· Issue of debentures in accordance with CVM Instruction 476; 
· Issue of 350,000,000 (three hundred and fifty million) debentures;  

· Date of issue – April 27, 2018;  
· Payment date – May 7, 2018; 

. Maturity date – April 27, 2024;  

· Amortization – Compensatory interest will be paid on a half-yearly basis, and the debentures will be 
amortized in 3 (three) annual installments, the first maturing on April 22, 2022, and corresponding to 
33.33% of the unit face value of the debentures, the second maturing on April 27, 2023, and 
corresponding to 50.0o% of the unit face value of the debentures, and the third on the final maturity 
date, corresponding to 100.00% of the balance of the unit face value of the debentures; 
· Interest rate – 119% of the DI rate. 
 
15th Issue of Debentures - Locamerica 
 
On February 19, 2018, the Company completed the 15th Issue of Non-convertible Debentures, totaling 
R$500,000 (five hundred million Reais). The net proceeds obtained by the Issuer as a result of this 
Offering in accordance with CVM Instruction 476, were used to settle the amount relating to the 
acquisition of the shares of Unidas S.A. (“Unidas”), pursuant to the investment agreement signed on 
December 27, 2017 by the Issuer, its controlling shareholders, Unidas and some of the shareholders of 
Unidas. The agreement signed regulates the terms and conditions for the business combination between 
Unidas and the Issuer, in accordance with the significant event notice disclosed by the Issuer on December 
27, 2017 (the "Unidas Transaction"). The funds exceeding the payment amount due in connection with 
the Unidas Operation will be used in the normal course of the Issuer's activities, to reinforce cash. Below 
is a detailed description of the issue:  
 

· The issue was approved by the minutes of the Board of Directors' meeting held on January 15, 2018, 
and amended on February 8, 2018, after a book-building procedure; 
· The debentures were issued pursuant to CVM Instruction 476; 
· A total of 50,000 (fifty thousand) debentures were issued, 41,140 of which in the First Series and 
8,860 in the Second Series;  
· Date of issue – February 19, 2018;  
· Maturity Date of the First Series Debentures – February 19, 2023;  
· Maturity Date of the Second Series Debentures – February 19, 2021;  
· Compensatory interest on the First and Second Series will be paid on a half-yearly basis. 
· Amortization – The First Series debentures will be amortized in 3 (three) annual installments, the 
first maturing on February 19, 2021, and corresponding to 33.33% of the balance of the unit face value 



Companhia de Locação das Américas 
 

Notes to the financial statements  
at December 31,  2018 
All amounts in thousands of reais unless otherwise stated 

 
 
 

26 of 98 

of the First Series debentures, the second maturing on February 19, 2022, and corresponding to 50% 
of the balance of the unit face value of the First Series debentures, and the third on the final maturity 
date, and corresponding to 100% of the balance of the unit face value. The Second Series debentures 
will be amortized in a single installment on the maturity date; 
· Interest rate – The First Series debentures will accrue interest at 100% of the Interbank Deposit (DI) 
variation, plus a spread of 1.4% per year, and the Second Series debentures, at 100% of the DI variation 
plus a spread of 1.15% per year. 
 

12th Issue of Debentures - Unidas 
  

On September 20, 2018, Unidas S.A. completed the 12th Issue of Non-convertible Debentures, totaling 
R$250,000 (two hundred and fifty million Reais). The net proceeds obtained from the Offering pursuant 
to the terms of CVM Instruction 476 were used in the normal course of the Issuer's activities, to reinforce 
cash. Below is a detailed description of the issue: 
  

· The issue was approved based on the minutes of the Board of Directors' meeting held on August 14, 
2018, amended on September 18, 2018, after a book-building procedure; 
· The debentures were issued pursuant to CVM Instruction 476; 
· A total of 250,000 (two hundred and fifty thousand) debentures were issued, of which 150,000 in 
the First Series, and 100,000 in the Second Series;  
· Date of issue – September 15, 2018; 
· Maturity Date of the First Series Debentures – September 15, 2023; 
· Maturity Date of the Second Series Debentures – September 15, 2025; 
· Compensatory interest on the First and Second Series debentures will be paid on a half-yearly basis; 
· Amortization – The First Series debentures will be amortized in 2 (two) annual installments, the 
first maturing on September 15, 2022, and corresponding to 50.00% of the balance of the unit face 
value of the First Series debentures, and the second on the final maturity date, and corresponding to 
100% of the balance of the unit face value. The Second Series debentures will be amortized in 2 (two) 
annual installments, the first maturing on September 15, 2024, and corresponding to 50.00% of the 
balance of the unit face value of the Second Series debentures, and the second on the final maturity 
date, and corresponding to 100% of the balance of the unit face value; 
· Interest rate – The First Series debentures will accrue interest at 110.60% of the Interbank Deposit 
(DI) rate, and the Second Series debentures will accrue interest at 7.3032% p.a., adjusted by the 
Amplified Consumer Price Index (IPCA) variation. 
 

11th Issue of Debentures - Unidas 
  
On March 29, 2018, Unidas S.A. completed the 11th Issue of Non-convertible Debentures, totaling 
R$500,000 (five hundred million Reais). The net proceeds obtained by the Issuer from the Offering 
pursuant to CVM Instruction 476 were used to reinforce the cash position. Below is a detailed description 
of the issue: 
  

· Approved based on the minutes of the Board of Directors’ meeting held on March 22, 2018;  

· The debentures were issued pursuant to CVM Instruction 476; 
· A total of 50,000 (fifty thousand) non-convertible debentures were issued;  
· Date of issue – March 29, 2018; 
· Maturity date of the debentures - March 29, 2023; 
·Compensatory interest on the debentures will be paid on a half-yearly basis; 

· Amortization – The debentures will be amortized in two (2) consecutive annual installments, the 
first falling due on March 29, 2022, corresponding to 50% of the balance of the unit face value of the 
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debentures, and the second falling due on the final maturity date, corresponding to 100% of the 
balance of the unit face value of the debentures; 
· Interest rate – The debentures will accrue interest at 117.5% of the DI rate. 

 
(d) Acquisition of assets from Meridional Locadora de Veículos Ltda. 

 
On April 29, 2017, the Company, through its direct subsidiary Agile Car Locações Ltda., entered into a 
purchase and sale agreement to acquire 620 vehicles from Meridional Locadora de Veículos Ltda., for 
resale. This agreement was subsequently assigned to Acelero Comércio de Veículos Ltda., a direct 
subsidiary of the Company, which became the successor to Agile Car Locações Ltda. with respect to all of 
the rights and duties under the agreement.  
 
This transaction, totaling R$ 12,670, has been approved by the Administrative Council for Economic 
Defense (CADE). At December 31, 2018, the transaction had been fully completed. 
 

1.1. Business combination - Acquisition of an equity interest in Unidas S.A. 
 

On December 27, 2017, the Company signed an investment agreement with the shareholders of Unidas 
S.A. (“Unidas”), which was approved by the Board of Directors on the same date, and had the purpose of 
setting forth the terms and conditions for the business combination between Unidas and the Company. 
 
The completion of this transaction is contingent on the fulfillment of the following conditions: 
 

 Approval from CADE, which was granted and published on January 22, 2018; and 

 Approval from the shareholders, which was obtained at the Extraordinary General Meeting held 
on March 9, 2018. 

 
The book values of Unida's balances at March 9, 2018, are summarized as follows: 
 

Assets  
Current assets 679,242 

Cash and cash equivalents 187,710 
   Trade receivables 186,652 
   Other current assets 304,880 
 
 Non-current assets 2,179,123 
   Other non-current assets 124,118 
   Property and equipment 1,981,541 
   Intangible assets 73,464 
 
Total assets 2,858,365 

  
Liabilities  
Current liabilities 1,090,323 
   Borrowing and debentures 509,185 
   Other current liabilities 581,138 
Non-current liabilities 1,001,985 
   Borrowing and debentures 941,999 
   Other non-current liabilities 59,986 
 
Equity 766,057 
 
Total liabilities and equity 2,858,365 
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Primary reasons for the business combination and a description of the control acquisition 
process 
 
In line with the strategic planning jointly defined by the Company's Executive Board and the Board of 
Directors, the Company expects that the acquisition of Unidas S.A. will broaden its customer base, and 
significantly increase its purchasing scale. The resulting combined company is expected to capture 
significant economic and financial synergies through the optimization of the capital structure of Unidas 
S.A., as well as through gains arising from an exchange of best practice between the two companies. 
 
Unidas S.A., just like Locamerica, is engaged in renting vehicles without a driver (“rent-a-car” or RAC 
segment), and also sells semi-new vehicles, as an activity that results from its core business. 
 
The acquisition price of a 100% equity interest in Unidas S.A. was R$ 1,455,694, which includes the 
impacts of temporary differences on the business combination. The acquisition was carried out as 
follows: 
  

   Acquisition of 40.3% of the share capital of Unidas S.A, for R$397,914 (three hundred and ninety-
seven million, nine hundred and fourteen thousand Reais), paid in cash on March 9, 2018; 

  

  Acquisition of the remaining 59.7% of the share capital of Unidas S.A. through a merger of shares, 
which resulted in the issue of 34,394,689 new shares by the Company. The share value, for purposes 
of determining the acquisition price, was based on the opening quoted price on March 9, 2018 (date 
of the Shareholders' Extraordinary General Meeting). 

 
Fair value of the net assets acquired and  
recognized on the acquisition date 
 
The acquiree's equity at fair value, totaling R$ 770,139, was comprised as follows: 

Book value of the acquiree's equity on March 9, 2018, date of the Shareholders' Extraordinary 
General Meeting 

 
 

766,057 
 
- Revaluation adjustments: 

 

 
a) Surplus on the revaluation of “Vehicles being decommissioned for fleet renewal" 

 
266 

b) Surplus on the revaluation of property and equipment - Vehicles 28,400 
c) Surplus on the revaluation of the customer portfolio 31,173 
d) Surplus on the revaluation of trademarks 26,406 
e) Deficit on the revaluation of contingencies (65,413) 
f) Deferred taxes on the business combination (16,750) 

 
Acquiree's equity at fair value 

 
770,139 

 
Methodology used to calculate the fair value 
 
The fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed was estimated by management, supported 
by the opinion of its independent consultants, considering the following methodologies: 
 
(i) Customer agreements/portfolio: the fair value of the intangible assets arising from customer 
relationships was calculated under the Multi-Period Excess Earnings Method (MPEEM); at March 9, 
2018, Unidas S.A. had approximately R$108,188 recorded as a provision for the impairment of trade 
receivables; 
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ii) Property and equipment and vehicles being decommissioned for fleet renewal: The 
market value of these assets was determined based on the following valuation criteria: 
 
The vehicles were valued based on the ownership certificates and spreadsheets provided by the acquiree, 
reconciled with the accounting records, from which data such as the brand, model, year of manufacture 
and model year were collected. The fair value of these assets was determined based on market research 
from industry-specific publications (Institute of Economic Research - FIPE), considering the history of 
sales of vehicles in comparison with the FIPE chart.  
 
iii) Trademark: the fair value of intangible asset trademarks was calculated under the Relief from 
Royalties methodology. 
 
iv) Contingencies: the fair value of contingent liabilities was estimated by external legal advisors, 
based on the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome on the claims assessed. At March 9, 2018, Unidas 
S.A. had approximately R$181,615 recorded as contingencies with a likelihood of a favorable outcome 
considered possible. Of this amount, approximately R$87,226 relate to tax claims, and R$94,389 to 
labor and civil claims. 
 
Goodwill on acquisitions 
 

Consideration transferred 1,455,694 
Less: fair value of the acquiree's equity (770,139) 

  
Goodwill based on expected future profitability 685,555 

 
Goodwill was generated on the acquisition considering that the amount paid as a control premium was 
included in the cost of the business combination. In addition, the consideration paid for the combination 
included amounts relating to the benefits from expected synergies, revenue growth and future 
development of the markets. These benefits are not recognized separately from goodwill, since they do 
not meet the criteria for the recognition of identifiable intangible assets. 

 
Disclosure of the acquisition price for the purposes of  
The presentation of the consolidated cash flow 
 

Consideration paid 397,714 
Cash and cash equivalents arising from the acquisition of Unidas S.A. (187,710) 

  
Acquisition of investments, net of the acquiree’s cash 210,004 
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Results of Unidas S.A. relating to the periods prior and subsequent to the business combination are 
presented below: 
         Consolidated 

 

January 1 to 
March 8, 2018  

      March 9 to 
December 31, 2018 

 December 31, 
2018 

Operating revenue 351,310  1,667,950  2,019,260 
Cost of rental and sales of vehicles (248,683)  (1,173,404)  (1,422,087)       
Gross profit 102,627  494,546  597,173 

      
Administrative and selling expenses (69,843)  (197,555)  (267,398) 
Other operating expenses  (974)  (2,060)  (3,034) 

      
Profit before finance income (costs) and taxes 31,810  294,931  326,741       
Finance income 3,426  18,675  22,101 
Finance costs (32,177)  (152,516)  (184,693) 
     

 
 

Finance costs, net (28,751)  (133,841)  (162,592)       
Profit before income tax and social contribution 3,059  161,090  164,149       
Deferred and current 53 

 
(54,304)  (54,251) 

      
Profit for the period/year 3,112  106,786  109,898 

 
Additionally, due to the business combination with Unidas S.A. carried out on March 9, 2018, the 
balance sheet items at fair value are presented below: 

                    Unidas S.A. 

 

 
Carrying 

amount  Adjustments  Fair value 
Assets      
Current assets 679,242  266  679,508 
 
   Cash and cash equivalents 

 
187,710     

 
187,710 

   Trade receivables 186,652    186,652 
   Other current assets 304,880  266  305,146 
      
 Non-current assets 2,179,123  85,979  2,265,102 
 
   Other non-current assets 

 
124,118     

 
124,118 

   Property and equipment 1,981,541  28,400  2,009,941 
   Intangible assets 73,464  57,579  131,043 

Total assets 
 

2,858,365  86,245  2,944,610 

       
Liabilities      
Current liabilities 1,090,323    1,090,323 
 
   Borrowing and debentures 

 
509,185     

 
509,185 

   Other current liabilities 581,138    581,138 
      
Non-current liabilities 1,001,985  82,163  1,084,148 
 
   Borrowing and debentures 

 
941,999     

 
941,999 

   Other non-current liabilities 59,986  82,163  142,149 
      
Equity 766,057  4,082  770,139 

Total liabilities and equity 
 

2,858,365  86,245  2,944,610 
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1.2. Merger of Auto Ricci S.A. 
 

An Extraordinary General Shareholders' Meeting held on January 2, 2018 approved the merger of the 
subsidiary Auto Ricci S.A., whereby Locamerica assumed all of the assets and liabilities of the merged 
company as from this date. The merged balances were as follow: 
 

Assets 1/2/2018  Liabilities and equity 1/2/2018 
     

Current assets   Current liabilities  
Cash and cash equivalents 15,344  Trade receivables 25,032 
Trade receivables 44,758  Borrowing and debentures 23,284 
Marketable securities  268  Derivative financial instruments 3,955 
Vehicles being decommissioned as part of fleet renewal 16,199  Assignment of credits by suppliers 44,828 
Taxes recoverable 2,141  Salaries, charges and social contributions 1,304 
Prepaid expenses 1,439  Tax liabilities 5,120 
Other receivables 22  Other payables 1,215 

     
Total current assets 80,171  Total current liabilities 104,738 

     
Non-current assets   Non-current liabilities  
   Borrowing and debentures 313,519 

   Provision for contingencies 362 
   Deferred taxes 28,456 
Deposits in court 277  Related parties 2,387 

   
   

   Total non-current liabilities 344,724 

     
   Total liabilities 449,462 

     
   Equity  
Property and equipment 515,328     Share capital 50,081 
Investments 52     Revenue reserves 98,713 
Intangible assets 348     Carrying value adjustments (2,080) 

     
Total non-current assets 516,005  Total equity 146,714 

     
Total assets 596,176  Total liabilities and equity 596,176 

 
 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting practices adopted in 
Brazil, including the pronouncements issued by the Brazilian Accounting Pronouncements Committee 
(CPC), as well as according to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and disclose all (and only) the applicable significant 
information related to the financial statements, which is consistent with the information utilized by 
management in the performance of its duties. 
 
The main accounting policies applied to the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 

2.1 Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical costs convention, as modified by 
certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) measured at fair value. 
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The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting 
policies. Those areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 3. 
 

(a) Parent company and consolidated financial statements 
 
The parent company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting 
practices adopted in Brazil issued by the CPC. From 2014, the accounting practices adopted in Brazil 
applicable to individual financial statements do not differ from the IFRS applicable to separate financial 
statements, since now the entities are allowed to use the equity method to account for investments in 
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures in the separate financial statements. Accordingly, the 
accounting practices adopted in Brazil are in compliance with the IFRS issued by the IASB. The parent 
company financial statements are disclosed together with the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared and are being presented in accordance with 
the accounting practices adopted in Brazil, including the pronouncements issued by the Brazilian 
Accounting Pronouncements Committee (CPC), as well as in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
 

The presentation of the parent company and consolidated statements of value added, which is required 
by the Brazilian corporate legislation and the accounting practices adopted in Brazil for listed 
companies, was prepared in accordance with the criteria defined by Accounting Pronouncement CPC 09 
- "Statement of Value Added". The presentation of this statement is not required under IFRS, which 
consider it as supplementary information, and not part of the set of financial statements. 
 

(b) Consolidation 
 
 The Company acquired control of Unidas S.A. on March 9, 2018, and of Auto Ricco S.A. on May 11, 2017, 

and started to consolidate the information on the investees from those dates. The Company also 
consolidates the financial information of the investees Acelero Comércio de Veículos Ltda which, as a 
result of the merger of Auto Ricci S.A. on January 2, 2018, became a direct investee of the Company, and 
Ágile Car Locações Ltda, which started its operations in 2017. These two companies were wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of the Company on the reporting date. 

 
2.2 Segment reporting 
 

Operating segments are defined as components that carry out business activities: (i) which may earn 
revenue and incur expenses; (ii) the operating results of which are regularly reviewed by management to 
make decisions; and (iii) for which separate financial information is available.  
 
The Group has defined two operating segments which are managed separately, based on the reports 
used for strategic decision-making by the Executive Board and the Board of Directors. The accounting 
policies of these operating segments are the same as those described in Note 2 or in the explanatory 
notes to the respective line items. 
 
Management understands that the Group's operations are divided into two identifiable operating 
segments: (i) rental of vehicles under long-term contracts ("fleet"); and (ii) rental of vehicles under 
short-term contracts (“rent-a-car” or RAC), carried out by its indirect subsidiary Unidas Locadora. The 
Group's management understands that the fleet renewal activity (semi-new vehicles) is not a separate 
operating segment, as this activity is inherent in the operations of the fleet and RAC segments. 
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2.3 Business combination 
 
In the consolidated financial statements, the Company uses the acquisition method to account for 
business combinations. The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair 
value, which is the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the acquirer, the 
liabilities incurred by the acquirer to the former owners of the acquiree, and the equity interests issued 
by the acquirer in exchange for the acquiree's control.  
 
The assets and liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair value on the date of acquisition. 
 
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed is recorded as goodwill. Where the cost of acquisition is lower than the fair value of the net 
assets identified, the difference is recorded as a gain in the statement of income for the period in which 
the acquisition takes place. 
 
Transaction costs incurred in a business combination, other than those associated with the issuance of 
debt securities or ownership interests, are recognized as expenses as they are incurred. 
 

2.4 Foreign currency translation  
 
(a) Functional and presentation currency 

 
Items included in the Group's financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the Group operates (the “functional currency").   
 
The financial statements are presented in Reais (R$), which is the Group's functional currency.  
 

(b) Transactions and balances 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions, or the dates of valuation when items are remeasured.  
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowing, cash and cash equivalents are presented in 
the statement of income within "Finance income or costs".  
 

2.5 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, bank deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less and with an immaterial risk of risk of changes in value. 
The balance is presented net of bank overdrafts in the statement of cash flow. Bank overdraft accounts 
are shown in the balance sheet within "Borrowing and debentures" under current liabilities. 
 

2.6 Financial assets 
 
2.6.1  Classification 

 
From January 1, 2018, the Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: 
 

 Measured at fair value (through profit or loss or other comprehensive income (loss)); and 

 Measured at amortized cost. 
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These classifications are based on the business model adopted for financial asset management and on 
the characteristics of the contractual cash flows. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (loss) include: 
 

 Equity securities that are not classified as held for trading on initial recognition, and which the 
Group decided, irrevocably, to recognize in this category. These investments are strategic, and the 
Group considers this classification to be more relevant; and 

 Debt securities where the contractual cash flows are solely principal and interest, and the objective 
of the Group’s business model is achieved both through the collection of contractual cash flows 
and the sale of financial assets. 
 

The Group classifies the following financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 
 

 Equity investments held for trading; and  

 Equity investments for which the entity has not opted to recognize gains and losses through 
other comprehensive income (loss). 

 
For financial assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will be recorded in the statement of income, 
or in other comprehensive income (loss). The classification of investments in debt instruments will vary 
based on the underlying business model. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for 
trading, the classification will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable decision at the 
time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (loss). 
 

2.6.2 Recognition and derecognition 
 
Normal purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date, i.e. on the date when the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive 
cash flow have expired or have been transferred, and the Group has transferred substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of ownership. 
 

2.6.3 Measurement 
 
Financial assets are recognized initially at fair value, plus transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition, in the case of investments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss are recognized immediately in the statement of income. 
 
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether 
their cash flows solely arise from the payment of principal and interest. 
 
Debt instruments 
 
The subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing 
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into 
which the Group classifies its debt instruments: 
 

 Amortized cost: assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash 
flows solely represent payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. 
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Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective 
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising upon the derecognition is recognized directly in 
profit or loss and presented in finance income or expenses, together with foreign exchange gains 
and losses.  Impairment losses are presented as a separate line item in the statement of income. 
Any gain or loss arising upon derecognition is recorded directly in profit or loss and presented in 
“Other gains (losses), net”, together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses 
are presented within a separate line item in the statement of income. 
 

 Fair value through other comprehensive income (loss) - assets that are held for the collection of 
contractual cash flows and for the selling of financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows solely 
repredsent payments of principal and interest, are measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (loss). Changes to the carrying amount are recorded as other 
comprehensive income (loss), except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest 
revenue and foreign exchange gains/losses, which are recognized in the statement of income. 
When the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in 
other comprehensive income (loss) is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognized in 
finance income or expenses. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance 
income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are 
presented in “Other gains (losses), net” and impairment expenses are presented as a separate 
line item in the statement of income. 

 Fair value through profit or loss -  assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or fair 
value through other comprehensive income (loss) are measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. Any gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair value through 
profit or loss is recognized in the statement of income and presented within finance income or 
expenses, in the period in which it arises. 

 
Equity instruments 
 
The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group’s management 
has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments within other comprehensive 
income (loss), there will be no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss 
after the investment is derecognized. When the Group’s right to receive payments is established, the 
dividends from such investments continue to be recognized in the statement of income as other 
receivables. 
 
Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in finance 
income or expenses in the statement of income, where applicable. Impairment losses (and reversals of 
impairment losses) on equity investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(losses) are not reported separately from the other changes in fair value. 
 

2.6.4 Impairment 
 
From January 1, 2018, the expected credit losses associated with debt instruments recorded at amortized 
cost and at fair value through other comprehensive income (loss) started to be measured on a forward-
looking basis. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk.  
 
For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9/CPC 48, which 
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognized from the initial recognition of the receivables. 
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2.6.5   Offsetting of financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts, and an intention to settle them on a net 
basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not 
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business, and in the 
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty. 
 

2.6.6    Accounting policies adopted up to December 31, 2017 
 
As permitted by the transition rules of IFRS 9/CPC 48, the Group adopted the new standard from 
January 1, 2018, without the restatement of comparative figures for 2017. Accordingly, the accounting 
practices adopted in the preparation of the comparative information are not the same as those used in 
the financial statements at December 31, 2017, which are summarized below: 
 

(i) Classification 
 
Up to December 31, 2017, the Group classified its financial assets upon the initial recognition at fair 
value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale. The classification depended on 
the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 
 

(ii) Recognition and measurement 
 
The initial measurement was not changed through the adoption of IFRS 9/CPC 48.  
 
Subsequently, financial assets were derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows had expired or 
had been transferred, and the Group had transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
were subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables were carried at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. 
 
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of "Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss" category were presented in the statement of income within finance income or expenses in the 
period in which they arose. 
 
When securities classified as available for sale were sold or became impaired, the accumulated fair value 
adjustments recognized in equity were included in the statement of income as finance income or 
expenses. 
 
Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective interest rate method was 
recognized in the statement of income as part of "Other income". 
 
Dividends on financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss, such as shares, were recognized 
in the statement of income as part of other income when the Company's right to receive dividends had 
been established. 
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2.6.7  Impairment of financial assets 
 

Assets carried at amortized cost  
 
Up to December 31, 2017, the Group assessed at each balance sheet date whether there was objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets was impaired. A financial asset or a group of 
financial assets was impaired, and impairment losses were incurred, only if there was objective evidence 
of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a 
"loss event") and that loss event (or events) had an impact on the estimated future cash flow of the 
financial asset or group of financial assets that could be reliably estimated. 
 
The amount of any impairment loss was measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount 
and the present value of the estimated future cash flow (excluding future credit losses that had not been 
incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the 
asset was reduced and the amount of loss was recognized in the statement of income. If a loan or held-
to-maturity investment had a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss 
was the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group 
could measure impairment on the basis of an instrument's fair value using an observable market price. 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreased, and the decrease could be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment recognition (such as an improvement in 
the debtor's credit rating), the reversal of the previously recorded loss was recognized in the statement of 
income. 
 

2.6.8 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities 
 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered 
into, and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. The method for recognizing the resulting gain or 
loss depends on whether the derivative has been designated as a hedging instrument, in the case of the 
adoption of hedge accounting, and if so the nature of the item being hedged is taken into account. The 
Group adopts the hedge accounting procedures and designates certain derivatives as hedges of a 
particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction 
(cash flow hedge).  
 
The fair values of the various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in  
Note 16.   
 
The changes in the hedging amounts classified under "Carrying value adjustments" in equity are shown 
in the statement of changes in equity. 
 

(a)       Cash flow hedge  
 

The effective portion of changes in the fair values of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash 
flow hedges is recognized in equity within "Carrying value adjustments". The gain or loss relating to the 
ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the statement of income as “Finance costs, net”. 
 
Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to the statement of income in periods when the hedged 
item affects profit or loss (for example, when the forecast sale that is being hedged takes place). Gains or 
losses relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowing are 
recognized in the statement of income within "Finance income (costs), net". Gains and losses relating to 
the ineffective portion are recognized immediately in the statement of income within "Finance income 
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(costs), net". However, when the forecast transaction that is being hedged results in the recognition of a 
non-financial asset (for example, inventory or fixed assets), the gains and losses previously deferred in 
equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset. The 
deferred amounts are ultimately recognized in cost of goods sold, in the case of inventory, or in 
depreciation, in the case of property and equipment.  
 
When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is 
recognized in profit or loss when the transaction is recognized in in profit or loss when the transaction is 
recognized in the statement of income. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the 
cumulative gain or loss that was recorded in equity is immediately transferred to the statement of 
income within "Financial income (costs), net". 
 

(b)       Hedge ineffectiveness  
 
Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship and through periodic 
prospective effectiveness assessments to ensure that there is an economic relationship between the item 
hedged and the hedging instrument.  
 
The Group contracts interest rate swaps with critical terms that match those of the hedged item, such as 
the reference rates, redefinition dates, payment dates, maturities and notional amounts. The Group does 
not hedge 100% of the borrowing, and therefore the hedged item is identified as a proportion of the 
borrowing outstanding up to the notional amounts of the swaps. As all of the critical terms matched 
during the year, the economic relationship was 100% effective. 
 
Hedge ineffectiveness for interest rate swaps, which is assessed using the same principles as for hedges 
of foreign currency purchases, may occur due to: 
 

 The adjustments to credit/debit amounts on the interest rate swaps which do not match the 
borrowing; and 

 Differences in critical terms between the interest rate swaps and the borrowing. 
 

(c)       Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value  
of any of these derivative instruments are recognized immediately in the statement of income within 
"Finance costs, net".  
 

2.7 Trade receivables 
 

Trade receivables correspond to amounts receivable from customers for fleet rental services performed 
(RAC) and sales of vehicles decommissioned for fleet renewal purposes, in the normal course of the 
Group’s activities. If collection is expected within one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If 
not, they are presented as non-current assets. 
 
Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate method, less any provision for impairment. 
 
Trade receivables are adjusted to present value only when the effect is considered material in relation to 
the financial statements taken as a whole. For the purposes of the recognition and determination of 
materiality, the adjustment to present value is calculated as disclosed in Note 6. 
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2.8 Vehicles being decommissioned for fleet renewal 
 

These vehicles are recognized at their residual value upon the transfer from "Property and equipment" to 
the "Vehicles being decommissioned for fleet renewal” account. The balance of these vehicles is stated at 
the lower of the cost and net realizable value.  
 
After the end of the lease agreement, the vehicles are reclassified to “Vehicles being decommissioned for 
fleet renewal" and are destined for sale (an activity supplementary to the Group’s operations).  
 
The net realizable value is the estimated selling price of the vehicle, less selling expenses.  
 

2.9   Property and equipment 
 

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost 
includes expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with these costs will flow 
to the Group and can be measured reliably. The carrying amounts of replaced items or parts is 
derecognized. All other repair and maintenance costs are charged to the statement of income during the 
financial period in which they are incurred.  
 
Depreciation is calculated based on the depreciable amount, which is the cost or deemed cost of an asset,   
less the residual value. The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Group would 
obtain on its sale after deducting the estimated selling expenses. For vehicles, the residual value is the 
estimated selling price at the end of their useful lives, less the estimated selling expenses. 
 
Depreciation is recognized based on the straight-line method in the statement of income, from the date 
on which the assets are available for use, based on the estimated useful life of each property, plant and 
equipment item, since this is the method that best reflects the consumption pattern of future economic 
benefits incorporated in the asset. The useful lives of the vehicles reflects the pattern of use and 
consumption of their expected economic benefits.  
 
The useful lives of property and equipment estimated for the current and comparative years are 
approximately the following:  

      Years  
Vehicles       1-5 
Vehicle accessories     1-5 
IT equipment     5 
Machinery and equipment     10 
Furniture and fittings      10 
Other       10 

 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
year.  
 
An asset's carrying amount is immediately written down to its recoverable amount when it exceeds the 
estimated recoverable amount. 
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Gains and losses on sale, except for vehicles, are determined by comparing the proceeds with the 
carrying amount, and are recognized within other operating income or expenses, net in the statement of 
income. 
 

2.10 Intangible assets 
 
(a) Contracts with customers 

 
Contractual customer relationships (portfolio of rental agreements acquired from third parties) are 
recognized at fair value at the acquisition date, have a finite useful life, and are carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is calculated using the straight line method over the 
expected life of the customer relationship.  
 

(b) Software  
 
Computer software licenses purchased are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and 
bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortized over the estimated useful life of the software 
(five years).  
 
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recognized as an expense as 
incurred.  
 
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique 
software products are recognized as intangible assets. 
 
Directly attributable costs that are capitalized as part of the software product include the software 
development employee costs and an appropriate portion of applicable overheads. Costs also include 
finance costs related to the development period of the software product. 
 
Other development expenditure that does not meet these capitalization criteria is expensed as incurred. 
Development costs previously recorded as expenses are not recognized as an asset in a subsequent 
period. 
 

(c) Trademarks and patents 
 
Acquired trademarks and licenses acquired separately are initially stated at historical cost. Trademarks 
and licenses acquired in a business combination are recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Subsequently, trademarks which have a defined useful life are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortization. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of 
trademarks and licenses over their estimated useful lives of 15 to 20 years. 

(d) Goodwill 
 
Goodwill results from the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents: (i) the excess of consideration 
transferred; (ii) the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree; and (iii) the acquisition-date 
fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of identifiable net assets 
acquired. If the total sum of the consideration transferred, the non-controlling interest recognized, and 
the previously held interest measured at fair value is less than the fair value of the aqcuiree’s net assets, 
in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognized directly in the statement of income. 
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2.11  Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, such as goodwill, are not subject to amortization, and are tested 
annually for impairment. Impairment of goodwill is reviewed annually, or whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the goodwill may not be recoverable. 
 
Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognized at the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is 
the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there is separately identifiable cash flow 
(cash-generating unit or CGU level).  
  
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that have been adjusted due to impairment are subsequently 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the balance sheet date. Impairment of goodwill 
recognized in the statement of income is not reversed.  
 

2.12 Trade payables and assignment of credits by suppliers 
 

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired from suppliers in the 
ordinary course of business within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. 
 
Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost, using 
the effective interest rate method. 
 
Certain suppliers are given the option to assign credits, without the right of recourse, to financial 
institutions. The Group segregates these operations in the balance sheet within "Assignment of credits 
by suppliers", since these credits will no longer be paid to the supplier, but to the financial institution. 
The Group also classifies these operations as operating activities, in the statement of cash flows.  
 

2.13 Borrowing and debentures  
 

Borrowing and debentures are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and are 
subsequently carried at amortized cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the total amount payable is recognized in the statement of income over the period of the borrowing 
using the effective interest rate method.  
 
Borrowing and debentures are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.  
 

2.14 Provisions 
 

Provisions for legal claims (labor, civil and tax) are recognized when: (i) the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past events; (ii) it is probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation; and (iii) the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions include lease 
termination penalties and civil lawsuits, such as claims for compensation to victims of accidents 
involving the Group’s fleet vehicles, claims for overtime, severance pay and employment termination 
pay. Provisions do not include future operating losses.  
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Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations 
may be low.  
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the costs expected to be required to settle the liability,  
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the time elapsed is recognized as an 
interest expense.  
 

2.15 Current and deferred income tax and social contribution 
 

The income tax and social contribution expenses for the period comprise current and deferred taxes. 
Income taxes are recognized in the statement of income, except to the extent that they relate to items 
recognized directly in equity or in comprehensive income (loss). In such cases, the taxes are also 
recognized in equity or in comprehensive income (loss).  
 
The current and deferred income tax and social contribution are calculated on the basis of the tax laws 
enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date. Management periodically evaluates the 
positions taken by the Group in the income tax returns with respect to situations where the applicable 
tax regulations are subject to interpretation. Provisions are recorded, where appropriate, based on the 
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.  
 
The current income tax and social contribution are presented net, separated by taxpaying entity, in 
liabilities when there are amounts payable, or in assets when the amounts prepaid exceed the total 
amount due on the reporting date.  
 
Deferred income tax and social contribution are recognized, using the liability method, on temporary  
differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial 
statements. However, deferred taxes are not accounted for if they arise from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting nor the taxable profit or loss.  
Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented net in the balance sheet when there is a legally 
enforceable right and an intention to offset them upon the calculation of current taxes, generally when 
they are related to the same legal entity and the same tax authority. Accordingly, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities in different entities or in different countries are generally presented separately, and not on a 
net basis.  
 

2.16  Employee benefits 
 
(a) Share-based payment  

 
The Group has a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation plans, under which it receives 
services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of 
the employee services received in exchange for the granting of the options is recognized as an expense. 
The total amount to be recognized is determined with reference to the fair value of the options granted, 
excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example 
profitability, sales growth targets and the employee remaining at the entity over a specified time period). 
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Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions regarding the number of options that are 
expected to vest. The total expense is recognized over the vesting period, which is the period over which 
all of the specified vesting conditions should be satisfied.    
 
At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to 
vest based on the non-market vesting conditions and length of service conditions. The impact of the 
revision to original estimates, if any, is recognized in the statement of income, with a corresponding 
adjustment to equity.  
 
The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital 
(nominal amount) and share premium when the options are exercised.  
 
The social contribution payable in connection with the granting of stock options is considered an 
integral part of the concession itself, and the charge is treated as a transaction settled in cash. 
 

(b) Profit sharing 
  
The Group recognizes a liability and an expense for profit-sharing based on a methodology that takes 
into account the profit attributed to the Group’s shareholders after considering certain adjustments and 
agreements entered into with union representatives on behalf of its employees. The Group recognizes a 
provision where it is contractually obliged to do so, or where there is a past practice that has created a 
constructive obligation. 
 

2.17 Equity 
 
(a) Share capital 
 

The Company only has common shares, which are classified in equity.   
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds ("Share issuance costs").   
 

(b) Distribution of dividends and interest on capital 
 
The distribution of dividends and interest on capital to the Company's shareholders is recognized as a 
liability in the Group’s financial statements at the year-end based on the Company's bylaws. Any amount 
that exceeds the minimum required is only provided for on the date on which it is approved by the 
shareholders at a General Meeting. 
 
The tax benefit of interest on capital is recognized in the statement of income. 
 

2.18  Revenue recognition 
 

Revenue represents the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of products and 
services in the normal course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown net of taxes, returns, rebates 
and discounts.  
 
The Group recognizes revenue when the amount can be reliably measured, and when it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the Group.  
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(a) Revenue from rental of vehicles 
 
Vehicle rental revenue (fleet and rent-a-car) is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable 
for the rental services provided. Fleet rental revenue is recognized on a monthly basis over the term of 
the rental agreement and rent-a-car revenue is recognized pro rata temporis over the contract period. 
 

(b) Revenue from the sale of vehicles 
 
The sale of goods (vehicles) is an activity which is supplementary to the Company's vehicle rental 
activity. Revenue is recognized when there is effective evidence that the most significant risks and 
benefits inherent to the ownership of the goods have been transferred to the purchaser; it is probable 
that the financial and economic benefits will flow to the Group; the related costs and the possible return 
of vehicles may be reliably estimated; there will not be continuous involvement with the assets sold; and 
the amount of revenue can be reliably measured. If the granting of discounts is probable, and the 
amount can be reliably measured, the discount is recognized as a decrease in revenue as sales are 
recorded.  
 

(c)  Finance income  
 
Finance income is recognized on the accruals basis, using the effective interest rate method. 
 

2.19 New standards, amendments and interpretations to standards 
 
2.19.1    Recently issued accounting pronouncements and interpretations 

 

 IFRS 9 / CPC 48 – Financial instruments 
 
In July 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9, addressing the recognition and measurement of financial assets 
and liabilities, in addition to agreements for the purchase and sale of financial items. This standard 
supersedes IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. In December 2016, CVM, 
through Resolution No. 763/16, approved CPC 48, which is equivalent to the respective IFRS. The 
Company and its subsidiaries adopted this new standard on its effective date, January 1, 2018. 
  
Classification, measurement and impairment: 
 
Investments and trade receivables are maintained to capture the contractual cash flows and are expected 
to generate cash flow, representing only the payments of the principal amounts and interest. The 
Company analyzed the contractual cash flow characteristics of these instruments and concluded that 
they meet the criteria for measurement at amortized cost, in accordance with IFRS 9. 
 
In accordance with IFRS 9, the Group is required to recognize the expected credit losses on all its 
financial assets, calculated over a 12-month period or over their lifetime. From January 1, 2018, the 
Group started to record a provision for expected impairment losses calculated over the lifetime of its 
trade receivables. The impact of the first-time adoption of this standard on the previously presented 
financial statements was as follows: 
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Parent 
company 

 

 
 

Originally 
stated 

 

 
Adjustments 

arising from the 
adoption of IFRS 9 

 

 
Adjusted 
opening 
balance 

Balance sheet      
Assets      
  Current assets 594,624  (8,916)  585,708 
   Trade receivables 92,035  (8,916)  83,119 
   Other current assets 502,589    502,589 
  Non-current assets 1,336,227  

 
 1,336,227 

    Trade receivables 2,639    2,639 
    Other non-current assets 1,333,588    1,333,588 
 
Total assets 

 
1,930,851  

 
(8,916)  

 
1,921,935 

 
 
Liabilities      
Current liabilities 515,740    515,740 
Non-current liabilities 931,830  (3,031)  928,799 
    Deferred taxes  23,346  (3,031)  20,315 
    Other current liabilities 908,484    908,484 
Equity 483,281  (5,885)  477,396 
    Other equity instruments 421,330    421,330 
    Revenue reserve 61,951  (5,885)  56,066 
 
Total liabilities and equity 

 
1,930,851  

 
(8,916)  

 
1,921,935 

 
  



Companhia de Locação das Américas 
 

Notes to the financial statements  
at December 31,  2018 
All amounts in thousands of reais unless otherwise stated 

 
 
 

46 of 98 

 Consolidated 

 Originally stated  

 
Adjustments 

arising from the 
adoption of 

IFRS 9  

Adjusted 
opening balance 

Balance sheet      
Assets      
  Current assets 691,657  (8,916)  682,741 

   Trade receivables 136,913  (8,916)  127,997 

   Other current assets 554,744    554,744 

  Non-current assets 1,702,945  
 

 1,702,945 

    Trade receivables 2,639    2,639 

    Other non-current assets 1,700,306    1,700,306 

 
Total assets 

 
2,394,602  (8,916)  2,385,686 

Liabilities      
Current liabilities 632,113    632,113 

Non-current liabilities 1,279,208  (3,031)  1,276,177 

    Deferred taxes  51,091  (3,031)  48,060 

    Other current liabilities 1,228,117    1,228,117 

Equity 483,281  (5,885)  477,396 

    Other equity instruments 421,330    421,330 

    Revenue reserve 61,951  (5,885)  56,066 

 
Total liabilities and equity 

 
2,394,602  (8,916)  2,385,686 

 
The losses were estimated based on last year's actual credit losses. The Company calculated the loss rates 
separately for each type of customer, using the percentage of delinquency recorded within up to 360 
after the due date since, after this period, the effectiveness of collection efforts is no longer significant. 
The positions for each type of customer were segregated based on the credit risk characteristics, such as 
the risk rating, type of product purchased and level of delinquency. 
 
Considering the cost‐ benefit analysis and the respective impact on its financial statements, the Group 
did not restate the comparative information for prior years arising from changes in the classification and 
measurement of financial instruments (including expected credit losses). As previously stated, the 
differences in the book balances of financial assets and liabilities resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 
were recognized as retained earnings at January 1, 2018. 
  
The new hedge accounting rules are in line with the risk management practices adopted by the Group. 
The major impact arising from the CPC 48 hedge accounting rules relates to the hedge accounting 
documentation applied by the Company. 
 

 IFRS 15/CPC 47 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers  
 
In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, which addresses the recognition of revenue from contracts with 
customers in accordance with the transfer of the involved assets and services to the customer, at 
amounts that reflect the payments to which the Company expects to be entitled upon the transfer of such 
assets and services. This standard supersedes IAS 18 - Revenue, IAS 11 – Construction Contracts and 
corresponding interpretations. In December 2016 the CVM, through Resolution No. 762/16, approved 
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CPC 47, which is equivalent to the IFRS at issue. The Group adopted this new standard on its effective 
date of January 1, 2018.  
 
The Group performed a detailed analysis of IFRS 15, and did not identify any material impacts in relative 
to the accounting practices currently adopted.  
 

2.19.2 New standards that are not yet effective 
 

 IFRS 16 – "Leases"  
 
The new standard requires lessees to recognize the liability for the future payments and the rights to use 
leased assets for virtually all lease contracts, including operating leases. Certain short-term and low-
value contracts may be out of the scope of this new standard The criteria for the recognition and 
measurement of leases in the financial statements of the lessors are substantially maintained. IFRS 16 is 
effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2019 and replaces IAS 17/CPC 06 – “Leases” and the 
related interpretations. Management intends to apply the simplified transition approach and will not 
restate the comparative figures presented for the year prior to the first-time adoption.  

 
In view of the new accounting rules for leases, the Group assigned a team to review all its lease 
agreements. The standard will affect, in particular, the accounting treatment of the Group's operating 
leases,  
 
The Group expects to recognize right-of-use assets amounting to approximately R$90,985 at January 1, 
and lease liabilities of R$112,192.  
 
With the adoption of the new rules, the Group estimates that the after-tax profit will decrease by 
approximately R$ 727 in 2019. The expectation is that the adjusted EBITDA used to measure the results 
of segments will increase by approximately R$ 42,803, since the payments of operating leases were 
included in the EBITDA. However, the use of adjusted EBITDA excludes the effects of amortization of 
right-of-use assets, and interest on lease liabilities.  

 
The operating cash flow will increase, while cash flow from borrowing will decrease by approximately R$ 
42,803, as the amortization of the principal amount of the lease liabilities will be classified as cash flow 
from financing activities.  

 
There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective, which would be expected to 
have a material impact on the Group's financial statements. 

 
 
3 Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

 
Accounting estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 
Based on assumptions, the Group makes estimates concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that 
carry a significant risk of causing material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are addressed below: 
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(a) Residual value of vehicles 

 
The Company and the Group frequently estimate the residual value of vehicles (the estimated selling 
price at the end of their useful lives, less estimated selling costs), which has an impact on the 
depreciation costs of operational vehicles. 
 
This estimate takes into consideration a number of assumptions that involve a high degree of judgment, 
such as the estimated selling price. Any changes in these assumptions might imply changes in the results 
and, consequently, in the appreciation or depreciation of these assets.  
 

(b) Fair value of derivatives 
 
The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded on an active market are determined using 
valuation techniques. The Group uses judgment to select among a variety of methods and make 
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period.  

 
(c) Provision for impairment of trade receivables 

 
When measuring the provision for impairment of trade receivables, the Group considers the expected 
credit losses, as described in Note 2.19.1. In addition, the Group continuously assesses its receivables 
portfolio to identify whether there is evidence of impairment of the receivables from each customer 
within the portfolio. If so, the Group assesses whether the customer in default has provided secured 
guarantees, and whether these guarantees are sufficient to cover the Company's net exposure. In the 
event that the guarantees are not sufficient, the Group recognizes a provision for the impairment of 
trade receivables, classified under "Selling expenses". 
 

(d) Estimated impairment of goodwill 
 
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the 
accounting policies adopted. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units (CGUs) have been 
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates. Goodwill 
is allocated to the CGUs which are identified at the operating segment level. 
 
 

4 Financial risk and fair value management 
 

4.1 Financial risk factors 
 
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk and 
cash flow or fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk 
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize 
potential adverse effects on its financial performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments 
to hedge certain risk exposures. 
 
Risk management is carried out by the Group’s Treasury department, which identifies, assesses, and 
seeks to protect the Group against potential financial risks.  
 
The Executive Board has overall responsibility for establishing and overseeing the Group's risk 
management framework and regularly reports on its activities to the Board of Directors.  
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The Group's risk management practices are designed to identify and analyze risks, define risk limits and 
controls, and monitor risks and adherence to limits. The Group's management has established specialized 
committees (Internal Audit Committee, People Management Committee and Semi-New Vehicles 
Committee) to address critical business issues, and has implemented an internal control system that 
contributes to the achievement of the Group's operational and strategic goals. 
 

(a) Market risk 
 

(i) Foreign exchange risk 
 
Foreign exchange risks arise from future commercial transactions, recognized assets and liabilities, and 
net investments in foreign operations. In compliance with its financial risk management policy, the Group 
contracts derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to changes in exchange rates through 
currency swaps for active contracts. At December 31, 2018, the Group had no material operations subject 
to foreign exchange risk. 
  

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 
 
This risk arises from the possibility that the Group may receive gains or incur losses due to fluctuations in 
the interest rates to which its financial assets and liabilities are subject. With the aim of mitigating this 
risk, the Group seeks to diversify its funding strategy in terms of fixed and floating rates contracted with 
financial institutions. 
 
The Group carries out transactions with financial instruments, which are managed through operating 
strategies and internal controls aimed at ensuring liquidity, profitability and security. The contracting of 
financial instruments for hedging purposes is carried out based on periodic analyses of the exposure to 
the risks that management intends to hedge (exchange rate, interest rate), which are then presented to the 
Executive Board for review and approval prior to implementation. Management's control policy includes 
the ongoing monitoring of the conditions contracted compared with the conditions prevailing in the 
market. During the period, the Group did not invest in derivatives or any other risk assets for speculative 
purposes. The results obtained from these transactions are consistent with the practices and strategies 
defined by the Group's management. 
 
In conformity with its financial risk management practices, the Group contracts derivative financial 
instruments for the purpose of maintaining its interest rate exposure on financing costs within certain 
limits.  
 
On the reporting date, the profile of the Group's interest-earning financial instruments was as follows: 
 

 Parent company  Consolidated 
 
Carrying amount 

 
2018 

  
2017 

  
 

2018 
  

2017 
Financial instruments linked to CDI/IPCA        

Financial assets 1,860,788  410,411   1,956,249  426,782 
Financial liabilities (2,223,734)  (1,044,763)   (3,817,968)  (1,381,566) 

  
(362,946) 

  
(634,352) 

  
(1,861,719) 

  
(954,784) 

Fixed-rate instruments          

Financial liabilities (38,120)  (51,839)   (74,873)  (51,839) 

  
 

(38,120) 
  

(51,839) 
  

 
(74,873) 

  
(51,839) 
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(b) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with 
banks and other financial institutions, as well as credit exposure to customers, including outstanding 
receivables and commitments.  
 
Although cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the criteria for impairment under IFRS 9/CPC 48, 
the impairment loss identified on these assets was immaterial. For investments in banks and other 
financial institutions, only securities from top tier financial institutions, with good ratings in the 
Standard and Poor's rating scale are accepted.  
 
For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9/CPC 48 to 
measure expected credit losses, considering a provision for losses over the useful lives of all its trade 
receivables. The Company's credit analysis department assesses the credit quality of the customer, 
taking into account their financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are 
set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with the limits set by the Group. The utilization of 
credit limits is regularly monitored.  
 
No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting period, and management does not expect any losses 
due to non-performance by these counterparties in excess of the amounts already provisioned. 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum exposure to credit. On the reporting 
date, the maximum exposure to credit risk was as follows: 
 
 

 
  

Parent 
company 

 
 

  Consolidated 

  
2018 

  
2017 

  
 

2018 
  

2017 

 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5.a)                                                 

 
1,678,246 

  
385,683 

  
1,755,864 

  
402,489 

Related parties (Note 17) 29,878   5,019  17,152   302 
Marketable securities (Note 5.b) 182,860   27,969  209,034   28,237 
Trade and other receivables (Note 6)  139,201   106,569  396,014   151,337 

 
Total  

 
2,030,185 

  
 

525,240 
  

2,378,064 
  

 
582,365 

 
(i) Credit quality of financial assets 

 
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired is assessed with reference to 
external credit ratings for cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities, or to historical information 
about counterparties'  default rates: 
 
  



Companhia de Locação das Américas 
 

Notes to the financial statements  
at December 31,  2018 
All amounts in thousands of reais unless otherwise stated 

 
 
 

51 of 98 

Cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities 
   Parent company    Consolidated 

  
 
             2018                 2017                   2018                  2017 

Bank deposits in current accounts (Fitch Ratings) 
  

AAA  68  849  4,145  849 

AA+    2,228    2,931 
AA  47    3,877   
AA-  2  29  -141  29 
A-  49  7  396  7 

  
 

166  3,113  8,277  3,816 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Cash 152 128 372 128 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

Total 318 3,241 8,649 3,944 

         

Financial investments (Fitch Ratings)      

AAA  1,147,800  24,900  1,197,829  24,900 
AAA    26,280    26,280 
AA+    870    870 
AA  274,736    288,220   
AA-  156,198  142,385  160,260  158,488 
A-  99,194  188,007  100,906  188,007 

Total  

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

1,677,928 382,442 1,747,215 398,545 

         

Marketable securities (Fitch Ratings)     
AAA  71,050  21,248  97,224  21,516 
AA  51,388  3,333  51,388  3,333 
AA-    3,388    3,388 
A+  3,125    3,125   
A  57,297     57,297    

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

Total 182,860 27,969 209,034 28,237 

 
(ii)     Trade and other receivables 

 
The Group's exposure to credit risk is mainly influenced by the individual characteristics of each customer. 
The Group's customers are widely dispersed, and the largest customer represents only 3% of the total 
revenue for the year and 4% of the total trade receivables. Therefore, the Group does not consider that its 
receivables are concentrated, and the Executive Board conducts periodic analyses, with the objective of 
spreading even more the customer base.  
 
In Note 6, the Group presents its receivables portfolio by maturity range, and the amount recorded in the 
provision for the impairment of trade receivables. 
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 Parent company  Consolidated 

  
2018 

  
2017 

  
2018 

  
2017 

 
Trade receivables 

 
123,586 

  
84,571  

 
325,835 

  
126,982 

    
 

   

Trade receivables - credit cards (Standard & 
Poor's) 

 
6,897 

  
10,103  

 
58,307 

  
12,570 

 
AAA  

 
6,262 

  
230  

 
8,965 

  
319 

AA-    8,992  45,746  8,992 

A    
 1,127   

Other 635  881  2,469  3,259 

 
Total trade receivables 

 
130,483 

  
94,674  

 
384,142 

  
139,552 

 
(c) Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may have difficulty fulfilling the obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities that are to be settled in cash or using other financial assets. The Group's approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure that, to the maximum extent possible, it will always have sufficient liquidity 
to pay its obligations as they fall due, under normal or stress conditions, without incurring unacceptable 
losses or adversely affecting its reputation. 
 
The contractual exposure on financial liabilities, including payments of estimated future interest and 
excluding the net impact of currency negotiation agreements, is as follows: 
 

Parent company 

               

 

Book value at 
12/31/2018  

 Up to 1 
year  

From 1 to 
5 years  

Over 5 
years  Total 

Non-derivative financial liabilities                 

Borrowing and debentures (Note 14) 2,261,854  163,375  2,505,400  3,708  2,672,483 
Trade payables, credit assignment and other payables  
    (Notes 12 and 13) 619,668  617,347  2,321    619,668 

Total 2,881,522  780,722  2,507,721  3,708  3,292,151 
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       Consolidated 

 

Book value at 
12/31/2018  

Up to 1 
year  

From 1 to 
5 years  

Over 5 
years  Total 

Non-derivative financial liabilities                 

Borrowing and debentures (Note 14) 3,892,841  298,687  4,443,072  12,509  4,754,268 
Trade payables, credit assignment and other payables  
   (Notes 12 and 13) 1,997,961  1,995,640  2,321    1,997,961 

               
Total 5,890,802  2,294,327  4,445,393  12,509  6,752,229 

 
Additional sensitivity analysis required by the Brazilian Securities Commission (CVM) 
 
With respect to the most significant interest rate risk, the Group, based on external research with 
financial institutions, estimates that in a Probable Scenario, the CDI rate and IPCA at December 31, 2019 
will be 7.17% and 3.97%, respectively. The Group entered into swaps with financial institutions to hedge 
its exposure to floating interest rates. According to a Sensitivity Analysis conducted by the Group, the 
effect of an increase in the CDI and IPCA rates of 25% and 50% for indexed financial assets and 
liabilities on its results would be as follows: 

    12/31/2018 (12 months ahead) - Parent company 

 
   Probable  scenario  Possible  scenario  Remote  scenario 

 

Carrying 
amount 

  

Rate 

 
 

Gain   Rate Gain   Rate Gain  

 12/31/2018  Index (%)  (loss)  (%)  (loss)  (%)  (loss) 

  
   

 
    

  

Financial investments and marketable securities 1,860,788 
 

CDI 7.17% 112,835  8.96% 138,815  10.76% 163,948 
Derivative financial instruments (29,326)  CDI 7.17% (21,935)  8.96% (6,369)  10.76% 9,049 

Borrowing and debentures (2,223,734) 
 

CDI+Spread (*) 7.17% (176,187)  8.96% (213,627)  10.76% (250,727) 

  
 

         

Net effect on results  
 

  (85,287)   (81,181)   (77,730) 

Change in results in relation to the probable scenario 
 

     (4,106)   (7,557) 

 
    12/31/2018 (12 months ahead) - Consolidated 

 
   Probable  scenario  Possible  scenario  Remote  scenario 

 

Carrying 
amount 

  

Rate Gain   Rate Gain   Rate Gain  

 12/31/2018  Index (%)  (loss)  (%)  (loss)  (%)  (loss) 

 
    

 
    

  

Financial investments and marketable securities 1,956,249  
CDI 7.17% 115,466  8.96% 141,865  10.76% 167,321 

Derivative financial instruments (31,506)  CDI 7.17% (23,571)  8.96% (6,224)  10.76% 10,943 
Borrowing and debentures (3,716,434)  CDI+Spread (*) 7.17% (295,706)  8.96% (363,944)  10.76% (420,345) 
Borrowing and debentures  (101,534)  IPCA 3.97% (7,251)  4.96% (7,403)  5.96% (7,554) 

 
  

         

Net effect on results 
  

  
(211,062)   (235,706)   (249,635) 

Change in results in relation to the probable scenario 
 

     24,645   38,573 

 
4.2 Capital management 

 
The Executive Board's policy is to maintain a solid capital base to preserve the trust of its shareholders, 
creditors and the market, and to sustain the future development of the business. Capital is the sum of 
resources obtained from the shareholders and financial institutions, net of cash and cash equivalents. 
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The Executive Board seeks to maintain a balance between the highest returns possible with adequate 
levels of borrowing, and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. 
 
The Group's consolidated net debt-to-capital ratio at the end of the year was as follows: 
 

Parent company  Consolidated 

  
2018  2017  2018  2017 

Borrowing, debentures, financial instruments and  
    derivative liabilities (Notes 14 and 16) (*) (2,291,180)  (1,122,018)  (3,924,347)  (1,462,776) 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5.a), marketable securities  
   (Note 5.b) and derivative assets (Note 16) 1,861,106  413,652  1,964,898  430,726 

        
Net debt (430,074)  (708,366)  (1,959,449)  (1,032,050) 

        
Total equity (Note 19) (2,565,546)  (483,281)  (2,565,546)  (483,281) 

        
Total capital (2,995,620)  (1,191,647)  (4,524,995)  (1,515,331) 

           
Debt-to-equity ratio 14%   59%  43%   68% 

 
 
(*) Excludes the balances of credit assignments by suppliers. 

 
The reduction in the gearing ratio in 2018 was mainly due to the secondary offering of shares (Note 1.b). 
There were no changes in the Group's approach to capital management during the year. 
The Group manages its capital requirements on an aggregate basis. 
 
Changes in year-to-date net debt at December 31, 2018 were as follow: 
 

 Parent company 

 

Borrowing 
and 

debentures  

Derivative 
financial 

instruments   Total debt  

 
Cash and cash 

equivalents and 
marketable securities  Net debt  

          
Net debt at January 1, 2018 (1,096,602)  (25,416)  (1,122,018)  413,652  (708,366) 
 
Changes affecting the cash flows 

Proceeds from borrowing and debentures, net of 
funding costs (1,230,622)    (1,230,622)  1,230,622   
Repayment of the principal amount of borrowing 434,266    434,266  (434,266)   
Payment of interest on borrowing 128,460    128,460  (128,460)   
Funding costs disbursed during the year 372    372  (372)   
       Cash effect of derivative financial instruments   31,323  31,323  (31,323)   
       Distribution of dividends       (17,502)  (17,502) 
       Proceeds from stock option plans       3,029  3,029 
       Other receipts (payments)       (166,274)  (166,274) 
Resources from capital increase       992,000  992,000 
          

Changes not affecting cash       
  

 
 

          
Balance arising from the merger of Auto Ricci S.A. (336,803)  (3,955)  (340,758)    (340,758) 
       Funding cost charged to profit or loss (10,100)    (10,100)    (10,100) 
       Interest on borrowing - accruals basis (150,825)    (150,825)    (150,825) 
       Effect of derivative financial instruments   (26,620)  (26,620)    (26,620) 
       Effect of marking-to-market - hedge accounting   (4,658)  (4,658)    (4,658) 

 
Net debt at December 31, 2018 (2,261,854)  (29,326)  (2,291,180)  1,861,106  (430,074) 
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Consolidated  

 

Borrowing 
and 

debentures  

Derivative 
financial 

instruments  Total debt  

 
Cash and cash 

equivalents and 
marketable securities  Net debt 

          
Net debt at January 1, 2018 (1,433,405)  (29,371)  (1,462,776)  430,726  (1,032,050) 
 
Changes affecting the cash flows        
Proceeds from borrowing and debentures, net  
   of funding costs (1,967,475)    (1,967,475)  1,967,475   
Repayment of the principal amount of borrowing 998,279    998,279  (998,279)   
Payment of interest on borrowing 262,497    262,497  (262,497)   
Funding costs disbursed during the year 2,067    2,067  (2,067)   
       Cash effect of derivative financial instruments    31,554  31,554  (31,554)   
       Distribution of dividends       (45,038)  (45,038) 
       Proceeds from stock option plan        3,029  3,029 
       Other receipts (payments)       (276,607)  (276,607) 
Resources from capital increase       992,000  992,000 
 
Changes not affecting cash flow         
Balance arising from the acquisition of Unidas (1,478,624)  196  (1,478,428)  187,710  (1,290,718) 
       Funding cost charged to profit or loss (17,361)    (17,361)    (17,361) 
       Interest on borrowing - accruals basis (258,819)  (27,252)  (286,071)    (286,071) 
       Effect of marking-to-market - hedge accounting   (6,633)  (6,633)    (6,633) 

 
Net debt at December 31, 2018 (3,892,841)  (31,506)  (3,924,347)  1,964,898  (1,959,449) 

 
Changes in net debt accumulated up to December 31, 2017, were as follow: 

 
       Parent company 

 

Borrowing 
and 

debentures  

Derivative 
financial 

instruments  Total debt  

 
Cash and cash 

equivalents and 
marketable 

securities  Net debt 

          
Net debt at January 1, 2017 (823,623)  (9,680)  (833,303)  205,355  (627,948) 
Changes affecting the cash flows          

Proceeds from borrowing and debentures, net of funding costs (605,442)    (605,442)  605,442   
Funding costs disbursed during the year 946    946  (946)   
Repayment of the principal amount of borrowing 344,085    344,085  (344,085)   
Payment of interest on borrowing 90,425    90,425  (90,425)   
       Cash effect of derivative financial instruments    2,982  2,982  (2,982)   
       Share buyback plan       (25,000)  (25,000) 
       Proceeds from stock option plans        2,325  2,325 
       Other receipts (payments)       63,967  63,967 
Changes not affecting the cash flows          
       Funding cost charged to profit or loss (8,094)    (8,094)    (8,094) 
       Interest on borrowing - accruals basis (94,898)  (17,723)  (112,621)    (112,621) 
       Effect of derivative financial instruments          
       Effect of marking-to-market - hedge accounting    (995)  (995)     (995) 

Net debt at December 31, 2017 (1,096,602)  (25,416)  (1,122,018)  413,652  (708,366) 
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             Consolidated  

          

 

Borrowing 
and 

debentures  

Derivative 
financial 

instruments  Total debt  

Cash and cash 
equivalents and 

marketable 
securities  Net debt 

          

Net debt at January 1, 2017 (823,623)  (9,680)  (833,303)  205,355  (627,948) 

Changes affecting the cash flows          

Proceeds from borrowing and debentures, net of funding cost (883,483)    (883,483)  883,483   

Funding costs disbursed during the year 4,284    4,284  (4,284)   
Repayment of the principal amount of borrowing 642,603    642,603  (642,603)   

Payment of interest on borrowing 126,381    126,381  (126,381)   
       Cash effect of derivative financial instruments    2,982  2,982  (2,982)   
       Distribution of dividends       (25,000)   
       Proceeds from stock option plan        2,325  2,325 
       Other receipts (payments)       106,733  106,733 
 
Changes not affecting cash flow          
Balance arising from the acquisition of Auto Ricci S.A. June 30, 
2017 (367,115)    (367,115)  34,080  (333,035) 
       Funding cost charged to profit or loss (8,977)    (8,977)    (8,977) 
       Interest on borrowing - accruals basis (123,474)    (123,474)    (123,474) 
       Effect of derivative financial instruments   (18,525)  (18,525)    (18,525) 
       Effect of marking-to-market - hedge accounting    (4,148)  (4,148)     (4,148) 
 
Net debt at December 31, 2017 (1,433,405)  (29,371)  (1,462,776)  430,726  (1,032,050) 

 
4.3 Fair value estimation 

 
The carrying values of trade receivables and payables, less any impairment provision in the case of trade 
receivables, are assumed to approximate their fair values. 
 
The table below classifies the financial instruments carried at fair value according to the valuation 
method used. The respective fair values do not differ significantly from the carrying amounts. The 
different levels were defined as follows: 
 

 .     Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  
 
 . Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). 
 

 . Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 
unobservable inputs). 
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The table below presents the fair value hierarchy of the Group's assets and liabilities at December 31, 
2018 and December 31, 2017. 
   

Fair value at December 31, 2018 (Parent company) 

 

 12/31/2018  

W/ Active Market 
- Quoted Price 

(Level 1)  

W/o Active Market - 
Valuation Technique 

(Level 2)  

W/o Active Market - 
Equity Instrument 

(Level 3) 
Marketable securities 182,860  180,722  2,138   

Financial investments 1,677,928  1,677,928     

Derivative financial instruments (29,326)    (29,326)   

Borrowing and debentures (2,261,854)    (2,261,854)   

 

  
  

Fair value at December 31, 2017 (Parent company) 

 At 12/31/2017  

W/Active Market - 
Quoted Price 

(Level 1)  

W/o Active Market - 
Valuation Technique 

(Level 2)  

W/o Active Market - 
Equity Instrument 

(Level 3) 
Marketable securities 27,969  20,106  7,863   

Financial investments 382,442  382,442     

Derivative financial instruments (25,416)    (25,416)   

Borrowing and debentures (1,096,602)    (1,096,602)   

 

  
Fair value at December 31, 2018 (Consolidated) 

 
At 

12/31/2018  

W/ Active Market 
- Quoted Price 

(Level 1)  

W/o   
  Active Market - 

Valuation Technique 
(Level 2)  

W/o Active Market - 
Equity Instrument 

(Level 3) 
Marketable securities 209,034  206,896  2,138   

Financial investments 1,747,215  1,747,215     

Derivative financial instruments (31,506)    (31,506)   

Borrowing and debentures (3,892,841)    (3,892,841)   

 Fair value at December 31, 2017 (Consolidated) 

 

At 12/31/2017  

W/ Active Market 
- Quoted Price 

(Level 1)  

W/o 
  Active Market - 

Valuation Technique 
(Level 2)  

W/o Active Market - 
Equity Instrument 

(Level 3) 
Marketable securities 28,237  20,374  7,863   

Financial investments 398,545  398,545     

Derivative financial instruments (29,371)    (29,371)   

Borrowing and debentures (1,433,405)    (1,433,405)   

 
(i) Stock options and restricted stock 

 
The fair value of employee share options and share appreciation rights are measured using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. This model takes into consideration measurement variations that include 
the fair value at the measurement date, the instrument's exercise price, the expected volatility based on 
competitors' share prices for Plans contracted before the Company's IPO and the volatility of the 
Company's shares for Plans after the IPO, the weighted average lives of the instruments, the expected 
dividends and risk-free interest rates (based on government bonds), and the total number of capital 
shares. Non-market service and performance conditions inherent in the transactions are not taken into 
account when determining the fair value. 
 
The fair value of the options granted to the Group's executive managers is measured on the grant date, 
and the related expense is recognized in the statement of income during the vesting period, after certain 
specific conditions are met. The Group's management reviews the estimates with respect to the number 
of options at the balance sheet dates, the rights to which should be recognized, based on pre-defined 
conditions, in profit or loss for the period, with a corresponding entry to equity where applicable. 
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(ii) Main financial instruments contracted and their respective fair values 
 

 
Parent company 

 

 
2018   

 
2017 

 

 
Carrying 
amount  Fair value  

Carrying 
amount  

Fair 
value 

        

Assets (liabilities) at fair value through profit or loss           
Marketable securities (i) 182,860  182,860  27,969  27,969 
Derivative financial instruments (ii) (4,758)  (4,758)  (5,675)  (5,675) 

        

Assets (liabilities) carried at amortized cost        
Financial investments (v) 1,677,928  1,677,928  382,442  382,442 
Trade and other receivables (iii) 139,201  139,201  106,569  106,569 
Related parties (iii) 29,878  29,878  5,019  5,019 
Borrowing and debentures (iv) (2,261,854)  (2,208,734)  (1,096,602)  (1,106,021) 
Trade payables, credit assignments and other payables (iii) (619,668)  (619,668)  (281,200)  (281,200) 

        

Derivatives used for hedging        
Derivative financial instruments (ii) (24,568)  (24,568)  (19,741)  (19,741) 

        

Assets (liabilities) at fair value through other 
comprehensive income        

Derivative financial instruments (ii) (4,377)  (4,377)  2,738  2,738 

 
  Consolidated 

  

 
2018   

 
2017 

  

 
Carrying 
amount  Fair value  

Carrying 
amount  

Fair 
value 

         

Assets (liabilities) at fair value through profit or loss 
 

        
Marketable securities (i)  209,034  209,034  28,237  28,237 
Derivative financial instruments (ii)  (4,758)  (4,758)  (7,500)  (7,500) 

 
 

       

Assets (liabilities) carried at amortized cost 
 

       
Financial investments (v)  1,747,215  1,747,215  398,545  398,545 
Trade and other receivables (iii)  396,014  396,014  151,337  151,337 
Related parties (iii)  17,152  17,152  302  302 
Borrowing and debentures (iv)  (3,892,841)  (3,835,261)  (1,433,405)  (1,452,876) 
Trade payables, credit assignments and other payables (iii)  (1,997,961)  (2,009,803)  (363,348)  (363,348) 

 
 

       

Derivatives used for hedging 
 

       
Derivative financial instruments (ii)  (26,748)  (26,748)  (21,871)  (21,871) 

 
 

       

Assets (liabilities) at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

 

       
Derivative financial instruments (ii)  (4,377)  (4,377)  2,738  2,738 

 
The fair values of borrowing and debentures were estimated by management considering the future values 
of the instruments on their maturity dates at the contracted rates, and discounted to present value using 
the market rate at December 31, 2018 (Level 2 Hierarchy).  
 
Management believes that the carrying amounts of other financial instruments recognized in the financial 
statements, such as trade receivables, trade payables, cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities 
and related party transactions, do not differ significantly from their fair values, as their maturity dates are 
close to the reporting dates. 
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The following methods and assumptions were used to determine the fair value: 
 

(i) Marketable securities - The carrying amounts recorded in the balance sheet correspond substantially 
to the fair values, due to the fact that the related interest rates are based on the CDI variation. On the 
reporting date, there were no differences between the carrying amount and the fair value of marketable 
securities.  
 

(ii) Derivative financial instruments - The fair value of interest rate swaps is based on active market 
rates for identical financial instruments. The reasonableness of these rates is tested through the discount 
of estimated future cash flow based on the conditions and maturity of each contract. The fair value 
reflects the credit risk of the instrument and includes adjustments to consider the credit risk of the 
Group and the counterparty, where appropriate. 
 

(iii) Trade and other receivables and trade payables, assignments and other accounts 
 payable - These balances arise directly from the Group's operations and are measured at amortized 
 cost, and stated at their original amounts, less a provision for impairment and an adjustment to 
 present value, where applicable or relevant.  
 

(iv) Borrowing and debentures - These are classified as financial liabilities and not measured at fair 
 value, and are carried at amortized cost in accordance with the contractual terms. This definition was 
 adopted because the amounts are not held for trading, and management understands that it reflects 
 the most relevant accounting information. The fair values of these borrowing items are similar to their 
 carrying amounts, as their rates are in line with market rates and they have specific characteristics, 
 deriving from specific sources of financing for the Group's activities. 
 

(v) Financial investments - Financial investments are measured at amortized cost and stated at their 
original amounts, plus income earned. On the reporting date, there were no differences between the 
carrying amount and the fair value of financial investments, because their remuneration rates are based 
on the CDI variation. 
 
 

5 Cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities 

 
(a) Cash and cash equivalents 

 Parent company  Consolidated 

  
2018  

 
2017  

 
2018  

 
2017 

        
Cash on hand and deposits with banks 318  3,241  8,649  3,944 
Financial investments 1,677,928  382,442  1,747,215  398,545 
 
Total cash and cash equivalents 1,678,246  385,683  1,755,864  402,489 

 
Highly liquid short-term financial investments are readily convertible into a known amount of cash and 
are subject to an immaterial risk of changes in value. The Group has the option to redeem the 
aforementioned financial investments early, without facing any loss of return. These financial 
investments comprise Bank Deposit Certificates (CDBs) and securities purchased under resale 
agreements, with an average return of 99.12% of the Interbank Deposit Certificate (CDI) variation at 
December 31, 2018. 
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(b) Marketable securities 
 Parent company  Consolidated 

 

 
2018  

 
2017  

 
2018  

 
2017 

 
Marketable securities not subject to redemption restriction 159,622    159,622   
Marketable securities subject to redemption restriction 23,238  27,969  49,412  28,237 
 
Total marketable securities 182,860  27,969  209,034  28,237 

        
Current 181,150  21,248  207,324  21,516 
Non-current 1,710  6,721  1,710  6,721 

 
At December 31, 2018, the Group's marketable securities are comprised of investments in Funds, Bank 
Deposit Certificates, and securities purchased under resale agreements with an average return of 99.12% 
of the CDI rate variation in the Parent company and Consolidated.  
 
Marketable securities without redemption restrictions are comprised of investments in fixed-income 
funds with investment portfolios substantially made up of securities that do not meet all the criteria to 
be classified as cash and cash equivalents. 
 
Marketable securities subject to redemption restriction comprise investments in CDBs, made for the 
purpose of providing collateral for the Group's debentures, as explained in Note 14.  
 
The financial investments classified as cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities are valued 
with reference to external credit ratings and presented in Note 5 (a). 
 
At December 31, 2018, there were no differences between the carrying amounts and fair values of cash 
and cash equivalents and marketable securities. Fair value measurement is presented in Note 4.3. 
 
 

6 Trade receivables 
 Parent company  Consolidated 

  
2018 

  
2017 

  
2018 

  
2017 

 
Vehicle rentals 

 
153,304 

  
 

109,747 
  

475,356 
  

 
150,476 

Vehicle sales  30,503   31,717  84,387   36,679 

Sub-total 
 

183,807 
  

 
141,464 

  
559,743 

  
 

187,155 
        

(-) Adjustment to present value (138)   (434)  (138)   (434) 

(-) Estimated impairment loss on trade receivables (53,186)   (46,356)  (175,463)   (47,169) 

 
Total 

 
130,483 

  
 

94,674 
  

384,142 
  

 
139,552 

        

Current 128,967   92,035  377,743   136,913 

Non-current assets 1,516   2,639  6,399   2,639 

 
The Group has trade receivables pledged as collateral for borrowing, as disclosed in Note 14. 
 
In order to calculate the adjustment to present value, an interest rate of 7.39% p.a. was applied, which 
represents the expected interest yield curve for the average maturity term of non-current trade 
receivables, increased by the cost of debt (spread), calculated based on the estimated contractual cash 
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flow from receivables. The Group considered the possibility of an increase in domestic interest rates as a 
risk factor. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk on the reporting date corresponds to the carrying amounts, as 
shown below: 
 
 Parent company  Consolidated 
 
Maturity range 

 
2018 

  
2017 

  
2018 

  
2017 

 
Not yet due 

 
100,467 

  
 

75,190 
  

354,587 
  

 
102,923 

Overdue:          

 From 1 to 60 days 24,351   10,266  35,494   24,617 

 From 61 to 90 days 2,613   641  22,761   2,973 

 From 91 to 180 days 5,124   3,728  25,052   3,850 

 Over 181 days 51,252   51,639  121,849   52,792 

 
Total 

 
183,807 

  
 

141,464 
  

559,743 
  

 
187,155 

 
At December 31, 2018, trade receivables overdue but not impaired (with embedded losses) totaled R$ 
30,154 (R$19,918 at December 31, 2017) in the parent company, and R$29,693 (R$37,063 at December 
31, 2017) in the consolidated. Changes in the provision for impairment of trade receivables at December 
31, 2018 were as follow: 

 Parent 
company 

 Consolidated 

 
At December 31, 2017 

 
46,356  

 
47,169 

First-time adoption of IFRS 9 (Note 2.19.1)  8,916  8,916 
Balance arising from the merger of Auto Ricci S.A. 813   
Balance arising from the acquisition of Unidas S.A.   36,098 
Effect of the initial adoption of IFRS 9 arising from Unidas S.A. (*)   72,537 
Provision recorded (reversed) in the year  (2,899)  10,743 

 
At December 31, 2018 

 
53,186 

 
 

175,463 

 
(**) From March 9, 2018, the date of acquisition of the control of Unidas S.A., the Company started to include this subsidiary in its 

consolidated financial information. 
 

The expense incurred for the constitution of the provision for impairment of trade receivables was 
recognized within “Selling expenses” in the statement of income for the year. Receivables that are no 
longer expected to be recovered are written off.  
 
 

7  Vehicles being decommissioned for fleet renewal 

 
 Parent company  Consolidated 

  
2018 

  
2017 

  
2018 

  
2017 

 
Vehicles decommissioned 57,836   

 
43,128  317,674   

 
60,763 

Vehicles for resale     13,005  3,633 
Adjustment to realizable value  (389)   (389)  (389)   (431) 
 
Total 57,447  42,739  330,290  63,965 
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The Group has policies and procedures in place to review and compare the carrying amounts of vehicles 
that are being decommissioned for fleet renewal purposes with their fair value, net of selling costs. When 
there is uncertainty as to the realization of the net realizable value, a provision for write-down to net 
realizable value is recorded. 
 
Changes in the provision for adjustments to vehicles that are being decommissioned to their net realizable 
value were as follow: 
 
 Parent company  Consolidated 

 
At December 31, 2017 389  431 

Provision recorded (reversed)    (42) 
 
At December 31, 2018 389  389 

 
None of the vehicles being decommissioned for fleet renewal has been pledged as collateral. The vehicles 
pledged as collateral are disclosed in Note 10. 
 
 

8 Deferred taxes 
 
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognized 
 
Deferred income tax and social contribution are recorded to reflect the future tax effects attributable to 
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. 
 
The Group's deferred tax assets were substantially generated as a result of income tax and social 
contribution losses and temporary differences, arising from the recording of provisions for the write-
down of trade receivables to their net recoverable values, and provisions for contingencies. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities mainly arise from the fact that the Group computes: (i) the consideration paid 
under finance leases for the acquisition of vehicles based on the current taxes, as provided for in the tax 
legislation; (ii) the difference in the tax base and depreciation rate between the corporate accounting 
legislation and the prevailing tax legislation; and (iii) deferred taxes on the revaluation surplus or deficit 
relating to the acquisition of the shareholding control of Unidas S.A. 
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Changes in deferred taxes during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follow: 
 

 
             Parent company 

 

 

2016  

 
Changes - 

profit/loss  2017  

Changes - 
profit/loss  2018 

Provision for the impairment of  
  trade receivables 

 
3,729  1,478  5,207  2,153  7,360 

Adjustment to present value  404  (256)  148  (47)  101 
Profit sharing  799  513  1,312  1,070  2,382 
Impairment of assets  134  (2)  132  14  146 
Other provisions  

  551  551  707  1,258 
Provision for contingencies  882  1,022  1,904  123  2,027 
Financial instruments  (1,436)  4,233  2,797  (85)  2,712 
Stock options  970  95  1,065  847  1,912 
Debenture issuance costs  (2,131)  (2,310)  (4,441)  (6,618)  (11,059) 
Lease  (3,307)  (5,347)  (8,654)  3,533  (5,121) 
Depreciation  (46,150)  (4,480)  (50,630)  (38,082)  (88,712) 
Hedge accounting*  4,727  338  5,065  1,584  6,649 
Tax amortization of goodwill        (3,248)  (3,248) 
Income tax and social contribution losses  23,664  (1,466)  22,198  16,932  39,130 

 
Total 

 
(17,715)  (5,631)  (23,346)  (21,117)  (44,463) 

 
* Hedge accounting effects do not impact profit or loss and are recognized in equity. 

 
Breakdown of changes in deferred taxes:  
Deferred taxes arising from the merger of Auto Ricci S.A. (28,455) 
Impact of the initial adoption of IFRS9 on the opening balance 3,031 
Impact of the changes in deferred taxes recorded in equity 1,584 
Impact of the changes in deferred taxes recorded in profit or loss (a) 2,723 
Total changes in deferred taxes during 2018 - Parent company      (21,117)  

Changes in deferred taxes recorded against investments (amortization plus surplus (deficit)  
   on revaluation of Unidas) (b)             2,550  

Impact of deferred charges on profit or loss for the year = (a) + (b)                5,273  

 
              Consolidated 

  

 
 

2016 

 
 

Changes - 
profit/loss 

 
 
 

2017 

 
 

Changes - 
profit/loss 

 

2018 

 
Provision for impairment of trade receivables 

  
3,729  

 
1,429  

 
5,158  19,220  24,378 

Adjustment to present value  404  (256)  148  (47)  101 
Profit sharing  799  513  1,312  1,070  2,382 
Impairment of assets  134  12  146    146 
Other provisions  

  551  551  58,082  58,633 
Provision for contingencies  882  1,145  2,027    2,027 
Financial instruments  (1,436)  4,507  3,071  23,514  26,585 
Stock options  970  95  1,065  1,160  2,225 
Debenture issuance costs  (2,131)  (4,789)  (6,920)  (4,139)  (11,059) 
Lease  (3,307)  (5,347)  (8,654)  3,533  (5,121) 
Depreciation  (46,150)  (34,787)  (80,937)  (137,465)  (218,402) 
Hedge accounting*  4,727  1,414  6,141  2,256  8,397 
Intangible assets arising from acquisition/merger of subsidiary        (2,687)  (2,687) 
Tax amortization of goodwill         (19,024)  (19,024) 
Income tax and social contribution losses  23,664  2,137  25,801  101,099  126,900 
Deferred taxes arising from business combination – Unidas S.A.        (15,475)  (15,475) 

 
Total 

  
17,715 

  
(33,376) 

  
(51,091) 

 
31,097  (19,994) 
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Deferred taxes on non-current assets arising from the subsidiary 
Unidas S.A. 

 

      

  36,940 

Deferred taxes on non-current assets arising from the subsidiary 
Acelero 

 
      

  640 

Deferred taxes on non-current liabilities      (51,091)    (57,574) 

 
* Hedge accounting effects do not impact profit or loss and are recognized in equity. 

 
Breakdown of changes in deferred taxes:         

Deferred taxes arising from the acquisition of Auto Ricci.  78,474 
Effect of the initial adoption of IFRS 9  3,031 
Impact of changes in deferred taxes recorded in equity  2,256 

Impact of changes in deferred taxes recorded in profit or loss  (35,914) 

Deferred taxes arising from business combination – Unidas S.A.  (16,750) 

   
Total changes in deferred taxes during 2018 - Consolidated  31,097 

 
Deductible temporary differences and accumulated tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely 
pursuant to the prevailing tax legislation. Deferred tax assets are recognized for unutilized tax losses and 
credits and for deductible temporary differences only to the extent it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realized. Deferred tax liabilities are presented net of deferred tax assets in the balance sheet. 
 
The tax credits on income tax and social contribution losses are expected to be realized as follow: 
 

 

Parent 
company 

  
Consolidated 

 

 
2018 

  
2018 

Year     

2019 8,068  26,105 
2020 6,046  22,762 
2021 8,492  26,201 
2022 12,274  30,856 
2023 4,250  20,976 
 
Total 39,130  126,900 

 
The expected realization is determined based on the estimates of taxable income for subsequent years, 
limited to 30% of the computed taxable profit, according to the legislation. These tax credits do not have 
an expiry date. 
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9 Investments 

 
(a) Equity interest in investments 

Name  Country  Relationship  

Direct interest in 
common shares  

Indirect interest 
in common 

shares 
         

Acelero Comércio de Veículos Ltda.  Brazil  Subsidiary  100   

Agile Car Locações Ltda.  Brazil   Subsidiary  100  
 

Unidas S.A.  Brazil   Subsidiary  100  
 

Unidas Comercial de Veículos Ltda.  Brazil   Indirect subsidiary    100 
Unidas Locadora de Veículos Ltda.  Brazil   Indirect subsidiary    100 
Unidas Franquias do Brasil S.A.  Brazil   Indirect subsidiary    100 

 
Acelero Comércio de Veículos Ltda. – Wholly-owned subsidiary of Locamerica, engaged in the 
resale of semi-new vehicles and headquartered in the city of Maringá, state of Paraná. 
 
Agile Car Locações Ltda. – Wholly-owned subsidiary of Locamerica, operating in the fleet 
management segment and headquartered in the city of Belo Horizonte, state of Minas Gerais. 
 
Unidas S.A. –  Wholly-owned subsidiary of Locamerica, operating in the segment of fleet rental 
without a driver and headquartered in the city of São Paulo, state of São Paulo, control of which was 
acquired by the Company on March 9, 2018 (Note 1.1). 
 
Unidas Locadora de Veículos Ltda. – Indirect subsidiary of Locamerica, through Unidas S.A., 
operating in the rent-a-car segment. Unidas S.A. held a 99.99% equity interest in Unidas Locadora de 
Veículos Ltda. at December 31, 2018 and 2017; 
 
Unidas Comercial de Veículos Ltda. – Indirect subsidiary of Locamerica, through Unidas S.A., 
engaged in the sale of used vehicles. Unidas S.A. held a 99.99% equity interest in Unidas Comercial de 
Veículos Ltda. at December 31, 2018 and 2017; 
 
Unidas Franquias do Brasil S.A. – Indirect subsidiary of Locamerica, through Unidas Locadora de 
Veículos Ltda., engaged in the franchise business. The indirect subsidiary Unidas Locadora de Veículos 
Ltda. held a 99.99% equity interest in Unidas Franquias do Brasil S.A. at December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

 
(b) Breakdown of investments 

 Parent company  Consolidated 

 

 
2018 

  
2017 

  
2018 

  
2017 

        
Acelero Comércio de Veículos Ltda. (1,232)       
Auto Ricci S.A.   222,884     
Agile Car Locações Ltda. 2,499  1,046     
Unidas S.A. 1,531,270       
Other investments 2    2  442 

 

 
1,532,539 

  
223,930 

  
2 

  
442 
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(c) Changes in investments 

 

 

Acelero 
Comércio 

de 
Veículos 

Ltda. (**)  

Auto 
Ricci 
S.A.  

Agile Car 
Locações 

Ltda.  

Unidas 
S.A. 

(***)  

Other 
investments  Total 

             

At December 31, 2017  
  

222,884  1,046      223,930 

             
Acquisition of investment (*)        1,455,694  2  1,455,696 
Write-off of investments      (50)      (50) 
Merger  (214)  (222,884)        (223,098) 
Equity in the results of subsidiaries  (1,018)    1,503  106,786    107,271 
Stock options        1,143    1,143 
Amortization of revaluation surplus        (7,499)    (7,499) 
Deferred charges on amortization  
  of revaluation surplus  

      2,550    2,550 

Hedge accounting        (1,303)    (1,303) 
Dividends        (26,101)    (26,101) 
 
At December 31, 2018  

 
(1,232) 

 
 
 

 
 

2,499 
 

 
1,531,270 

 
 

2 
 

 
1,532,539 

 
         Consolidated 

 

 
 

12/31/2017  

 
Investment 
realization  

 
 

12/31/2018 
 
Other investments 

 
442 

 
(440)  2 

 

 
442 

 
(440)  2 

 
(*) Locamerica acquired the control of Unidas S.A. on March 9, 2018, and of Auto Ricci S.A on May 11, 
2017. The latter was merged into the Company on January 2, 2018 and started to be included in the 
balance of the parent company from that date. Equity in the results of subsidiaries was recognized from 
the dates on which control was acquired, and the same applies to the consolidation of these investees.  
 
(**) Acelero Comércio de Veículos Ltda. became a direct subsidiary of Locamerica as from the merger of 
Auto Ricci S.A. on January 2, 2018. 
 
(***) The financial statements of Unidas S.A.  were disclosed to the market on February 25, 2019. 
The cost of the acquisition is broken down as follows: 
 
Breakdown of the investment in Unidas S.A.:     
      Net asset value of Unidas S.A.      766,057 

      Surplus on revaluation of the acquisition      4,082 

      Goodwill based on expected future profitability of Unidas S.A.    685,555 

        1,455,694 

Breakdown of the investment in Auto Ricci S.A.:     
      Equity value of Auto Ricci S.A.      130,112 

      Surplus on revaluation of the 
acquisition      

2,597 

      Goodwill based on expected future profitability of Auto Ricci S.A.    71,658 

        204,367 
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(d) Summarized financial information 
 
The table below provides summarized financial information on the Company's subsidiaries: 
 
Direct subsidiaries  2018  2017 

Summarized balance sheet 

 

Acelero 
Comércio 

de Veículos 
Ltda.  

Agile Car 
Locações 

Ltda.  

Unidas 
S.A. (*)  

Acelero 
Comércio 

de 
Veículos 

Ltda.  

Agile Car 
Locações 

Ltda.  

Auto 
Ricci 

S.A. 

             

Current             
Assets  17,455  2,797  664,992  14,054  1,559  79,406 
Liabilities  17,663  374  1,571,592  10,052  513  105,134 
Current assets, net  (208)  2,423  (906,600)  4,002  1,046  (25,728) 

  
 

           
Non-current assets             
Assets  1,953  76  3,280,570  382    516,058 
Liabilities  2,977    1,527,387  4,598    341,701 
Non-current assets, net   (1,024)  76  1,753,183  (4,216)     174,357 

  
 

           
Equity  (1,232)  2,499  846,583  (214)  1,046  148,629 

 
 
Indirect subsidiaries 

  
 2018  

  
       

 

Summarized balance sheet  

Unidas Comercial de 
Veículos Ltda. (*)  

Unidas Locadora de 
Veículos Ltda. (*)  

Unidas Franquias 
do Brasil S.A. (*)  

Current  
      

Assets                          708                  154,232                    31,789   
Liabilities                      9,250                  195,003                       7,759   
Current assets, net                    (8,542)                 (40,771)                   24,030   

 
 

      
Non-current        
Assets                          426                     75,485                           201   
Liabilities                                                         2,900   
Non-current assets, net                           426                     75,485                    (2,699)  
 

       
Equity                    (8,116)                   34,714                     21,331   

        
 

(*) The accounting balances disclosed do not reflect the revaluation adjustments (surplus/deficit) identified at the 
acquisition of Unidas S.A. and its subsidiaries. The adjustments and the balance sheet at fair value are presented in 
Note 1.1. 
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2018  
 

2017 

 

Acelero 
Comércio 

de Veículos 
Ltda.  

Agile Car 
Locações 

Ltda.  

Unidas 
S.A. (*)  

Acelero 
Comércio de 

Veículos 
Ltda.  

Agile Car 
Locações 

Ltda.  

Auto 
Ricci 

S.A. 

Summarized statement of 
income/operations            

             
Net revenue 18,505  2,646  1,673,047  8,755  1,555  234,949 
Cost  (15,951)  (486)  (1,179,021)  (8,310)  (11)  (159,267) 
 
Gross profit 

 
2,554 

 
 

2,160 
 

 
494,026  445  1,544  75,682 

            
Operating income (expenses) and finance 
income (costs) (4,097)  78  (332,934)  (784)  6  (44,536) 

 
Profit before taxes (1,543)  2,238  161,092  (339)  1,550  31,146 

            
Deferred and current 525  (735)  (54,306)  115  (504)  (10,548) 

            
Profit (loss) for the year (1,018)  1,503  106,786  (224)  1,046  20,598 

            
 
* Relates to the results of Unidas S.A for the post-acquisition period (after March 9, 2018). 
 
   

 2018 (*) 

Summarized statement of 
income/operations 

 
Unidas Comercial de 

Veículos Ltda.  

Unidas Locadora de 
Veículos Ltda.  

 
Unidas 

Franquias do 
Brasil S.A. 

 
Net revenue     

                                              579,049                       4,485  

Cost                                 (2)               (135,753)                          (28) 

Gross profit     

 
                           (2) 

 
 

              443,296  
 

 
                    4,457  

          

Operating expenses and finance costs                              (15)              (448,742)                    (1,234) 

Profit before taxes     

   
                      (17) 

 
        

           (5,446) 
 

 
                    3,223  

          

Deferred and current     
                                                    3,002                         (631) 

          

Profit (loss) for the year    
                         (17)                   (2,444)                      2,592  

 
(*) As the acquisition of Unidas S.A., the parent company of these companies, took place on March 9, 
2018, the comparative balances of the indirect subsidiaries at December 31, 2017 are not being 
presented. 
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10 Property and equipment  
 

(i) Changes in cost and depreciation 
 

Parent company 

 Cost   Vehicles  

 

Other 

property and 

equipment  Total 

           

At December 31, 2017   1,212,165  29,562  1,241,727 

Additions   900,066  4,402  904,468 

Write-offs   (10,347)  (14,085)  (24,432) 

Cost of property and equipment arising from the merger of Auto Ricci S.A.  583,297  3,031  586,328 

Deficit on revaluation of property and equipment arising  

from the merger of Auto Ricci  (2,060)    (2,060) 

Transfer of vehicles being decommissioned for fleet renewal   (658,129)    (658,129) 

       

At December 31, 2018   2,024,992  22,910  2,047,902 

         
Depreciation        
       
At December 31, 2017   (152,394)  (11,716)  (164,110) 
       
Depreciation for the period   (138,018)  (5,318)  (143,336) 

Write-offs   1,090  7,783  8,873 

Amortization of deficit on revaluation of property and equipment arising from the 

merger of Auto Ricci  2,060    2,060 

Accumulated depreciation arising from the merger of Auto Ricci S.A.  (69,754)  (1,246)  (71,000) 

Transfer of vehicles being decommissioned for fleet renewal   124,128    124,128 

       

At December 31, 2018   (232,888)  (10,497)  (243,385) 

         

At December 31, 2017   1,059,771  17,846  1,077,617 

At December 31, 2018   1,792,104  12,413  1,804,517 

 

Cost   Vehicles  

Other property 

and equipment  Total 

           

At December 31, 2016   1,052,732  25,030  1,077,762 

Additions   643,281  4,532  647,813 

Write-offs   (2,668)    (2,668) 

Transfer of vehicles being decommissioned for fleet renewal   (481,180)     (481,180) 

       
At December 31, 2017   1,212,165  29,562  1,241,727 

  

        
Depreciation        
       
At December 31, 2016   (152,647)  (7,708)  (160,355) 
       
Depreciation for the period   (90,299)  (4,008)  (94,307) 

Write-offs   338    338 

Transfer of vehicles being decommissioned for fleet renewal   90,214     90,214 

       
At December 31, 2017   (152,394)  (11,716)  (164,110) 

         
At December 31, 2016   900,085  17,322  917,407 

At December 31, 2017   1,059,771  17,846  1,077,617 
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    Consolidated 

       

 Cost   Vehicles  

Other 

property and 

equipment  Total 

           

At December 31, 2017   1,795,652  31,968  1,827,620 

Additions   3,004,014  28,783  3,032,797 

Write-offs   (20,123)  (25,926)  (46,049) 

Fair value of intangible assets arising from the acquisition of  

   Unidas S.A.  1,985,993  
23,948 

 
2,009,941 

Transfer of vehicles being decommissioned for fleet renewal   (1,602,517)  (1,000)  (1,603,517) 

       

At December 31, 2018   5,163,019   57,773   5,220,792 

         
Depreciation               
At December 31, 2017   (224,005)  (12,381)  (236,386) 
       
Depreciation for the period   (267,585)  (11,058)  (278,643) 

Write-offs   10,866  16,436  27,302 

Amortization of deficit on revaluation of property and equipment  

    arising from the merger of Auto Ricci  
2,060 

 
 

 
2,060 

Amortization of surplus on revaluation - Unidas  (3,477)       (3,477) 

Transfer of vehicles being decommissioned for fleet renewal   226,063  150  226,213 

       

At December 31, 2018   (256,078)   (6,853)   (262,931) 

       

At December 31, 2017   1,571,647  19,587  1,591,234 

At December 31, 2018   4,906,941  50,920  4,957,861 

       

 
  

Cost   Vehicles  

Other property 

and equipment  Total 

           

At December 31, 2016   1,052,732  25,030  1,077,762 

Additions   859,385  5,008  864,393 

Write-offs   (10,419)  (179)  (10,598) 

Cost of property and equipment arising from the acquisition of  

  Auto Ricci S.A.  510,203  1,930  512,133 

Deficit on revaluation of assets arising from the acquisition of  

   Auto Ricci S.A.  (2,060)    (2,060) 

Transfer of vehicles being decommissioned for fleet renewal   (614,189)   179  (614,010) 

       
At December 31, 2017   1,795,652  31,968  1,827,620 

         
Depreciation        
       
At December 31, 2016   (152,647)  (7,708)  (160,355) 

       
Depreciation for the period   (135,910)  (4,181)  (140,091) 

Write-offs   1,165  98  1,263 

Accumulated depreciation of property and equipment arising from the 

acquisition of Auto Ricci S.A.  (55,515)  (590)  (56,105) 

Transfer of vehicles being decommissioned for fleet renewal   118,902     118,902 
       
At December 31, 2017   (224,005)  (12,381)  (236,386) 

         
At December 31, 2016   900,085  17,322  917,407 

At December 31, 2017   1,571,647  19,587  1,591,234 
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The items included in the "Vehicles" sub-group are depreciated according to their economic useful lives, 
which may range from 12 to 60 months, based on the characteristics of the vehicles leased and the terms 
of the agreements entered into with customers. The items included in the "Other property and 
equipment" sub-group are depreciated according to their nature and useful lives. The depreciation rate 
for these assets is calculated over a useful life of between 5 and 10 years. The nature of the items in this 
category are as follow: 
 

 IT equipment; 

 Machinery and equipment; 

 Furniture and fittings; and 

 Other equipment. 
 

(ii)    Collateral 
 
At December 31, 2018, the Company had vehicles pledged as collateral for bank borrowing and leases in 
progress totaling R$ 37,211 (R$78,445 at December 31, 2017), as disclosed in Note 14. Vehicles pledged 
as collateral for bank borrowing totaled R$151,025 (R$107,932 at December 31, 2017). 
 

 
(iii) Reconciliation of depreciation and amortization for the purpose of preparing the 

statement of cash flow and the statement of income (including intangible assets and 
investments) 
  Parent company  Consolidated 

  
2018 

  
2017 

  
2018 

  
2017 

        
Depreciation 143,336   94,312  278,643   135,034 
Amortization 2,008  2,497  7,071  2,516 
Amortization of surplus/deficit on revaluation of property and 
equipment and intangible assets 1,033     8,490    
Amortization of surplus/deficit on revaluation of vehicles 
decommissioned for fleet renewal 1,394       
Amortization of surplus/deficit on revaluation of investment 7,499       
 
Total 155,270  96,809  294,204  137,550 

 

 
  

 Parent company  Consolidated 
 

                     
 2018  %  2017  %  2018  %  2017  % 
 

                
Fleet vehicles - property and equipment 1,792,104  97  1,059,771  96  4,906,941  94  1,571,647  96 
Vehicles being decommissioned for fleet 
renewal (Note 7) 57,447  3  42,739  4  330,290  6  63,965  4 

                
Total 1,849,551  100  1,102,510  100  5,237,231  100  1,635,612  100 

                
Fleet pledged as collateral 37,211  2  78,445  7  151,025  3  107,932  7 
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11 Intangible assets 
 

Software, trademarks and patents are amortized on a straight line basis over a period of five years.  
 

Surplus on revaluation of the customer portfolio  
 
Surplus on revaluation of the acquisition of Unidas S.A. 
 
As mentioned in Note 1.1, the Company acquired Companhia Unidas S.A., leading to a surplus value on 
existing agreements with the customers of Unidas S.A. being identified in the purchase price allocation. 
 
Surplus on revaluation of the customer portfolio 
 
The amount of the surplus on revaluation identified in each acquisition is recognized on a straight-line 
basis, in accordance with the remaining useful life determined based on a valuation report, and is 
amortized over approximately four years. 
 
Allocation of goodwill to cash generating units 
 
Goodwill and trademarks were tested for impairment at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and no need for 
adjustments to the amounts of goodwill and surplus on revaluation of the customer portfolio was 
identified. 
 
The amounts related to goodwill based on expected future profitability were allocated by legal entity, 
which management understands as representing the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored in its 
internal reports. 
 
Impairment tests for goodwill  
 
Goodwill impairment was calculated according to the future profitability methodology, which is based 
on a retrospective analysis, projected scenarios and discounted cash flow.  
 
The economic and financial modeling starts with the definition of macroeconomic assumptions 
concerning the sales, production, costs and investments of the company or business unit that is being 
valued. The assumptions used in this work are based on estimates published by the Brazilian Geography 
and Statistics Institute (IBGE), the Brazilian Central Bank, the National Bank for Economic and Social 
Development (BNDES) and other institutions. The projections of the volume and selling price of 
services, costs, and investments were prepared by management in accordance with the Group's business 
plan. 
 
During the preparation of impairment testing of the Company's assets, revenue growth assumptions 
were considered based on a discount rate of 12.4%, and a perpetual growth rate of 3.8%, in accordance 
with the actual market demand and installed capacity utilization rates. These revenue growth 
assumptions were based on initiatives included in the business plan by projecting an average annual 
growth of net revenue arising from volume and price. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Companhia de Locação das Américas 
 

Notes to the financial statements  
at December 31,  2018 
All amounts in thousands of reais unless otherwise stated 

 
 
 

73 of 98 

  Parent company 

   Software  

 
Contracts 

with 
customers  

Trademarks 
and patents 

 

Goodwill 

 

Other  Total 
            
At January 1, 2017                  
 Cost  13,121  1,070  363      14,554 
 Accumulated amortization  (9,391)    (363)      (9,754) 
             
 Net book value   3,730  1,070        4,800 

              
At December 31, 2017              
 Opening balance  3,730  1,070        4,800 

 Purchases  2,090     
 

 
 

  2,090 
 Amortization   (1,742)  (767)        (2,509) 
             
 Net book value   4,078  303        4,381 

             
 
At December 31, 2017        

 
 

 
   

 Cost  15,211  1,070  363      16,644 
 Accumulated amortization  (11,133)  (767)  (363)      (12,263) 
             
 Net book value   4,078  303        4,381 

              
 
       

 
 

 
   

 Opening balance                                                                                                                     4,078  303        4,381 
 Purchases  3,479          3,479 

 Cost of intangible assets arising from  
     the merger of Auto Ricci S.A.  326  9,022   

 
71,658 

 
60  81,066 

 Amortization   (1,705)  (303)      

 

 (2,008) 
     Amortization of surplus on revaluation    (3,093)       (3,093) 
     Accumulated amortization arising from  
        the merger of Auto Ricci S.A.  (39)     

 
 

 
 (39) 

             
 Net book value  6,139  5,929    71,658  60  83,786 

             
At December 31, 2018             
 Cost  19,016  10,092  363  71,658  60  101,189 
 Accumulated amortization  (12,877)  (4,163)  (363)      (17,403) 
             
 Net book value  6,139  5,929    71,658  60  83,786 
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  Consolidated 

   Software  

 
Contracts 

with 
customers  

Tradema
rks and 
patents 

 

Goodwill 

 

Other  Total 
             
At January 1, 2017                  
 Cost  13,121  1,070  363      14,554 
 Accumulated amortization  (9,391)    (363)      (9,754) 
             
 Net book value   3,730  1,070        4,800 

              
At December 31, 2017              
 Opening balance  3,730  1,070        4,800 
 Purchases  2,445  9,022    71,658    83,125 
 Amortization   (1,759)  (757)        (2,516) 
             
 Net book value   4,416  9,335    71,658    85,409 

             
At December 31, 2017              
 Cost  15,566  10,092  363  71,658    97,679 
 Accumulated amortization  (11,150) ) (757)  (363)      (12,270) 
             
 Net book value   4,416  9,335    71,658    85,409 

              
             
 Opening balance                                                                                                                     4,416  9,335    71,658    85,409 
 Purchases  9,948        2,180  12,128 
     Disposals and write-offs  (42) )         (42) 

 Fair value of intangible assets arising from 
the acquisition of Unidas S.A.  6,810  41,528  30,984 

 
48,843 

 2,878  131,043 

 Goodwill arising from the acquisition of 
Unidas S.A.       

 
685,555 

 
  685,555 

     Amortization of surplus on revaluation – 
Unidas    (3,980)   

 
 

 
  (3,980) 

     Amortization of surplus on revaluation - 
Auto Ricci    (3,093)   

 
 

 
  (3,093) 

 Amortization   (3,946) ) (1,665)  (400)    (1,060)  (7,071) 
             
 Net book value  17,186  42,125  30,584  806,056  3,998  899,949 

 
       

 
 

 
   

At December 31, 2018             
 Cost  32,282  51,620  31,347  806,056  5,058  926,363 
 Accumulated amortization  (15,096)  (9,495)  (763) )   (1,060) ) (26,414) 
             
 Net book value  17,186  42,125  30,584  806,056  3,998  899,949 

 
 

12 Trade payables 
 Parent company  Consolidated 

  
2018 

  
2017 

  
2018 

  
2017 

        
Automakers 231,812   119,913  926,979   141,093 

Other 12,459   13,222  49,062   27,100 

  
244,271 

  
133,135 

  
976,041 

  
168,193 

 
 
13 Assignment of credits by suppliers 

 

As part of its strategy, the Group purchases a large number of vehicles from automakers, seeking to 
obtain better financial conditions. The payment terms negotiated with the suppliers are of less than six 
months.  
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The Group's suppliers, in turn, discount invoices with prime financial institutions through the 
assignment of credits, which essentially consists of selling these receivables without the right of 
recourse. Accordingly, these invoices are no longer payable to the suppliers, but rather to the financial 
institutions, which take into account the Group's credit risk. At December 31, 2018, the discount rates on 
credit assignment agreements entered into by the Group's suppliers with local financial institutions 
ranged from 0.60% to 0.68% per month on the amounts of the transactions, and finance costs were 
defrayed by the Group. Therefore, at December 31, 2018, the balances referring to these transactions 
were as follow: 
     

Parent 
company 

     
 

Consolidated 

  
2018 

  
2017 

  
2018 

  
2017 

 
Assignment of credits by suppliers 

 
375,739 

  
 

142,782 
  

1,015,275 
  

 
188,492 

(-) Credit assignment costs to be amortized (5,346)   (1,147)  (17,189)   (2,029) 

  
370,393 

  
141,635 

  
998,086 

  
186,463 

 
At December 31, 2018, these amounts mature as follow: 

 Parent 
company 

  
Consolidated 

 
 From 1 to 30 days 

 
225,015 

  
448,953 

 From 31 to 120 days 150,724  558,117 

Over 121 days    8,205 

 
Total 

 
375,739 

  
1,015,275 

 

The Group classified these transactions as operating activities in the statement of cash flows. 
 
 

14 Borrowing and debentures 
 Parent company  Consolidated 

  
2018 

  
2017 

  
2018 

  
2017 

            

FINAME 6,717  8,672  6,717  8,672 

Lease 211  5,185  36,875  5,185 

Working capital (Note 14.2) 17,419  34,704  17,419  57,988 

Debentures (Note 14.1) 139,222  149,257  237,870  149,257 

Promissory note (Note 14.1) (194)  (179)  (194)  (179) 

          

Current liabilities 163,375  197,639  298,687  220,923 

         
FINAME 31,116  37,749  31,116  37,749 

Lease 77  233  165  233 

Working capital (Note 14.2)   286    20,714 

Debentures (Note 14.1) 1,939,824  742,745  3,435,411  1,035,836 

Promissory note (Note 14.1) 127,462  117,950  127,462  117,950 

        
Non-current liabilities 2,098,479  898,963  3,594,154  1,212,482 

        
Total 2,261,854  1,096,602  3,892,841  1,433,405 
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The fair values of borrowing and debentures do not significantly differ from their respective carrying 
amounts and are disclosed in Note 4. 
 
At December 31, 2018, the breakdown of borrowing and debentures recorded in liabilities, net of funding 
costs, by maturity year, was as follows: 
 

 
    

Parent 
company 

     Consolidated 

 

 
2018 

  
2017 

  
2018 

  
2017 

Maturity          

2019 163,375  197,639  298,687  220,923 
2020 155,967  155,199  340,681  263,783 
2021 609,478  205,184  965,057  256,093 
2022 to 2025 1,333,034  538,580  2,288,416  692,606 

 
2,261,854  

 
1,096,602  3,892,841  

 
1,433,405 

 
The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings are denominated in the following currencies and 
subject to the following interest rates: 
 
               Parent company  

 
Type   

 
Currency  

 
Rate (%)  Maturity 

  
2018  

 
2017 

FINAME  R$  6.00% p.a.  2024  37,833   46,421 

Lease  R$  13.79% to 20.60% p.a.  2020 
 287   5,417 

Working capital (Note 14.2)  R$  

100% of CDI + 2.67% p.a. and CDI + 4.5 
to 7.25 p.a.  2018 

 17,419   34,991 

Debentures (Note 14.1)  R$  100% of CDI + 1.20 to 3% p.a.  
2020 to 
2023  

1,326,332  892,002 

Debentures (Note 14.1)  R$  110.6% to 119% of CDI  
2021 to 
2024  

752,714   

Promissory note (Note 14.1)  R$  CDI + 1.4% p.a.  2021 
 127,269  117,771 

           

       
 2,261,854  1,096,602 

 
        Consolidated   

Type  Currency  Rate (%)  

 
Maturity 

 2018  2017 

 

 R$  

 

 2024  

 

 46,421 FINAME 6.00% p.a. 37,833 

Lease  R$  13.79% to 20.60% p.a.  2020  37,040  5,417 

Working capital (Note 14.2)  R$  

100% of CDI + 2.67% p.a. and CDI + 4.5 to 7.25 
p.a.  2018  17,419  34,991 

Direct consumer credit 
(CDC)  R$  14.71% to 21.27% p.a.  2020    43,674 

Debentures (Note 14.1)  R$  100% of CDI + 1.20 to 3% p.a.  

2020 to 
2023  2,164,843  1,185,131 

Debentures (Note 14.1)  R$  110.6% to 119% of CDI  

2021 to 
2024 

 
1,406,904   

Debentures (Note 14.1)  R$  7.3032% p.a. + IPCA  2025 
 

101,534   

Promissory note (Note 14.1)  R$  CDI + 1.4% p.a.  2021  127,268  117,771 

        3,892,841  1,433,405 
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14.1 Debentures 

 
At December 31, 2018, the Group had 13 issues of non-convertible debentures outstanding.  
 
Contractual guarantees 
 
For compliance with the obligations related to the debentures, the Group provided the following 
guarantees: 

 

 Marketable securities, according to Note 5(b); 

 Rights under rental agreements entered into with the Group’s customers, accounting for 6.65% (R$ 
12,223) of trade receivables in the Parent company, and 8.56% (R$47,932) of trade receivables in 
the Consolidated; 

 Vehicles of the parent company totaling R$ 37,211, and of the subsidiary Unidas S.A. totaling 
R$151,025, as mentioned in Note 10; and 

 Fiduciary assignment of credit rights to form the collateral for the Group's debenture issues, 
representing 9.63% of the marketable securities in the Parent company (R$ 17,616), and 20.95% of 
the marketable securities in the Consolidated (R$43,791); 

 
Acceleration covenants 
 
The debenture issues include certain scenarios for accelerated maturity, addressing the following, 
among other aspects: 
 

 Non-compliance with financial obligations, not corrected within two business days;  

 Issues concerning partial or total default; and  

 Full or partial sale of vehicles included in the list of agreements for assignment of credit rights, 
without the respective replacement of the vehicles sold. 

 
Additionally, non-compliance with certain financial ratios may result in the accelerated maturity of the 
debentures. At December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Parent Company was in full compliance 
with all of the following covenants:  
 

a. Net debt/EBITDA ratio: equal to or lower than 3.25; 

b. EBITDA/Net finance cost ratio: equal to or higher than 1.75; 

c. Net debt/Equity ratio: equal to or lower than 3.50; 

d. Net debt/Carrying amount of the fleet ratio: equal to or lower than 80%; and 

e. Cash/Short-term Debt Service Coverage ratio: greater than or equal to 50% up to December 31, 2018, 
greater than or equal to 80% up to December 31, 2019, and 120% up to the maturity date of the 16th 
issue. After having been complied with for two (2) consecutive years, this ratio will no longer be 
required. 
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The subsidiary Unidas S.A. is also subject to certain financial ratios, which are requirements for the non-
acceleration of the maturity of the debentures. At December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the parent 
company was in full compliance with all of the following covenants: 
 

a. Net debt/EBITDA ratio of the Guarantor and Issuer: equal to or lower than 3.50; 

b. EBITDA/Net finance cost ratio of the Guarantor: equal to or higher than 1.50; 

c. Net debt/Equity ratio of the Guarantor: equal to or lower than 3.50; 

Funding cost of debentures and promissory notes 
 
Transaction costs incurred in connection with the issuance of debentures and not yet charged to the 
Group's profit or loss are presented as a reduction in the balance of liabilities and allocated to the 
statement of income under the effective interest rate method.  
 
The amounts issued net of the transaction costs are presented below, based on the nature of the 
borrowing: 
  Parent company 

Debentures  

Amount raised 

  
Funding 

cost 

 
Net amount 

raised 

  
Book 

balance at 
12/31/2018 

 
Debentures 

 
2,275,000  (41,180)  2,233,820 

 
2,079,046 

Promissory Notes  118,000  (782)  117,218  127,268 

 
        

 
 2,393,000  (41,962)  2,351,038  2,206,314 

 
  Consolidated 

Debentures  

Amount raised 

  
Funding 

cost 

 
Net amount 

raised 

  
Book 

balance at 
12/31/2018 

 
Debentures 

 
3,995,000  (64,699)  3,930,301 

 
3,673,281 

Promissory Notes  118,000  (782)  117,218  127,268 

 
        

 
 4,113,000  (65,481)  4,047,519  3,800,549 

 
14.2 Working capital 

 
The transaction costs incurred to raise working capital and not yet allocated to the Group's results are 
presented as a reduction in the balance of liabilities, and allocated to the statement of income under the 
effective interest rate method.  
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The amounts issued net of the transaction costs, for working capital purposes, are presented below: 
 
  Parent company and Consolidated 

Working capital 

 

Amount raised 

  
Funding 

cost 

 
Net amount 

raised 

  
Book 

balance at 
12/31/2018 

 
Working capital 

 
50,000  (1,932)  48,068  17,419 

 
  

50,000  (1,932)  48,068 
  

17,419 

 
Contractual guarantees 
 
For compliance with the obligations arising from working capital borrowing, the Group provided the 
following guarantees: 

 

 Marketable securities, according to Note 5(b); 

 Fiduciary assignment of credit rights to form the collateral for the Group's borrowing for 
working capital purposes, representing 1.91% of the marketable securities in the Parent 
company (R$ 3,484), and 1.67% of the marketable securities in the Consolidated (R$3,484); 

 
 

15 Deposits in court and provision for contingencies 
 
The Group recorded provisions for the lawsuits considered as probable losses and for which there is a 
present obligation at the balance sheet date.  
 
Changes in the provisions were as follow: 
   Parent company 

  

 
Civil and labor 
contingencies   

Tax 
contingencies   Total 

            
At December 31, 2017 4,338   1,262   5,600 
Balance arising from the merger of Auto Ricci S.A. 86  276  362 
Deficit on the revaluation of contingencies arising from the merger of  
    Auto Ricci S.A. 

5,759     5,759 

 
At December 31, 2018 

 
10,183 

 
 

1,538 
 

 
11,721 

 
 

     Consolidated 

 

 
Civil and labor 
contingencies  

Tax 
contingencies   Total 

 
At December 31, 2017 10,459   1,262   11,721 
Provision for contingencies arising from the acquisition of  
     Unidas S.A.(a) 

 
9,790 

 
 

22,756 
 

 
32,546 

Deficit on the revaluation of contingencies – Business combination  
    with Unidas S.A. (Note 1.1) 

 
4,585 

 
 

60,828 
 

 
65,413 

Provision recorded (reversed) in the period (373)   (461)   (834) 

 
At December 31, 2018 

 
24,461 

 
 

84,385 
 

 
108,846 
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(a) On the date of acquisition of Unidas S.A., the Company allocated a deficit on the revaluation of 
contingencies to the purchase price, totaling R$65,413 thousand. This allocation was carried out at the 
time of acquisition only due to the fact that it influenced the purchase price. The main allocations carried 
out relate to a portion of the balance of the tax lawsuits of Unidas S.A., which are disclosed in this 
explanatory note. 
 
Deposits in court 
 
The breakdown of the balances of deposits, by type of lawsuit, is shown below: 
 

 Parent company  Consolidated 

 
 

2018  2017  2018  2017 

 
Civil and labor 

 
179  236  

 
8,648  239 

Tax contingencies 16,944  13,866  41,181  14,140 

 
 

17,123  14,102  
 

49,829  14,379 

 
Contingencies 
 
At December 31, 2018, the Group was a party to a number of lawsuits totaling approximately R$246,141 
(R$57,923 at December 31, 2017) classified as representing possible losses by the legal advisors, and for 
which no provision has been recorded 

 
Main lawsuits of the Group classified as possible losses 
 
Most of the lawsuits classified as possible losses are of a tax nature. There are also assessments by the 
government of the state of São Paulo based on State Law 13,296/2008 (Tax on Vehicles (IPVA)) 
amounting to R$12,383 (R$7,877 at 31 December 2017).  
 
The Company is discussing in court the use of certain PIS and COFINS credits, seeking to preclude the 
application of the Interpretative Declaratory Act (ADI) of the Brazilian Federal Revenue Service (RFB) 
from April 2015, and to ensure the right to use the PIS and COFINS credits computed on the acquisition 
cost of vehicles recognized as property and equipment, which are intended for rental. The Company 
requests the full use of these credits, based on the provisions of Law 10,833/2003, Article 3, paragraph 
14, item VI, and Article 15, item II. At December 31, 2018, the Company's management classified the 
likelihood of an unfavorable outcome as possible and estimated the related loss at R$50,201 (R$36,546 
at December 31, 2017). 

 
On May 21, 2009, the Brazilian Federal Revenue Service (SRFB) issued tax assessment notices against 
Unidas S.A., requesting the payment of IRPJ and CSLL debts, referring mainly to the deductibility of 
goodwill amortization from 2004 to 2007. At December 31, 2018, the total adjusted amount of these 
debts was R$ 55,999 (R$54,401 at December 31, 2017). 
 
On December 11, 2014, the SRFB issued tax assessment notices against Unidas S.A., requesting the 
payment of IRPJ and CSLL debts, relating mainly to the deductibility of goodwill amortization and swap 
contract expenses referring to 2009. At December 31, 2018, the total adjusted amount of these debts was 
R$33,082 (R$32,147 at December 31, 2017). 
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The Company's management disagrees with the grounds that led to the issue of the aforementioned tax 
assessment notices, and therefore challenged these assessments at the administrative level, within the 
applicable deadlines established by law, and is awaiting the judgment of the appeals. 
The other lawsuits classified as possible losses relate to labor civil, labor, and tax claims. 
 
 

16 Derivative financial instruments 
 
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, exclusively for hedging purposes, the Group entered 
into 38 swap transactions (12 to 47 months), amounting to R$496,920, which swap the CDI rate 
variation for a fixed rate, and swap transactions (15 to 37 months) amounting to R$93,019, which 
swapped 117.5% of the DI rate for a fixed rate. These transactions, together with others entered into in 
previous periods, cover a total amount of R$1,027,893. The fair values of the swaps were determined 
using prices quoted in an active market for identical financial instruments. The instruments were 
segregated in order to demonstrate the asset and liability effect on each group of instruments, as follows: 
 

Parent company 
At December 31, 2018   Rates   Fair value 

Transactions   

 
Period 

(months)   Interest   Assets   Liabilities   Assets   Liabilities   Net 

CDI X Fixed rate  12 to 47 months  

Quarterly/ 
semi-annual  

100% of 
CDI  6.41% to 16.62%  962,734  (992,060)  (29,326) 

 
At December 31, 2017   Rates   Fair value 

Transactions   

 
Period 

(months)   Interest   Assets   Liabilities   Assets   Liabilities   Net 

 
CDI X Fixed rate   24 to 36 months   

Quarterly/ 
semi-annual   

100% of 
CDI   8.16% to 16.62%   633,062   (658,478)    (25,416) 

 
Consolidated 

 
At December 31, 2018   Rates   Fair value 

Transactions   

 
Period 

(months)   Interest   Assets   Liabilities   Assets   Liabilities   Net 
               

CDI X Fixed 
rate  12 to 36 months  

Quarterly/ 
semi-annual  

100% to 
117.5% of 

CDI  
6.41% to 

16.62%  1,062,865  (1,094,371)  (31,506) 
               
At December 31, 2017   Rates   Fair value 

Transactions   

 
Period 

(months)   Interest   Assets   Liabilities   Assets   Liabilities   Net 

 
CDI X Fixed 
rate   

24 to 36 
months   

Quarterly /Semi-
annual   100% of CDI   

8.16% to 
16.62%   853,741  (883,112)  (29,371) 
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Changes in derivative financial instruments during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as 
follow: 
 

  Parent company 

 

  
 

At 
December 

31, 2017  

 
Balance arising 

from the 
merger of Auto 

Ricci  

Other  
comprehensive 

income (loss)  

Effect on 
profit or loss 

for the year  

 
Receipt/ 
Payment  

At 
December 

31, 2018 

                
Derivative financial 
instruments - swaps 

  
(25,416)  (3,955)*  (4,658)  (26,620)  31,323  (29,326) 

 
 

 
(25,416)   (3,955)  (4,658)  (26,620)  31,323  (29,326) 

 
* The balance arising from the merger of Auto Ricci comprises MtM (3,153) and Accrual (802) amounts  

 
  Consolidated 

 

  
 

At 
December 

31, 2017  

 
 

Balance arising 
from the 

acquisition of 
Unidas   

 
 Other 

comprehensive 
income (loss)  

Effect on profit 
or loss for the 

year  

 
Receipt/ 
Payment  

At 
December 

31, 2018 

                
Derivative financial 
instruments - swaps 

  
(29,371)     196  (6,633)  (27,252)  31,554  (31,506) 

 
 

 
(29,371)  196  (6,633)  (27,252)  31,554  (31,506) 

 
Parent company 

 

  

 
 

At 
December 

31, 2016  

Other 
comprehensive 

income  

Effect on 
profit or loss 

for the year  

 
Receipt/ 
Payment  

 
 

At 
December 

31, 2017 

 
Derivative financial instruments - swaps 

  
     (9,680)      (995)  (17,723)  2,982  (25,416) 

 
Derivative financial instruments 

 
(9,680)         (995)  (17,723)  2,982  (25,416) 

 
Consolidated 

 

  

 
 

At 
December 

31, 2016  

Other 
comprehensive 

income  

Effect on 
profit or loss 

for the year  

 
Receipt/ 
Payment  

 
 

At 
December 

31, 2017 

 
Derivative financial instruments - swaps 

  
     (9,680)     (4,148)  (18,525)  2,982  (29,371) 

 
Derivative financial instruments 

 
(9,680)         (4,148)  (18,525)  2,982  (29,371) 

 
*The marking-to-market of derivative financial instruments ("hedge accounting") is recognized in the 
statement of comprehensive income and will only be recognized in the result for the period in which the 
derivative financial instruments are settled. 
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      Parent company 

 
At December 31, 2018   Rates   Interest (accrual)   Mark-to-market * 

 
    Transactions   

 
Period 

(months)   Interest   Assets   Liabilities   
 

Assets   Liabilities   Result   Assets   Liabilities   Net 

 
CDI X Fixed 
rate   

12 to 47 
months  

Quarterly/ 
semi-annual  

100% 
of CDI  

6.41% to 
16.62%  942,471  (949,723)  (7,252)  20,263  (42,337)  (22,074) 

 
    Consolidated 

 
At December 31, 2018   Rates   Interest (accrual)   Mark-to-market * 

 
Transactions   

 
Period 

(months)   Interest   Assets   Liabilities   
 

Assets   Liabilities   Result   
      

 Assets   Liabilities  Net 

 
CDI X Fixed 

rate  
12 to 47 
months  

Quarterly/ 
semi-annual  

  100% to 1   
17.5% of CDI  

6.41% to 
16.62%  1,041,650  (1,049,107)  (7,457) 21,215  (45,264)  (24,049) 

 
      Consolidated 

 
At December 31, 2017   Rates   Interest (accrual)   Mark-to-market * 

 
Transactions   

 

Period 
(months)   Interest   Assets   Liabilities   

 
Assets   Liabilities   Result   Assets   Liabilities   Net 

                       
CDI X Fixed 

rate  
12 to 36  
months  

Quarterly 
/Semi-annual  

100% of 
CDI  8.16% to 16.62%  820,396  (829,609)  (9,213)           33,345  (53,503)  (20,158) 

 
 
 

17 Related parties 
 
Remuneration of key management personnel 
 
The remuneration of key management personnel (statutory officers and members of the Board of 
Directors) by category, for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, was as follows: 
 

 Parent company  Consolidated 

  
2018   2017  2018   2017 

Direct compensation, profit sharing  
   and fringe benefits 7,089  2,308  10,229  3,082 

Stock options 465  450   1,386  450 

  
7,554  2,758  11,615  3,532 

 
  

      Parent company 

       

 

At December 31, 2017   Rates   Interest (accrual)   Mark-to-market * 

                    

Transactions   

 

Period 

(months)         Interest   Assets   Liabilities   

 

Assets   Liabilities   Result   Assets   Liabilities   Net 

 

CDI X Fixed 

rate   

  12 to 36                        

  months   

Quarterly 

/Semi-annual   

100% 

of CDI   

8.16% to 

16.62%   604,198  (612,609)  (8,411)  28,864  (45,869)  (17,005) 
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Related party transactions 
 

 Parent company  Consolidated 

 2018   2017  2018   2017  2018   2017  2018   2017 

Related parties (balance sheet 
balances) Assets  Liabilities  Assets  Liabilities 

                
Acelero Comércio de Veículos Ltda. 2,977  4,717             
Enterprise Holdings Brazil LLC.          16,685    13,840   
SLR Comercio de Veículos Ltda. 302  302      302  302     
Unidas Locadora de Veículos Ltda. 333    799           
Unidas S.A. 26,101               
Via Trucks Comércio de Caminhões 
Ltda. 165  77      165  77     

 29,878  5,096  799    17,152  379  13,840   

 

Current 
         

26,599  
 

            77 
 

            799  
 

                
          

16,850  
 

           77  
 

         13,840  
 

                  
Non-current         3,279            5,019                                                   302              302                                             

 

 Parent company  Consolidated 

 2018   2017  2018   2017  2018   2017  2018   2017 

Related parties (result) Income  Cost  Income  Cost 

                

Acelero Comércio de Veículos Ltda. 
       

        
Armal Empreendimentos e 
Participações Ltda.     (76)  (73)      (76)  (73) 
Enterprise Holdings Brazil LLC.              (14,705)   
FRG – Desenvolvimento Urbano Ltda.     (139)        (139)  (208) 
Guerra Empreendimentos e 
Participações     (76)  (73)      (76)  (73) 
Unidas Locadora de Veículos Ltda.     (331)        (300)   
Unidas S.A.                
Via Jap Comercio de Veículos Ltda. 419  1,134      419  1,134     
Via Trucks Comércio de Caminhões 
Ltda. 2,477  510  (4)    2,477  510     

 2,896  1,644  (625)  (146)  2,896  1,644  (15,296)  (354) 

 
 
Relationship between the Company and its related parties 
 

See references below: 
 

(a) Direct or indirect subsidiary of the Company 
(b) Entity which has a controlling partner of the Company as a shareholder 

 
Description of the transactions carried out with related parties 
 

 Acelero Comércio de Veículos Ltda. (a) – The Company has a loan agreement with this indirect 
subsidiary; 

 Agile Car Locações Ltda. (a) - The Company did not carry out any transactions with the subsidiary 
Agile Car Locações Ltda. and its customers; 

 Armal Empreendimentos e Participação (b) - Property rental transaction; 

 FRG – Desenvolvimento Urbano Ltda. (b) - Property rental transaction; 

 Guerra Empreendimentos e Participações (b) - Property rental transaction; 

 LS MG Comércio de Veículos Ltda. (b) – The Company did not carry out any transactions with this 
related party; 

 SLR Comercio de Veículos Ltda. (b) - Purchase and sale of vehicles; 

 Via Jap Comercio de Veículos Ltda. (b) - Purchase and sale of vehicles; 
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 Via Trucks Comércio de Caminhões Ltda. (b) - Purchase and sale of vehicles; 

 Enterprise Holdings Brazil LLC. (b)– The direct subsidiary Unidas S.A. has lease operations in 
partnership with Enterprise. The balance payable refers to commission related to such operations; 

 Unidas S.A. (b) - Property rental transactions; 

 Unidas Comercial de Veículos Ltda. (a)– The transactions relate to indirect expenses incurred by 
Unidas S.A. on behalf of the subsidiary, and expenses incurred by the subsidiary on behalf of Unidas 
S.A., which do not bear interest and will be settled in the future; 

 Unidas Locadora de Veículos Ltda. (a) – Carries out vehicle rental operations with Unidas S.A.; and 

 Unidas Franquias do Brasil S.A. (a)– The transactions relate to indirect expenses incurred by Unidas 
S.A. on behalf of the subsidiary, and expenses incurred by the subsidiary on behalf of Unidas S.A., 
which do not bear interest and will be settled in the future. 

 
 

18 Equity 
 

(a) Share capital 
 

At December 31, 2018, the Group's shares were held as follow: 
 
 2018  2017 

 
 

  
 

% 
  

Shares 
  

 
% Shares 

        
Principal – Gestao de Activos e Cons. Adm. e Financeira S.A.  16,404,391  11.09     
Luís Fernando Memoria Porto 15,292,922  10.34  15,292,922  18.54 
Sergio Augusto Guerra de Resende 15,292,920  10.34  15,292,920  18.54 
RCC Participações Sociais Ltda.  3,423,860  2.32  14,621,131  17.73 
Enterprise Holdings Brazil, LLC 13,127,242  8.88     

Dirley Pingnatti Ricci  11,139,471  7.53     

Free Float (*) 72,030,709  48.71  35,739,649  43.34 
        

Total shares outstanding 146,711,515  99.21  80,946,622  98.15 
        

Treasury shares 1,152,312  0.79  1,522,516  1.85 
        

Total  147,863,827  100.00  82,469,138  100 

 
(*) Relates to shares traded on the São Paulo Stock Exchange (B3) 

On May 11, 2017, the Shareholders’ Extraordinary General Meeting approved the issue of 17,393,816 new 
shares in connection with the investment agreement for the acquisition of Auto Ricci S.A., which 
resulted in an increase in the share capital by R$98,617. 
 
The Shareholders’ Extraordinary General Meeting held on March 9, 2018 approved the issue of 
34,394,689 new shares in connection with the investment agreement for the acquisition of Unidas S.A., 
which resulted in an increase in share capital of R$579,602. 
 
The Shareholders’ Extraordinary General Meeting held on November 27, 2018 approved the issue of 
31,000,000 new shares in connection with the primary and secondary offerings, which resulted in an 
increase in the share capital of R$992,000. 
 
The expenses incurred for the share offering carried out in December 2018 totaled R$47,336, and were 
fully deducted from reserves (Note 1(b)). 
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The Shareholders’ Extraordinary General Meeting held on December 31, 2018, approved the increase in 
the Company's authorized capital from R$600,000 (six hundred million Reais) to R$1,500,000 (one 
billion, five hundred million Reais). 
 
At December 31, 2018, the Group's subscribed and paid-up share capital, totaling R$ 1,922,181, was 
represented by 147,863,827 registered common shares with no par value (R$397,900, represented by 
82,469,138 common shares at December 31, 2017).  
 

(b) Share buyback plan 
 
At a meeting held on June 13, 2014, the Company's Board of Directors approved the First Share Buyback 
Program, thereby authorizing the Company's Executive Board to acquire shares in the Company, to be 
held in treasury and subsequently sold, without reducing the share capital, in order to cover a potential 
exercise of share options under the Company's Share Option Programs. Up to 3,448,948 shares could be 
acquired, corresponding to 10% of the outstanding shares in the market. By December 31, 2015, at the 
end of the program, 1,393,300 shares had been acquired on the São Paulo Stock Exchange (B3) at a total 
cost of R$ 5,906, and an average acquisition cost of R$ 4.24 per share. 
 
On March 19, 2017, the Company's Board of Directors approved the Second Share Buyback Program". 
This plan provides for the acquisition of up to 3,197,993 registered, book-entry common shares, without 
par value, issued by the Company. The shares acquired may be used to cover the exercise of stock 
options under the stock option plans, or other type of share-based compensation. By March 18, 2018, at 
the end of the program, 894,800 shares had been acquired on the São Paulo Stock Exchange (B3), at a 
total cost of R$ 7,957, and an average acquisition cost of R$ 8.89 per share. 
 
On October 5, 2018, the Company's Board of Directors approved the Third Share Buyback Plan. This 
plan provides for the acquisition of up to 3,037,432 registered, book-entry common shares, without par 
value, issued by the Company. The shares acquired may be used to cover the exercise of stock options 
under the stock option plans, or other type of share-based compensation valid for 18 months from the 
approval date. 
 
At December 31, 2018, the Company had treasury shares amounting to R$9,925 (R$ 9,785 at December 
31, 2017). 
 

(c) Capital reserve 
 
At December 31, 2017, the Company’s capital reserve was comprised of: (i) R$42,208 relating to share 
premiums in connection with the initial public offering, net of the costs incurred to go public; and (ii) 
R$2,921 referring to a stock option plan.  
 
On March 9, 2018, the Company recorded an additional goodwill reserve totaling R$478.378, arising 
from the difference between the fair value of the share issued and the amount stated upon the new share 
issue, arising from the acquisition of the shareholding control of Unidas S.A. In addition, the Company 
recognized new obligations in connection with the stock option plan, totaling R$5,844, and receipts 
arising from the exercise of stock options under the plan totaling R$3,029. 
 
At December 31, 2018, the capital reserve amounted to R$ 528,961 (R$ 45,129 in 2017).  
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(d) Revenue reserve 
 

 Legal reserve 
 
The legal reserve is credited annually with 5% of the profit for the year and cannot exceed 20% of the 
capital, in accordance with the provisions of Article 193 of Law 6,404/76. The purpose of the legal 
reserve is to protect capital, and it can only be used to offset losses and increase capital. 
 

 Investment reserve 
 
The investment reserve refers to the retention of the remaining balance of retained earnings, approved 
by the Executive Board and Board of Directors, intended for investments, the 2018 budget revision and 
maintenance of the Company's working capital. At December 31, 2018, the investment reserve amounted 
to R$122,390 (R$53,181 at December 31, 2017). 
 

(e) Dividends  
 
In compliance with the provisions set forth in the Company's Bylaws, at least 25% of the balance of the 
profit for each year, after the deduction of the legal reserve, will be allocated as mandatory dividends 
and/or interest on capital, unless otherwise determined at the Annual General Shareholders' Meeting. 
 
 

  2018  2017 
 

  
 

 
 

Profit for the year   189,202  60,598 

Legal reserve (5%)   (9,460)  (3,030) 

         

Dividend calculation basis   179,742  57,568 

    
 

 
 

Minimum mandatory dividend (25%)   44,935  14,392 

Additional proposed dividends payable   42,211  7,497 

    
 

 
 

 Total dividends and interest on capital 87,146  21,889 

    
 

 
 

Percentage on profit for the year 46.1%  36.1% 

 
In addition, the Company paid dividends totaling R$17,502 relating to the profit from prior years, 
approved by the Board of Directors at a meeting held on January 3, 2018. 
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Interest on capital 
 
The approval dates and amounts of the payments of interest on capital and dividends approved by the 
Board of Directors were as follow:  
 

Approval date   

 
Gross 

amount   
 

Net amount   
Amount per 

share (in R$)   

Date of 
shareholding 

position 

3/26/2018  8,088  7,200  0.062674277  3/26/2018 

6/22/2018  25,215  22,195  0.2180625181  6/22/2018 

9/19/2018  24,990  21,960  0.215909162  9/24/2018 

12/21/2018  28,853  25,567  0.196669883  12/21/2018 

 
Total   

 
87,146 

  
 

76,922         

 
(f) Share-based payment (stock options and restricted stock) 

 
Share-based payments are made under two models, both of which have the purpose of encouraging and 
retaining key professionals to ensure the attainment of the Group’s objectives: “Stock options” and 
“Restricted stock”. Under the stock option plan, the beneficiary has the option to purchase the shares at 
the end of the vesting period, while under the restricted stock plan the shares granted are transferred to 
the beneficiary, provided that the previously established conditions are fulfilled.  Another difference 
between the two plans is the levying of charges on restricted shares, as on any other type of 
remuneration.  
 
The Company's share-based payment plans (options exercised and options vested but not yet exercised) 
correspond to 1.48% of its total share capital, limited to 5,915 options (4% of the total share capital) at 
December 31, 2018. 
 
The stock option plans that grant the right to purchase the Company's registered common shares 
without par value were formalized pursuant to Article 168, paragraph 3, of the Brazilian Corporate Law, 
and include beneficiaries to be appointed by the Board of Directors.  
 
The exercise of the stock options by the beneficiary, as well as the transfer of restricted stock, is 
contingent on their remaining with the Company, as an employee or officer, from the date on which the 
respective grant agreement is signed up to the end of each vesting period.  
 
The exercise price may be paid by the Beneficiary, in cash, within twenty (20) business days from the 
date on which the Company is notified of the exercise of the stock option. 
 
Under both plans, the agreement will be automatically terminated in the event that the beneficiary’s 
statutory or employment relationship with the Company ceases, or if one of the vesting conditions is not 
met within the service period, counted from the date of execution of the stock option agreement, or after 
the exercise of all stock options, whichever occurs first. 
 
The services received from the beneficiaries during the year are recognized as expenses, irrespective of 
whether the non-vesting conditions have been satisfied. 
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The main characteristics of the plans are described below: 
 

 
 

Plan 

 
 

Program 
 

Grant date 
Vesting (Service 

clause) 

Exercise price at 
12/31/2018 (in 

Reais) 

 
Expiration 

date 

1 Single 12/23/2010 Up to 5.4 years 4.48 5/29/2021 
1 Single 1/19/2011 Up to 5.4 years 4.48 5/29/2021 
1 Single 5/25/2011 Up to 5 years 4.45 5/29/2021 
1 Single 2/23/2012 Up to 4.3 years 4.77 5/29/2021 
2 1 2/23/2012 Up to 4.3 years 4.25 5/29/2021 
2 2 2/23/2012 Up to 2.7 years 4.77 5/29/2019 
2 3 11/1/2012 Up to 4 years 4.28 10/31/2021 
2 4 8/13/2013 Up to 1 year 11.67 8/12/2019 
2 3 9/21/2015 Up to 3.2 years 3.63 12/4/2023 
2 3 2/15/2016 Up to 3.9 years 3.19 12/31/2024 
2 3 7/27/2016 Up to 5 years 4.14 7/26/2026 
2 3 3/8/2017 Up to 5 years 5.16 3/7/2027 
2 3 7/5/2017 Up to 5 years 7.67 7/4/2027 
2 5 3/8/2018 Up to 5 years 15.60 3/7/2028 
2 3 4/2/2018 Up to 5 years 23.90 4/1/2028 

Restricted stock Single 11/21/2018 Up to 5 years 29.11 11/20/2028 
      
      

 
Changes in the number of options in each plan during the year ended December 31, 2018 are shown 
below: 
 

 
Plan 

 
Program Grant date 

Opening 
balance 

New 
grants Expired/canceled 

 
Exercised 

Closing 
balance 

1 Single 12/23/2010 519,404  236,685 258,861 23,858 
1 Single 1/19/2011 169,288  8,466 127,100 33,722 
1 Single 5/25/2011 247,003  167,130 77,873 2,000 
1 Single 2/23/2012 216,195  70,903 84,170 61,122 
2 1 2/23/2012 467,847  187,140 187,138 93,569 
2 2 2/23/2012 91,970   91,970  
2 3 11/1/2012 220,000  154,000 66,000  
2 4 8/13/2013 68,500   68,500  
2 3 9/21/2015 400,000  160,000 240,000  
2 3 2/15/2016 250,000    250,000 
2 3 7/27/2016 150,000    150,000 
2 3 3/8/2017 100,000   20,000 80,000 
2 3 7/5/2017 815,000  24,000 127,180 663,820 
2 5 3/8/2018  250,000   250,000 
2 3 4/2/2018  350,000 100,000  250,000 

Restricted 
stock Single 11/21/2018  334,000   334,000 

Total    3,715,207 934,000 1,108,324 1,348,792 2,192,091 

  
Changes in share-based payments during the year ended December 31, 2018 are shown below: 
 
Balance of stock options at December 31, 2017   2,921 
Expenses related to stock options recognized in the statement of income   4,440 
Expenses related to restricted stock recognized in the statement of income   261 
Expenses related to share-based payments granted to the employees of the subsidiaries  
    recognized in equity 

  
1,143 

Realized or expired rights to stock options   (2,476) 
Balance of stock options at December 31, 2018   6,289 

 
  



Companhia de Locação das Américas 
 

Notes to the financial statements  
at December 31,  2018 
All amounts in thousands of reais unless otherwise stated 

 
 
 

90 of 98 

Share-based compensation is recorded in the financial statements at fair value, which was estimated 
based on the Black & Scholes valuation model, considering the following assumptions: 
 

 
 

Plan 

 
 

Program 
 

Grant date 
Risk-free 

rate Vesting period 

 
Fair value of the 
option/share (in 

Reais) 

1 Single 12/23/2010 5.81% Up to 5.4 years 3.21 
1 Single 1/19/2011 6.17% Up to 5.4 years 3.25 
1 Single 5/25/2011 6.23% Up to 5.0 years 3.25 
1 Single 2/23/2012 4.25% Up to 4.3 years 1.51 
2 1 2/23/2012 4.25% Up to 4.3 years 1.51 
2 2 2/23/2012 4.25% Up to 2.7 years 1.51 
2 3 11/1/2012 7.12% Up to 4.0 years 6.85 
2 4 8/13/2013 5.10% Up to 1 year 2.31 
2 3 9/21/2015 8.36% Up to 3.2 years 0.91 
2 3 2/15/2016 12.09% Up to 3.9 years 1.00 
2 3 7/27/2016  11.65% Up to 5.0 years 2.55 
2 3 3/8/2017 4.86% Up to 5.0 years 6.39 
2 3 7/5/2017 4.86% Up to 5.0 years 8.77 
2 5 3/8/2018 6.96% Up to 5.0 years 18.49 
2 3 4/2/2018 6.96% Up to 5.0 years 12.30 

Restricted stock Single 11/21/2018 6.90% Up to 5.0 years 29.11 

 
The expected volatility was estimated based on the historical data of the Company up to the initial date 
of each plan, except for options granted prior to the initial public offering, where the volatility of 
companies operating in the same industry was used. The risk-free interest rate considered the maturity 
of the options granted on each plan's initial date.  
 

(g) Carrying value adjustments 
 
In the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recognized other comprehensive income 
(loss) of (R$ 4,377) and (R$2,738), respectively (net of taxes), relating to hedge operations. 
 
 

19 Operating revenue 
 
The reconciliation between the gross revenue and net revenue reported in the statements of income for 
the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows: 

  
Parent company   Consolidated  

 
 

2018  2017  2018  2017 

        
Gross revenue 1,354,021  936,816  3,163,327  1,209,026 
Discounts and cancellations (58,076)  (45,001)  (96,095)  (58,485) 
Taxes on rental and resale of semi-new 
vehicles (*) 

(65,995) 
 (42,397)  

(150,037) 
 (55,927) 

Operating revenue 1,229,950  849,418  2,917,195  1,094,614 
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The breakdown of net operating revenue by each significant category is as follows: 
 
   Parent company 

 
 

 
 

2018  2017 

      
Vehicle rentals   701,451  452,586 
Vehicle sales   594,494  439,229 
Taxes on rental and resale of semi-new vehicles (*)   (65,995)  (42,397) 

      
Net revenue   1,229,950  849,418 

  
   Consolidated  

 
 

 
 

2018  2017 

      
Vehicle rentals    1,572,502  603,975 
Franchising   31,277   
Management of third party fleet   2,944  1,060 
Sales of semi-new vehicles   1,441,683  536,751 
Resale of semi-new vehicles (**)   18,826           8,755 
Taxes on rental and resale of semi-new vehicles (*)   (150,037)  (55,927) 

      
Net revenue   2,917,195  1,094,614 

 
(*) Social Integration Program (PIS) and Social Contribution on Revenue (COFINS) are not levied on sales of semi-new vehicles, 
since these vehicles are classified as "Property and equipment". 
(**) The resale of semi-new vehicles relates to an activity exclusively performed by Acelero. 

 
 

20 Cost of rental and sale of vehicles 
 Parent company  Consolidated 

  
2018  2017  2018  2017 

        

Cost of sale of semi-new vehicles (524,929)  (384,412)  (1,282,480)  (470,640) 

Cost of resale of semi-new vehicles (*)     (15,951)  (8,308) 

Maintenance (225,216)  (153,086)  (520,704)  (196,267) 

Depreciation cost of fleet vehicles (138,018)  (90,305)  (271,018)  (130,894) 

Recovery of PIS/COFINS tax credits  52,645  41,861  105,999  55,118 

Other operating expenses (9,365)  (19,308)  (48,768)  (21,787) 

 
Total (844,883)  (605,250)  (2,032,922)  (772,778) 

 
(**) The resale of semi-new vehicles relates to operating activity exclusively performed by Acelero. 
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21  Selling expenses 
 Parent company  Consolidated 

 
 

2018  2017  2018  2017 

        
Salaries and social charges (21,152)  (13,527)  (51,154)  (16,996) 

Commission (7,443)  (4,018)  (52,914)  (4,018) 
Estimated impairment loss (reversal) on 
trade receivables 

2,899  (5,685)  (10,743)  (5,754) 

Write-off of bad debts (1,171)    (1,948)   

Property rental and others (24,888)  (16,129)  (49,042)  (18,981) 

        

Total (51,755)  (39,359)  (165,801)  (45,749) 

 
 

22 General and administrative expenses 
  Parent company  

 
 

 
2018 

  
2017 

 
 

   

General expenses  (28,956)  (10,991) 
Consulting and third party service fees  (12,061)  (10,259) 
Taxes  (1,920)  (1,436) 
Depreciation/amortization  (17,252)  (6,504) 
Personnel expenses  (17,658)  (13,880) 

     
Total  (77,847)  (43,070) 

 

  

 
Consolidated  

 
 

 
2018 

  
2017 

 
    

General expenses (*)  (47,770)  (14,965) 
Fees, consulting and third party services (*)  (32,000)  (11,304) 
Taxes (*)  (1,920)  (1,490) 
Depreciation/amortization  (23,186)  (6,656) 
Personnel expenses  (59,199)  (17,755) 

     
Total  (164,075)  (52,170) 

 
(*) As described in Note 1.1., the Company acquired the control of Unidas S.A. on March 9, 2018, and, as 
a result of this acquisition, incurred the following costs: (i) costs inherent to the acquisition process; and 
(ii) costs arising from the process of integration between Locamerica and Unidas. These costs are one-off 
by nature (non-operational), which are not incurred in the normal course of the Group's activities. The 
breakdown of these costs is as follows: 

 
 Parent company and 

Consolidated 
   
   
Advertising and other costs                                                                                                                (13,772) 
Consulting and third party service fees  (3,969) 
Taxes  (85) 

 

  
(17,826) 
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23 Finance income (costs), net 
 Parent company   Consolidated  

 

 
2018  

 
2017  

 
2018  

 
2017 

        
Interest received from customers 706  727  7,653  782 
Interest on financial investments 35,577  20,333  45,960  22,415 
Other finance income 3,000  1,869  3,775  1,876 

        
Total finance income 39,283  22,929  57,388  25,073 
        
Funding costs and interest on assignment (14,163)  (8,856)  (24,167)  (9,090) 
Interest on borrowing (151,825)  (94,898)  (281,103)  (123,474) 
Swap (a) (26,620)  (17,723)  (28,567)  (18,525) 
Other finance costs (16,747)  (15,112)  (27,935)  (16,920) 

        
Total finance costs (209,355)  (136,589)  (361,772)  (168,009) 

        
Total (170,072)  (113,660)  (304,384)  (142,936) 

 
(a) The amount of R$918 relates to the recognition of mark-to-market revenue, and R$25,700 relates to 

interest expenses in the Parent Company. In the Consolidated, mark-to-market revenue totaled 
R$753, and interest expenses R$27,814. 

 
 
24 Other operating income (expenses) 

 Parent company  Consolidated 

 

 
2018  2017  2018  2017 

          

Loss on disposal of assets (*) (6,554)    (10,119)   

Other operating income (expenses) 1,500  186  2,232  (126) 

        

Total other operating income (expenses) (5,054)  186  (7,887)  (126) 

    
(*) As described in Note 1.1., the Company acquired control of Unidas S.A. on March 9, 2018, and, as a 
result of this acquisition, changed its brand. As a result of this change, the façades of stores were 
remodeled with the new layout of the Group, and the related expenses were recognized against 
improvements in the property and equipment. 

 
 
25 Income tax and social contribution expenses 

 
The provision for income tax and social contribution is calculated based on the taxable profit for the 
year. Taxable profit differs from the profit for the year as reported in the statement of income, since it 
excludes items of income or expenses that are taxable or deductible over a different period, and further 
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. 
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The reconciliation between the nominal and effective expenses for the years ended December 31 is as 
follows: 
 

   
Parent 

company    Consolidated 

 

 
2018   2017  2018  2017 

           

Profit for the year before taxation 187,610  69,909  242,126  80,855 

Statutory rates 34%  34%  34%  34% 

Income tax and social contribution at the nominal rate (63,787)  (23,769)  (82,323)  (27,491) 

        

Adjustments to the nominal expense:        

Equity in the results of subsidiaries 36,472  7,359     

Interest on capital 29,630  5,566  29,630  5,566 

Other (additions) deductions, net (6,601)  7,502  33,781  12,218 

(*) Tax incentive from "Lei do Bem"(Law 11,196/05) 605    1,902   
 
Current income tax and social contribution expenses (3,681)  (3,342)  (17,010)  (9,707) 

        
Total deferred income tax and social contribution 
expenses (Note 8) 5,273  (5,969)  (35,914)  (10,550) 

Total income tax and social contribution expenses  1,592  (9,311)  (52,924)  (20,257) 
 

 
(*) During 2018, the Group formally adhered to the “Lei do Bem” tax incentive, related to 2017. This 
incentive allows technological development expenses to be deducted from the income tax for the year in 
which they were incurred, within the limits established by the respective law. The impact of this tax 
incentive on the income tax and social contribution expense amounted to R$ 605 thousand in the Parent 
Company, and R$1,902 thousand in the Consolidated.  
 
 

26 Segment reporting 
 
Operating segments are defined as components that carry out business activities: (i) which may earn 
revenue and incur expenses; (ii) whose operating results are regularly reviewed by management to make 
decisions; and (iii) for which separate financial information is available.  
 
The Group has defined the following two operating segments, which are managed separately based on 
the reports used for strategic decision-making by the Executive Board and the Board of Directors: (i) 
rental of vehicles under long-term contracts ("fleet"); and (ii) rental of vehicles under short-term 
contracts (“RAC” or “rent-a-car”), carried out by its indirect subsidiary Unidas Locadora de Veículos 
Ltda. The accounting policies of these operating segments are the same as those described in Note 2 or 
in the explanatory notes to the respective line items. 
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Below is a breakdown of the Group's results by segment, not including the results of fleet renewal 
activities (semi-used vehicles): 
 
 2018  2017 

         
Consolidated 

 RAC  Fleet   Consolidated  Fleet 

            

Net operating revenue  501,573  959,534               1,461,107              605,035  
Net operating revenue from semi-new 
vehicles 

623,276  832,812              1,456,088   
            489,579  

Cost of rentals and services (792,431)  (969,473)            (1,761,904)           (641,884) 

Gross profit             332,418                   822,873               1,155,291               452,730  

 
       

Selling expenses  (89,439)  (76,362)                (165,801)           (45,749) 

General and administrative expenses  (40,992)  (99,897)                (140,889)            (45,514) 

Other operating income (expenses), net (1,788)  (6,099)                     (7,887)                  (126) 

EBITDA             200,199                   640,515                   840,714             361,341  
        

Depreciation             (70,653)                (223,551)               (294,204)         (137,550) 

EBIT             129,546                   416,964                   546,510            223,791  
        

Finance costs, net               (84,615)                (219,769)               (304,384)         (142,936) 

EBT                44,931                    197,195                   242,126               80,855  
        

Taxes             (22,028)                  (30,896)                  (52,924)           (20,257) 

 
Profit 

             
   22,903  

      
            166,299  

              
    189,202  

  
            60,598  

 
The Group's management understands that the fleet renewal activity (sale of semi-new vehicles) is not a 
separate operating segment, as this activity is inherent in the operations of the fleet and RAC segments.  
 
The Group does not segregate its assets and liabilities by segment to manage its business, and, therefore, 
does not present the balance sheet by business segment. 
 
 

27 Capital commitments 
 
The Group's contractual obligations and commitments comprise only the repayments of borrowing and 
debentures, according to the schedule presented in Note 14. 
 
 

28       Basic and diluted earnings per share 
 

(a) Basic earnings (loss) per share 
 
Basic earnings (loss) per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the shareholders of 
the Company at the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year, excluding 
common shares purchased and held as treasury shares. 
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Parent company and 
Consolidated 

  
2018 

  
2017 

 
Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Group 

 
189,202 

 
 

60,598 

Weighted average number of outstanding common shares (in thousands) 146,712  80,947 

 
Basic earnings per share - R$ 

 
1.2896 

 
 

0.7486 

 
(b) Diluted earnings (loss) per share 

 
Diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding to assume the conversion of all potential common shares with dilutive effects. For the share 
options, a calculation is carried out to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at 
fair value (determined as the average annual market share price of the Company's shares) based on the 
monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding share options. The number of shares 
calculated as above is compared to the number of shares that would be outstanding assuming the 
exercise of all of the share options. 
 

 

Parent company and 
Consolidated 

  
2018 

  
2017 

 
Profit 

 
189,202 

 
 

60,598 

 Weighted average number of outstanding common shares (in thousands) 146,712  80,947 

    Adjustments for stock options (in thousands) (Note 18) 2,192  1,879 

Weighted average number of common shares for diluted earnings per  
   share (in thousands) 

 
148,904 

 
 

82,826 

 
Diluted earnings per share - R$ 

 
0.7870 

 
 

0.7316 

 
 

29 Insurance coverage (unaudited) 
 
Under its risk management program to mitigate risks, the Group contracts in the market insurance 
coverage compatible with its size and operations. The insurance amounts are considered sufficient by 
management to cover possible losses, taking into account the risks associated with the Company's assets 
and/or responsibilities. At December 31, 2018, the Company had the following insurance coverage: 

 
Risks covered   
     
Material damages  847,602 
Bodily injuries  50,025 

 
At December 31, 2018, the Company had a liability insurance policy covering 58,512 vehicles, of which 
19,810 had comprehensive insurance coverage. 
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30 Commitments undertaken by the subsidiary Unidas S.A. 
 
Unidas S.A. offers direct rentals of vehicles without a driver at the major airports in Brazil, while its 
franchisees carry out the same vehicle rental operations in other airports nationwide.  
 
These vehicle rental operations are carried out under a tender procedure, where the Company or its 
Franchisees made the winning bid and signed agreements for the use of the area either with the 
Grantor, which is the Brazilian Airport Infrastructure Company (INFRAERO), private companies that 
hold airport concession agreements, or with municipal and/or state companies responsible for airport 
management in their respective cities or states.   
 
The purpose of these agreements is the granting of a concession of an area for the exploitation of vehicle 
lease operations, either through the installation of a store on the airport's premises to offer vehicle lease 
services, or through the concession of an area to enable the provision of the same services, but also the 
possibility of storing the vehicles (a yard) on the airport's premises. 
 
The prices paid for the concession to use the area adjacent to airports may be a fixed monthly amount or 
a minimum fixed monthly amount, which varies based on the location of each airport, plus an 
additional agreed-upon amount, to be calculated according to the gross monthly revenue of the store 
installed at an airport, ranging from 5% to 8.5%.  
 
The fixed monthly amount or minimum fixed monthly amount is annually adjusted by government 
indexes, mostly the National Consumer Price Index (INPC), 
 
There may also be other adjustments due to changes in the tax legislation that affect the economic and 
financial balance of the agreements, or when the amounts are below the market prices. 
 
The average term of the concession agreements is 60 months, and the agreements may be renewed at 
the sole discretion of the airports, in compliance with the minimum and maximum terms established by 
paragraph 2 of Article 1 of Law 9,074/1995.  
 
Certain concession areas provided with a proper structure already available, and the operator does not 
need to carry out any construction or improvements. However, in other cases, the concession operator 
is responsible for the construction of all the infrastructure required to provide services to its customers. 
In these cases, the operator will not be entitled to any indemnification or retention for the investments 
made. 
 
The concession operator is also responsible for obtaining any permits that may be required for its 
operations, including environmental permits, if applicable, as well as for training its staff to provide the 
services, as may be required by the Grantor. 

  
In addition, Unidas leases real estate outside the airports, also for the installation of its RAC segment 
stores. The Company is not disclosing its obligations arising from store rental commitments, as these 
contracts will be within the scope of the adjustments following the adoption of IFRS 16/CPC 06, as 
disclosed in Note 2.19. 
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31        Events after the reporting date 
 

              Investment agreement with NTC Serviços Ltda. 
 
On January 3, 2019, the General Superintendence of the Administrative Council for Economic Defense 
(CADE) approved without restrictions the acquisition of single control provided for in the Investment 
Agreement signed between the Company and NTC Serviços Ltda, which will only take effects after the 
expiry of the legal term of 15 (fifteen) days for filing an appeal against the decision rendered by CADE, 
and the consequent publication of the final and unappealable decision. 
 
On January 31, 2019, the Shareholders’ Extraordinary General Meeting approved the merger of shares 
and the conversion of NTC into a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The consequent capital 
increase in the Company will be subscribed and paid-up by means of a contribution of economic value in 
the form of the 17,528,101 shares of NTC that are not owned by the Company, in accordance with the 
Subscription List, Annex III, as follows: 
 
(a) The Company’s capital will be increased by R$36,772; 
(b) The Company will issue 1,379,310 new registered, book-entry, common shares without par value, 
representing 0.9328% of its share capital; and 
(c) Accordingly, the Company’s share capital will increase from R$1,969,517 to R$ 2,006,289.  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 *          *          * 



 

 
 

 
Officers' Statement on the Financial Statements 
 
 
In compliance with item VI of Article 25 of CVM Instruction 480 of December 7, 2009, the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of Companhia de Locação das Américas, a 
corporation headquartered at Avenida Engenheiro Caetano Álvares, 150, Limão, São Paulo, State of 
São Paulo, and enrolled in the National Corporate Taxpayers' Registry (CNPJ) under No. 10. 
215.988/0001-60, hereby state that they have: 
 
i. reviewed, discussed and approved the financial statements of Companhia de Locação das Américas 
for the year ended December 31, 2018. 
 
 
Belo Horizonte, February 25, 2019 
 
 
Luis Fernando M. Porto - CEO 
 
 
Marco Túlio de Carvalho Oliveira - CFO  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
 

 
Officers’ Statement on the Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
In compliance with item VI of Article 25 of CVM Instruction 480, of December 7, 2009, the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of Companhia de Locação das Américas, a 
corporation headquartered at Avenida Engenheiro Caetano Álvares, 150, Limão, São Paulo, State of 
São Paulo, registered with the National Corporate Taxpayers' Registry (CNPJ) under No. 10. 
215.988/0001-60, hereby state that they have: 
 
i. reviewed, discussed and agreed with the conclusion expressed in the independent auditor's report 
(PwC Auditores Independentes) on the financial statements of Companhia de Locação das Américas 
for the year ended December 31, 2018. 
 
 
Belo Horizonte, February 25, 2019 
 
 
Luis Fernando M. Porto - CEO 
 
Marco Túlio de Carvalho Oliveira - CFO  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
Luís Fernando Memoria Porto 

CEO 
 
 

Marco Túlio de Carvalho Oliveira  
CFO  

 
 

Rodrigo Ziccardi Carvalho 
General Manager of the Shared Service Center 

CRC-MG 097.874/O-3 
 
 

Juliana Chrispin Gavineli 
Accounting Manager 
CRC-SP 291.159/O-0 
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COMPANHIA DE LOCAÇÃO DAS AMÉRICAS 
Corporate Taxpayer Registration No. (CNPJ/MF) 10.215.988/0001-60 State 

Registration No. (NIRE): 35300359569 
(Publicly-Held Company with Authorized Capital) 

 
 
 

BY-LAWS 
 

CHAPTER I 
NAME, PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS, BUSINESS PURPOSE, AND DURATION 

 

Article 1 - Companhia de Locação das Américas (“Company”), which adopts the assumed name 

“Unidas”, is a joint -stock company with authorized capital, governed by these By-Laws (“By-

Laws”) and by the applicable provisions of law, especially Law No. 6.404, of December 15, 1976, 

as amended (“Corporation Law”).  

 

Paragraph 1 – With the admission of the Company in the special listing segment referred 

to as Novo Mercado of B3 S.A. – Brasil, Bolsa, Balcão (“Novo Mercado” and “B3”, 

respectively), the Company, its shareholders, managers and members of the Fiscal Council, 

when installed, shall be subject to the provisions of the Novo Mercado Regulations of B3 

(“Novo Mercado Regulations”). 

 

Paragraph 2 – The provisions of the Novo Mercado Regulations shall prevail over the 

provisions of the By-Laws in the event of prejudice to the rights of the offerees of the 

public offerings provided for in these By-Laws.  

 

Article 2 – The principal place of business of the Company is in the City of São Paulo, State of 

São Paulo, at Rua Alameda (sic) Santos, No. 438, District of Paraíso, Postal Code: 01.418-000, 

and registered office in the City of Belo Horizonte, State of Minas Gerais, at Rua Amoroso Costa, 

348, District of Santa Lúcia, Postal Code: 30.350-570. 

 

Sole Paragraph – The Company may, by resolution of the Executive Board, open, transfer 

and/or close branches, offices or places of business of any kind, anywhere in Brazil or 

abroad, without prior authorization of the Board of Directors.  

 

Article 3 – The business purpose of the Company consists of (i) the business of national and 

imported car rental, with or without chauffeur, and (ii) holding interest in other companies, as 

member or shareholder. 

 

Article 4 – The duration of the Company shall be indefinite. 
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CHAPTER II 
CAPITAL STOCK 

 

Article 5 – The capital stock of the Company is two billion six million two hundred and eighty-nine 

thousand nine hundred and eighty-four Reais and eight (R$2,006,289,984.08), fully subscribed 

and paid-in, divided into one hundred and forty-nine thousand (sic) two hundred and forty-three 

thousand one hundred and thirty-seven (149,243,137) registered book-entry common shares 

without par value.  

 

Paragraph 1 – The capital stock of the Company is represented only by common shares. 

 

Paragraph 2 - Each registered common share entitles its holder to one vote in the 

resolutions of the Shareholders’ Meetings of the Company.  

 

Paragraph 3 – All shares of the Company are book-entry shares kept in a deposit account 

held in the name of the holders with a financial institution authorized by the Brazilian 

Securities Commission (“CVM”), with which the Company has entered into a custody 

agreement which is in effect, without the issue of certificates. The depositary institution 

may charge to the shareholders the cost of the services of transfer and registration of the 

ownership of the book-entry shares, as well as the cost of the services relating to the 

shares kept in custody, subject to the maximum limits set by CVM.  

 

Paragraph 4 – The Company may not issue preferred shares or founder’s shares.  

 

Paragraph 5 – The shares are indivisible in which regards the Company. Whenever a share 

is held by more than one person, the rights conferred by it shall be exercised by the 

representative of the joint owners. 

 

Paragraph 6 – The shareholders have a preemptive right, proportionally to their respective 

shareholding interest, to subscribe for shares, debentures convertible into shares or 

warrants issued by the Company, which may be exercised within the legal timeframe, 

subject to the provisions of paragraph 3, article 6, of these By-Laws. 

 

Article 6 – The Company is authorized to increase the capital stock up to the limit of one billion 

five hundred million Reais (R$1,500,000,000.00), regardless of amendment to the By-Laws, upon 

resolution of the Board of Directors, and the Board of Directors shall establish the conditions for 

the issue, including the price, term and form of payment.  

 

Paragraph 1 – Upon subscription of new shares in capital increase with payment in assets, 

the respective valuation report shall be previously approved by the Shareholders’ Meeting, 

after the opinion of the Fiscal Council, if installed. 
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Paragraph 2 – Up to the limit of the authorized capital, the Company may, by resolution of 

the Board of Directors, issue common shares, warrants, and debentures convertible into 

common shares. 

 

Paragraph 3 – At the discretion of the Shareholders’ Meeting or the Board of Directors, as 

applicable, the preemptive right may be excluded or the period of time for the exercise 

thereof may be reduced in the issues of common shares, warrants, and debentures 

convertible into shares or warrants, the placement thereof is made upon (i) sale in stock 

exchange or public subscription, or (ii) swap of shares in public offering for acquisition of 

control, according to the law, and, in the event of the Board of Directors, within the limit 

of the authorized capital. 

 

Article 7 – The Company may, by resolution of the Board of Directors, acquire its own shares to 

keep them as treasury shares and subsequently dispose of or cancel them, without reduction in 

the capital stock, subject to the applicable provisions of law and regulations.  

 

Article 8 – The Company may, by resolution of the Board of Directors and according to a plan 

approved by the Shareholders’ Meeting, grant options to buy or subscribe for shares, without 

preemptive rights of shareholders, to the managers, employees, and collaborators, and such 

option may also be given to the managers and employees of the companies directly or indirectly 

controlled by the Company. 

 

Article 9 – Any party that acquires or disposes of shares issued by the Company, even if it is 

already a shareholder or group of shareholders, is required to disclose, upon notice (i) to the 

Company, and the Company shall in turn disclose to the CVM, the stock exchanges in which the 

securities issued by it are traded; and (ii) to the CVM, the acquisition or disposal of shares 

exceeding, upwards or downwards, five percent (5%), ten percent (10%), fifteen (15%), and so 

on successively, of the capital stock of the Company.  

Sole Paragraph – Such obligation shall similarly apply to the holders of debentures or other 

securities convertible into shares and warrants conferring on their holders the right to 

acquire shares in the percentages provided for in this article. Without prejudice to the other 

penalties provided for by law and in the CVM’s regulations, the shareholder that fails to 

comply with such obligations shall have its rights suspended, pursuant to article 120 of the 

Corporation Law and Article 30 of these By-Laws, except for the essential rights provided 

for in article 109 of the Corporation Law, provided that such suspension shall cease as soon 

as the obligation is performed.  

 

CHAPTER III 
MANAGEMENT 

 
SECTION I - MISCELLANEOUS 
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Article 10 – The Company shall be managed by a Board of Directors and by an Executive Board, 

which shall be vested with the powers conferred upon them by these By-Laws, the Corporation 

Law and the applicable regulations.  

 

Article 11 – The sitting and alternate members of the Board of Directors, Executive Board and 

Fiscal Council shall take office upon signing an oath of office, which shall include their agreement 

to comply with the arbitration clause referred to in Article 50 of these By-Laws, and with the 

applicable statutory requirements.  

 

Paragraph 1 – Immediately after taking office, the managers shall notify the Company, its 

controlling or controlled companies, in the latter two cases so long as they are publicly-

held companies, of the number and the characteristics of the securities issued by the 

Company that are directly or indirectly owned by said managers, including its Derivatives. 

 

Paragraph 2 – For purposes of these By-Laws, “Derivatives” means securities traded in the 

futures market or other assets backed by or related to securities issued by the Company. 

  

Paragraph 3 – The managers of the Company shall comply with the policy on disclosure of 

relevant act or fact and the policy on the trade of securities issued by the Company upon 

the signature of the respective adhesion agreement. 

 

Article 12 - The Board of Directors may create technical or supervisory committees to assist it in 

the management of the Company, with defined objectives and duties.  

 

Paragraph 1 – The Company shall have (i) an Audit and Risk Management Committee, (ii) 

a Compliance Committee, (iii) a Used Car Committee, (iv) a Personnel Management 

Committee, (v) a Rent a Car Committee, and (vi) a Fleet Management Committee. The 

Board of Directors shall establish the rules applicable to said committees, including the 

function, composition, management term, compensation, and operation. 

 

Paragraph 2 – The same obligations and prohibitions imposed on the managers by the 

Company and by the Laws and these By-Laws shall also apply to the members of the 

committees. 

 

Paragraph 3 – The Audit and Risk Management Committee, which is an advisory body 

related to the Board of Directors, shall consist of at least three (3) members, provided that 

at least one (1) of them shall be an independent director of the Company, and at least one 

(1) of them shall be a reputed and experienced expert on corporate accounting matters.  

 

Paragraph 4 – The same member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee may hold 

both offices referred to in paragraph three. 

 

Paragraph 5 – The duties of coordinator of the Audit and Risk Management Committee 

shall be defined in its internal rules, as approved by the Board of Directors. 
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Paragraph 6 – Among other duties, the Audit and Risk Management Committee shall:  

 

(i) give opinion on the hiring and removal of the independent auditors;  

(ii) assess the quarterly information, interim statements, and financial statements;  

(iii) follow up on the internal audit and the internal control of the Company;  

(iv) assess and monitor the Company’s exposure to risks;  

(v) assess, monitor and recommend to the management the correction or 

improvement of the Company’s internal policies, including the policy on 

transactions between related parties; and 

(vi) have means to receive and deal with information about noncompliance with legal 

and normative provisions applicable to the Company, as well as internal 

regulations and codes, including with provision of specific procedures to protect 

the provider and the confidentiality of the information. 

 

Paragraph 7 – The Rent a Car Committee (RAC), which is a supporting advisory body of 

the Board of Directors, shall consist of three (3) members and shall have, among other 

functions, the duty to assist and give recommendations to the Executive Board and to the 

Company’s Board of Directors, its subsidiaries and its franchises, including, but not limited 

to, (i) the preparation of the business plan; (ii) the valuation of the market conditions of 

the segment of the RAC; (iii) the price and performance strategies; (iv) the following-up 

and monitoring of the activities of the RAC segment; and (v) the issues that may be 

submitted to it by the Executive Board or the Board of Directors, as well as those that it 

deems relevant. 

 

Paragraph 8 – The Fleet Management Committee, which a supporting advisory body of the 

Board of Directors, shall consist of three (3) members and shall have, among other 

functions, the duty to assist and make recommendations to the Executive Board and the 

Board of Directors da Company and its subsidiaries, including, but not limited to, (i) the 

preparation of the business plan; (ii) the assessment of the market conditions of the 

segment of Outsourcing and Management of Fleets; (iii) the price and performance 

strategies; (iv) the following-up and monitoring of the activities of the segment of 

Outsourcing and Management of Fleets; and (v) the issues that may be submitted to it by 

the Executive Board or the Board of Directors, as well as those that it deems relevant. 

 

Article 13 – The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting shall set the limit of annual global compensation 

of the managers of the Company, and the Board of Directors shall resolve on its distribution 

among its members. 
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SECTION II - BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

 

Article 14 – The Board of Directors consists of at least five (5) and no more than nine (9) 

members, all elected and removable from office by the Shareholders’ Meeting, with a unified term 

of office of two (2) years, and reelection is permitted.  

 

Paragraph 1 – The greater of at least two (2) members of the Board of Directors or twenty 

percent (20%) of its members, shall be independent directors, and the characteristics of 

those appointed to the Board of Directors as independent directors shall be resolved at the 

Shareholders’ Meeting at which they are appointed. Any director elected as provided for in 

article 141, paragraphs 4 and 5 of the Corporation Law shall also be deemed to be an 

independent director, without prejudice to the definition given in Article 41 of these By-

Laws, in the case of a controlling shareholder. 

 

Paragraph 2 - An independent director shall be a Director who: (i) has no relation with the 

Company other than interest in its capital; (ii) is not a controlling shareholder or spouse or 

relative until the second degree of a controlling shareholder, or is not and has not been in 

the last three (3) years related to a company or entity related to the controlling shareholder 

(persons related to learning and/or research public institutions are excluded from this 

restriction); (iii) has not been in the last three (3) years an employee or Officer of the 

Company, of the controlling shareholder of a company controlled by the Company; (iv) is 

not a direct or indirect supplier or buyer of services and/or products of the Company in a 

quantity that implies loss of independency; (v) is not an employee or manager of any 

company or entity that is supplying or demanding services and/or products to the Company 

in a quantity implying loss of independence; (vi) is not a spouse or relative until the second 

degree of any manager of the Company; and (vii) does not receive compensation from the 

Company other than the compensation as Director (amounts in cash from interest in the 

capital are excluded from this restriction). 

 

Paragraph 3 – If, as result of the calculation of the percentage referred to in the paragraph 

above, a fractional number may arise, the Company shall round such number to the next 

immediately succeeding upper whole number.  

 

Paragraph 4 – The members of the Board of Directors shall take office upon signing their 

oath of office in the Book of Minutes of Meetings of the Board of Directors within thirty 

(30) days after being elected. The members of the Board of Directors may be removed 

from office at any time by the Shareholders’ Meeting, and shall remain in their respective 

offices until their successors take office, except as otherwise resolved by the Shareholders’ 

Meeting. 

 

Paragraph 5 – The members of the Board of Directors shall be have good reputation, and 

no person may be elected, except with the express waiver of the Shareholders’ Meeting at 

which he/she is elected, who: (i) holds office in companies deemed competitors of the 
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Company; or who (ii) has or represents to have interests in conflict with those of the 

Company. No right to vote may be exercised by the members of the Board of Directors if 

it is verified thereafter that they are prohibited to exercise such right as provided for in this 

paragraph. 

 

Paragraph 6 – The members of the Board of Directors may not have access to information 

or attend meetings of the Board of Directors relating to matters in which they have or 

represent interests in conflict with those of the Company, and they shall be expressly 

prohibited from exercising their voting right on such matters. 

 

Paragraph 7 – The members of the Board of Directors may not be absent from the 

performance of their duties for more than thirty (30) consecutive calendar days, under 

penalty of being removed from office, except in the event of leave of absence granted by 

the Board of Directors itself. 

 

Paragraph 8 – No person may simultaneously hold office as Chairman of the Board of 

Directors and chief executive officer or principal executive of the Company.  

 

Article 15 – The Board of Directors shall have one (1) Chairman and one (1) Vice-Chairman, who 

shall be elected by absolute majority of votes of the attending members at the first meeting of 

the Board of Directors immediately after said members take office, or whenever a vacancy occurs 

in said positions.  

 

Article 16 - The Board of Directors shall meet (i) regularly, every month; and (ii) extraordinarily 

whenever it is convened by any of its members upon notice by telegram, facsimile, email or any 

other written means (with acknowledgment of receipt) given at least two (2) business days in 

advance, specifying the date, time and agenda of the meeting. 

 

Paragraph 1 – No issue that has not been included in the respective agenda informed in 

the call notice may be approved at the meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors, 

except as otherwise agreed by all the directors of the Company. 

 

Paragraph 2 – The meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held on the first call with 

the presence of the majority of its members, and on second call with any number of 

members.  

 

Paragraph 3 – Regardless of the call notice requirements provided for in this article, if all 

Directors attend a meeting, such meeting shall be deemed a regular meeting. 

 

Paragraph 4 – The resolutions of the Board of Directors shall be taken by affirmative vote 

of the majority of the attending parties, including those casting their vote in the manner 

provided for in article 17, paragraph 1, of these By-Laws.  
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Paragraph 5 – In the event of equality in the resolutions, the Chairman of the Board of 

Directors or his alternate shall be entitled to a second or casting vote. 

 

Article 17 - The meetings of the Board of Directors shall be chaired by the Chairman of the Board 

of Directors and the secretary shall be whomever the Chairman may appoint. In the event of 

temporary absence of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, these meetings shall be chaired by 

the Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors or, in his/her absence, by a Director chosen by a 

majority of the votes of the other members of the Board of Directors, and the chairman of the 

meeting shall appoint the Secretary. 

 

Paragraph 1 - In case of temporary absence of any member of the Board of Directors, the 

respective member of the Board of Directors may, based on the agenda of the matters to 

be discussed, express their vote in writing, by means of a letter or facsimile delivered to 

the Chairman of the Board of Directors, on the date of the meeting, or by digitally certified 

electronic mail. In the event of temporary absence of the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman or 

any other member of the Board of Directors, they may be represented at meetings of the 

Board of Directors by another member of the Board of Directors appointed in writing, who, 

in addition to their own vote, shall express the vote of the Director who is temporarily 

absent. 

 

Paragraph 2 - In case of vacancy in the office of any member of the Board of Directors, 

the substitute shall be appointed, to complete the respective term of office, by the 

Shareholders’ Meeting. In the event of vacancy in most of the offices, the Shareholders’ 

Meeting shall be immediately called to elect the substitutes, who shall complete the term 

of office of those who have been replaced. For purposes of this paragraph, vacancy occurs 

upon removal from office, death, resignation, proven impediment, absence for more than 

thirty (30) days or disability. 

 

Paragraph 3 - The resignation of a director from office shall be made by means of a written 

notice to the Company addressed to the Chairman of the Board of Directors or, in case of 

resignation of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, to the shareholders, and it shall 

become effective with respect to the Company as from the time of delivery of the notice 

and, with respect to third parties, after publication of filing of the resignation document 

with the Commercial Registry. 

 

Article 18 - The meetings of the Board of Directors shall be preferably held at the Company’s 

principal place of business. Meetings can be held by teleconference or videoconference, or other 

means of communication, and attendance in such a way shall be deemed attendance in person 

at said meeting. In this case, Directors who attend the Board meeting remotely may express their 

votes, on the date of the meeting, by means of a letter or facsimile or digitally certified electronic 

mail. 

 

Paragraph 1 - At the end of the meeting, minutes shall be drawn up, which shall be signed 

by all Directors physically present at the meeting, and later transcribed in the Book of 
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Minutes of the Company’s Board of Directors. The votes cast by Directors who attend the 

Board meeting remotely or who have pronounced pursuant to article 17, paragraph 1 of 

these By-Laws shall also be recorded in the Book of Minutes the Board of Directors, and a 

copy of the letter, facsimile or electronic message, as the case may be, containing the vote 

of the Director, shall be attached to the Book as soon as the minutes have been transcribed. 

 

Paragraph 2 - The minutes of the meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors that 

contain resolutions designed to have effects in relation to third parties shall be published 

and filed with the public registry of mercantile companies. 

 

Paragraph 3 - The Board of Directors may admit other attendees in its meetings, with the 

purpose of monitoring the resolutions and/or providing clarifications of any nature, 

however, they shall be barred from voting. 

 

Article 19 - Without prejudice to the other powers provided by law, the Board of Directors shall:  

 

(i) establish the general orientation of the Company’s business, ensuring its proper 

performance; 

(ii) convene the Shareholders’ Meeting in the cases provided for by law or whenever 

deeming convenient; 

(iii) previously pronounce on any proposal to be submitted to the Shareholders’ 

Meeting; 

(iv) elect and remove from office the members of the Executive Board and establish 

their duties and compensation, as well as resolve on the change in the number 

of members and composition, subject to the provisions applicable under these 

By-Laws and the applicable laws; 

(v) distribute among the Directors and Executive Officers, individually, the portion of 

the annual global compensation of the managers set by the Shareholders’ 

Meeting;  

(vi) approve the creation of technical or advisory committees to advise the Board of 

Directors;  

(vii) pronounce on the management report and the accounts of the Executive Board, 

as well as on the financial statements for the year to be submitted to the Annual 

Shareholders’ Meeting and submit to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting a 

proposal for the allocation of net income for each fiscal year; 

(viii) approve the Company’s annual business plan and annual budget, any expansion 

projects and investment programs, and monitor the implementation thereof;  

(ix) review the Company’s quarterly results; 

(x) approve (i) any acquisition or disposal of equity interest in the capital stock of 

any Controlled Company, affiliate or any other company or consortium; and (ii) 

creation and dissolution of subsidiaries and Controlled Companies, in Brazil or 

abroad;  
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(xi) approve any commitment with financial obligations by the Company and its 

controlled companies at an amount, individually considered, in excess of fifty 

million Reais (R$50,000,000.00); 

(xii) supervise the management of the Executive Board, examine at any time the 

books and papers of the Company, request information on contracts execution 

or in the process of execution by the Company and on any other acts deemed 

necessary;  

(xiii) approve the human resources policy and compensation criteria, rights and 

advantages of the Company’s managers and employees;  

(xiv) grant stock options to its managers and employees, without preemptive right to 

shareholders under the terms of the plans approved by the Shareholders’ 

Meeting, pursuant to Article 8 of these By-Laws; 

(xv) choose and remove independent auditors;  

(xvi) submit to the Shareholders’ Meeting proposals for capital increase above the 

authorized capital limit, or with payment in assets, as well as amendments to the 

By-Laws; 

(xvii) authorize the issuance of shares or bonds convertible into shares within the limit 

of the authorized capital, bonds not convertible into shares or other securities, as 

well as issues to raise funds, such as notes, commercial papers or others of 

common use in the market, deciding on the issuance and redemption conditions, 

and may also exclude (or reduce term) the preemptive right in the issuance of 

shares, warrants and convertible bonds within the authorized capital whose call 

is made through (i) sale on a stock exchange or (ii) public subscription or (iii) 

exchange for shares in a public offering for acquisition of control, under the terms 

established in the applicable law;  

(xviii) resolve on the acquisition of shares issued by the Company for cancellation or to 

be held as treasury shares, as well as on resale, repositioning in the market or 

cancellation, subject to the norms issued by the CVM (Brazilian Securities and 

Exchange Commission) and other applicable legal provisions; 

(xix) declare interim dividends, as well as interest on shareholders’ equity, pursuant to 

the Brazilian Corporation Law and other applicable laws;  

(xx) approve the provision of any guarantees;  

(xxi) express a favorable or contrary opinion to any public offering for the acquisition 

of shares for the shares issued by the Company by means of a prior informed 

opinion, disclosed within fifteen (15) days of the publication of the notice of the 

public offering for acquisition of shares, which should address, at least: (i) the 

convenience and timeliness of the public offering for the acquisition of shares 

regarding the interest of all shareholders, including in relation to the price and 

potential impacts to the liquidity of the shares; (ii) the repercussions of the public 

offering for acquisition of shares over the Company’s interests; (iii) the strategic 

plans disclosed by the offeror in relation to the Company; (iv) regarding 

alternatives to the acceptance of the public offering for the acquisition of shares 

available in the market; and (v) other points that the Board of Directors may 
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deem pertinent, as well as the information required by the applicable rules 

established by the CVM; 

(xxii) vote on any other matter submitted to it by the Executive Board; 

(xxiii) approve the acquisition or disposal of any assets, including real estate (whether 

in a single transaction or in a series of related transactions), by the Company 

and/or any subsidiary for more than ten million Reais (R$10,000,000.00), if such 

acquisition or disposal is not provided for in the Company’s annual business plan 

or annual budget;  

(xxiv) approve the creation of liens, encumbrances or any other security interest on the 

assets of the Company and/or its subsidiaries outside the normal course of 

activities of the Company and/or its subsidiaries, as the case may be, for an 

amount in excess of ten million Reais (R$10,000,000.00);  

(xxv) approve the execution, amendment and/or termination of a contract of any kind 

with customers, suppliers and/or service providers, whose individual value of the 

respective contract is greater than one hundred percent (100%) of the 

Company’s shareholders’ equity and/or that of its controlled companies; 

(xxvi) approval of obligations or expenses, by the Company, in an amount greater than 

ten percent (10%) of the amount foreseen in the Company’s annual budget; and 

(xxvii) engagement in or assumption or commitment of any act that renders the 

Company or any of its controlled companies liable for any indebtedness that 

causes the Company’s Net Debt/EBITDA ratio, calculated on a quarterly basis and 

considering the EBITDA values of the last twelve (12) months, to be greater than 

three point twenty-five (3.25); and 

(xxviii) to approve the following transactions between the Company and its related 

parties, except its affiliates: (a) financing/loan agreements; (b) disposal of 

vehicles up to the amount of R$12,000,000.00 per year, provided that the 

prices charged are in accordance with the minimum prices defined in the 

month of sale of the Semi-New Committee; (c) disposal and rental of vehicles 

to Employees, provided that in compliance with the terms and conditions 

established in the Policy of Benefits in effect at the time of the sale; and 

(d) purchase of parts and services, up to the amount of R$4,000,000.00 per 

year, provided that in compliance with the terms and conditions established in 

the Purchase Policy in effect at the time of the purchase. (For purposes of this 

article: (i) affiliate shall mean any legal entity directly or indirectly controlled 

by the Company; and (ii) related parties shall mean the shareholders, officers 

and members of the Company’s Board of Directors and their respective 

spouses, siblings, ascendants or descendants in first or second degree, or any 

entities in which any shareholders, statutory officers and members of the 

Company’s Board of Directors may elect, under the law, by voting agreement 

or any other kind of agreement, one (1) or more statutory officers or members 
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of the Board of Directors), or have any influence on the direction of the 

Company’s activities and guidance of its bodies). 

 

 

Sole Paragraph - The members of the Board of Directors who are also Executive Officers shall 

abstain from voting on matters provided for in items (v), (xiii) and (xiv) of this article 19, 

without prejudice to other restrictions imposed by law. 

 

Article 20 - The Chairman or the Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors shall represent the 

Board of Directors in the Shareholders’ Meetings. 

 

SECTION III - EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 
Article 21 - The Company’s Executive Board shall be composed of at least three (3) and at most 

nine (9) members, who may be shareholders or not, resident in Brazil, elected by the Board of 

Directors, authorized to having roles accumulated by a same Executive Officer, with the following 

designations: one (1) Chief Executive Officer, one (1) Chief Financial Officer, one (1) Chief 

Investor Relations Officer, one (1) Head Rent a Car Officer (RAC) and five (5) Officers without 

specific designation. 

 

Article 22 - The Executive Officers shall be elected by the vote of a majority of the members of 

the Board of Directors, with a unified term of office of two (2) years, reelection being permitted, 

being exempted from providing security as performance bond. The executive officers shall take 

office upon signing the instrument of investiture in the proper book and shall remain in office 

until the election and investiture of their successors. 

 

Paragraph 1 - The Executive Officers may be dismissed at any time by the Board of 

Directors.  

 

Paragraph 2 - If there is a vacancy in the Executive Board, whether due to resignation, 

removal, impediment or temporary absence, the Board of Directors shall, within ten (10) 

days as from the date of vacancy, elect the replacement for the remaining term of office, 

and the Chief Executive Officer shall perform the duties of the vacant executive board office 

until the respective substitute is elected, except in cases of vacancy of the office of Chief 

Financial Officer or Investor Relations and Business Development Officer, whose duties 

may be cumulated by the Investor Relations and Business Development Officer or by the 

Chief Financial Officer, respectively, as the case may be, without the need for a new 

election, until the end of the term of office.  

 

Paragraph 3 - The Executive Officers may not fail to perform their duties for more than 

thirty (30) consecutive calendar days under penalty of loss of office, except in the case of 

a leave granted by the Executive Board itself. 
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Article 23 - The Executive Board shall meet whenever required by the Company’s business, and 

such meetings shall be convened by the Chief Executive Officer or by any of the other Officers, 

and the meeting shall be opened only with the presence of the majority of its members. 

 

Paragraph 1 - Meetings of the Executive Board may be held by teleconference, 

videoconference or other means of communication, and attendance in such a way shall be 

deemed an attendance in person at said meeting. In this case, the members of the 

Executive Board shall express their votes by means of a letter, facsimile or digitally certified 

electronic mail. 

 

Paragraph 2 - In the event of temporary absence of any Executive Officer, such Executive 

Officer may, based on the agenda of the matters to be addressed, express his/her vote in 

writing, by means of a letter or facsimile delivered to the Chief Executive Officer, or by 

electronic mail digitally certified, with proof of receipt by the Chief Executive Officer. In the 

event of temporary absence of the Chief Executive Officer or of any other member of the 

Executive Board, he/she may be represented at meetings of the Executive Board by another 

Executive Officer appointed in writing, who, in addition to his/her own vote, shall express 

the vote of the temporarily absent Executive Officer, and shall, however, comply with the 

provisions of article 26 of these By-Laws regarding the representativeness of the company. 

 

Paragraph 3 - At the end of the meeting, minutes shall be drawn up, which shall be signed 

by all Executive Officers physically present at the meeting, and later transcribed in the Book 

of Minutes of the Executive Board. The votes cast by Executive Officers who attend the 

meeting of the Executive Board remotely or who have manifested themselves in the 

manner set forth in paragraph 1 of this article shall also be recorded in the Book of Minutes 

of the Executive Board, and the copy of the letter, facsimile or electronic message, as the 

case may be, containing the vote of the Executive Officer, shall be attached to the Book as 

soon as the minutes have been transcribed.  

 

Article 24 - The resolutions at meetings of the Executive Board shall be passed by majority vote 

of those present at each meeting, or who have expressed their vote pursuant to article 23, 

paragraph 2 of these By-Laws. In the event of a tie in the resolutions, the Chief Executive Officer 

shall have the casting vote. 

 

Article 25 - The Executive Board shall manage the company’s affairs in general and engage, to 

that effect, in all necessary or convenient acts, except for those which, by law or by these By-

Laws, are assigned to the Shareholders’ Meeting or to the Board of Directors. In the exercise of 

their duties, the Executive Officers may carry out all transactions and perform all acts of ordinary 

administration necessary for the attainment of the objectives of their office, subject to the 

provisions of these By-Laws as to the form of representation, the powers to perform certain acts, 

and the general business orientation established by the Board of Directors. 

 

Paragraph 1 - The Executive Board shall exclusively:  
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a) comply with and enforce these By-Laws and the resolutions of the Board of 

Directors and of the Shareholders’ Meeting; 

b) prepare and propose to the Board of Directors the Company’s annual business 

plan and annual budget, any expansion projects and investment programs, and 

comply with and enforce the guidelines thereof; 

c) represent the Company, in accordance with the responsibilities and powers 

established in these By-Laws, by the Shareholders’ Meeting and by the Board of 

Directors; 

d) vote on the opening, transfer and/or closing of branches, offices or 

establishments of any kind, in any part of the national territory or abroad; 

e) submit annually to the consideration of the Board of Directors the Management 

Report and the accounts of the Executive Board, together with the report of the 

independent auditors, as well as the proposal to allocate the profits established 

in the previous year; 

f) approve any commitments with financial obligations, subject to the limits under 

the powers conferred on the Board of Directors; and 

g) vote on any matter that does not fall within the exclusive responsibility of the 

Shareholders’ Meeting or the Board of Directors. 

 

Paragraph 2 - The Chief Executive Officer shall, in addition to constantly coordinating the 

activities of the Executive Officers and directing the performance of the activities related 

to the Company’s general planning: (i) plan, coordinate, organize, supervise and direct the 

Company’s activities; (ii) implement the guidelines and compliance with the resolutions 

taken at Shareholders’ Meetings and at the meetings of the Board of Directors and 

Executive Board; (iii) call and chair the meetings of the Executive Board, with voting rights, 

including casting vote; (iv) establish the corporate, legal, policy and institutional guidelines 

in the development of the Company’s activities; (v) exercise the general supervision of the 

responsibilities and duties of the Executive Board; (vi) exercise other powers and 

responsibilities that are not conferred on the other executive officers and those that may 

be vested from time to time by the Board of Directors.  

 

Paragraph 3 - The Chief Financial Officer shall be responsible for the following, among 

other duties that may be established: (i) replace the Chief Executive Officer in his/her 

duties in his/her absences and disqualifications; (ii) plan, coordinate, organize, supervise 

and direct activities related to financial and accounting operations of the Company and its 

subsidiaries, including the management of treasury areas, application and fundraising, 

receivables control and accounts payable, budgeting and control of operations and 

planning, including preparation of the Company's budget; (iii) participate in negotiations 

for acquisitions, mergers, associations, etc. with other companies, aiming at the growth 

and consolidation of the business, whenever requested; and (iv) conduct activities 

delegated by the Executive President, when requested. 

 

Paragraph 4 - It is incumbent upon the Investor Relations and New Businesses Officer, 

among other attributions that may be established for him/her: (i) represent the Company 
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before the controlling entities and other institutions that operate in the capital markets, 

and he/she shall be responsible for providing information to investors, the CVM, the Central 

Bank of Brazil, the Stock Exchanges where the Company has its securities traded and other 

bodies related to the activities carried out in the capital markets, in accordance with 

applicable law, in Brazil and abroad; (ii) participate in decisions regarding the feasibility of 

new business of the Company; and (iii) participate in negotiations for acquisitions, mergers, 

associations etc. with other companies, aiming at the growth and consolidation of the 

business, whenever requested.  

 

Paragraph 5 - It is the responsibility of the Head Rent a Car Officer (RAC), among other 

responsibilities that may be established: (i) to plan, coordinate, organize, supervise and 

direct the activities of the Company, its subsidiaries and franchises, related to the RAC 

Segment; (ii) implement the guidelines and compliance with the resolutions adopted at 

Shareholders’ Meetings and in the meetings of the Board of Directors and Executive Board 

related to the RAC Segment; (iii) evaluate the market conditions of the RAC segment; and 

(iv) represent the Company before the control bodies and the RAC Segment.  

 

Article 26 - The Company shall assume obligations when represented:  

 

a) by two (2) Officers acting jointly, one of them being the Chief Executive Officer; 

or 

b) by one (1) Officer jointly with one (1) attorney-in-fact duly appointed pursuant 

to paragraph 1 of this article; or  

c) by two (2) joint attorneys-in-fact, duly appointed pursuant to paragraph 1 of this 

article; or 

d) by any two (2) Officers acting jointly, in the circumstance of items (a) and/or (c) 

of Paragraph 3 below. 

 

Paragraph 1 - The powers of attorney granted by the Company must be signed by the 

Chief Executive Officer, but always jointly with the Chief Financial Officer, Chief Investor 

Relations and New Business Officer or Head Rent a Car Officer, except insofar as they are 

related to the Company's representation for the purposes of paragraph d of Paragraph 3 

of that article, in which case the powers of attorney may be granted by the Company by 

means of the individual signature of the Chief Executive Officer, and in all cases they shall 

contain specific powers and terms of validity not exceeding one (01) year, delegation of 

powers being prohibited (unless expressly authorized in any power of attorney granted), 

except, in any case, for the grant of powers of attorney for judicial purposes.  

 

Paragraph 2 - In their absences or temporary disqualifications, the Officers shall be 

replaced by a duly appointed attorney under the terms set forth in paragraph 1 above.  

 

Paragraph 3 - Notwithstanding the above, for acts that create obligations for the Company:  

 



54 

 

a) In amounts up to ten million Reais (R$ 10,000,000.00) in a single transaction or 

in a series of interconnected transactions, the Company shall be represented: (i) 

by any two (2) Officers acting jointly; (ii) by any of the Officers jointly with a duly 

appointed attorney in the manner set forth in these By-Laws; or (iii) by two (2) 

attorneys-in-fact, acting jointly, duly appointed pursuant to these By-Laws; 

 

b) In amounts exceeding ten million Reais (R$ 10,000,000.00) in a single transaction 

or in a series of interconnected transactions, the Company shall be represented 

only by the joint signature of the Chief Executive Officer and of the Chief Financial 

Officer, except for those acts directly related to the Company's corporate 

purpose, namely, the signing of the car rental agreements in which the Company 

is listed as a lessor, in which case the Company shall be represented as "a" above;  

 

c) In financial obligations whose value, individually considered, exceeds fifty million 

Reais (R$ 50,000,000.00) and which are approved by the Board of Directors 

pursuant to item (xi) of article 19 of these By-Laws, (i) by any two (2) Officers 

acting jointly; (ii) by any of the Officers jointly with a duly appointed attorney in 

the manner set forth in these By-Laws; or (iii) by two (2) attorneys-in-fact, acting 

jointly, duly appointed pursuant to these By-Laws; and 

 

d) For acts of representation of the Company before bodies, departments and public, federal, 

state or municipal entities, including Detrans (State Traffic Departments) and Ciretrans (Regional 

Traffic Jurisdictions), regarding the transfer of vehicles; or before class entities, trade unions and 

labor courts; or for representation of the Company in lawsuits, administrative and arbitration 

proceedings, to provide clarifications in testimony, as an agent or witness, (i) by one (1) officer; 

or (ii) by one (1) attorney-in-fact, duly appointed in the manner set forth in these By-Laws. 

 

Paragraph 4 - In the event that there is no consensus between the Chief Executive Officer 

and the Chief Financial Officer in relation to the performance of any act and/or the 

signature of any document binding upon the Company pursuant to paragraph 3 above, the 

decision shall be taken by an extraordinary resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 

Article 27 - The Executive Board, under the terms of these By-Laws and the law, is prohibited 

from performing acts that depend on prior approval or authorization of the Shareholders’ Meeting 

or Board of Directors, as the case may be, before obtaining their approval or authorization.  

 

Sole Paragraph - Any acts performed by Directors, Officers, attorneys-in-fact or employees 

in operations or businesses that are not related to the corporate purpose, such as aval 

guarantee, surety, mortgage, pledge, endorsement or any other guarantees are void and 

ineffective in relation to the Company, except in the event of granting an aval guarantee, 

surety, mortgage, surety, pledge, endorsement or any other guarantees of the Company 

to the companies Controlled directly or indirectly by the Company and vice-versa, in these 

cases, (i) the Executive Board shall expressly authorize the granting of such guarantees, 

the individual amounts of which shall be limited to fifty million Reais (R$50,000,000.00), 
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and (ii) the Board of Directors shall expressly authorize the granting of such guarantees 

when the individual amounts thereof are greater than fifty million Reais (R$50,000,000.00). 

 
CHAPTER IV 

SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS 
 

Article 28 - The Shareholders’ Meeting shall meet, annually, within four (4) months following 

the end of each fiscal year and, extraordinarily, whenever the corporate interests so require it, 

observing in its call notice, opening and resolution the applicable legal provisions and the 

provisions of these By-Laws. 

 

Paragraph 1 - The Shareholders’ Meetings shall be called at least fifteen (15) days in 

advance in the first call, and eight (8) days in advance on second call, if necessary.  

 

Paragraph 2 - The Shareholders’ Meetings shall be chaired by the Chairman of the Board 

of Directors, who shall appoint the secretary and, in the event of his or her absence or 

impediment, by any member of the Board of Directors, or in his or her absence, by any 

attending officer chosen by the shareholders. 

 

Paragraph 3 - The Shareholders’ Meeting attended by all shareholders shall be deemed 

regular, regardless of the call notice formalities. 

 

Article 29 - To take part in the Shareholders’ Meeting, the shareholder shall submit up to 

twenty-four (24) hours prior to the date of the respective Meeting: (i) a proof issued by the 

depositary financial institution of the book-entry shares held or held in custody, pursuant to 

article 126 of the Brazilian Corporation Law and/or to the shareholders participating in the 

fungible custody of registered shares, the statement containing the respective share issued by 

the competent body dated up to two (2) business days prior to the Shareholders’ Meeting; and 

(ii) power of attorney, duly regularized in accordance with the law and these By-Laws, in the 

event of shareholders representation. The shareholders or their legal representatives shall also 

attend the Shareholders’ Meeting with documents that prove their identity.  

 

Paragraph 1 - The shareholder may be represented at the Shareholders’ Meeting by an 

attorney-in-fact appointed less than one (1) year before, who may be a shareholder, a 

manager of the Company, a lawyer, a financial institution or an investment fund manager 

who represents the joint owners. 

 

Paragraph 2 - The resolutions of the Shareholders’ Meetings, except for the special 

events provided for by law and these By-Laws, shall be taken by absolute majority of 

votes among those present, not counting blank votes. 

 

Paragraph 3 - Minutes of the Shareholders’ Meetings shall be drawn up in the form of a 

summary of the facts that occurred, including dissent and protest, containing a 
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transcription of the resolutions made, in compliance with the provisions of paragraph 1 of 

article 130 of the Brazilian Corporation Law. 

 

Paragraph 4 - The Shareholders’ Meeting shall be opened, in the first call, upon attendance 

of shareholders representing at least twenty-five percent (25%) of the total shares issued 

by the Company, except when the law requires a higher quorum and in compliance with 

the provisions of these By-Laws; and, on second call, with any number of shareholders. 

 

Article 30 - The Shareholders’ Meeting may suspend the exercise of the rights, including the right 

to vote, of the shareholder who fails to comply with any obligation imposed by the Brazilian 

Corporation Law, by its regulation or by these By-Laws.  

 

Paragraph 1 - The Shareholders’ Meeting that approves the suspension of the direct 

political rights of the shareholder shall establish, in addition to other aspects, the scope of 

the suspension, it being understood that the suspension of the rights of inspection and 

request of information secured by law shall be prohibited. 

 

Paragraph 2 - The suspension of rights shall cease as soon as the obligation giving rise to 

the suspension has been rectified. 

 

Article 31 - It is incumbent upon the Shareholders’ Meeting, in addition to the other attributions 

provided by law:  

 

a) to review the accounts of managers, examine, discuss and vote on the financial 

statements; 

b) to elect and remove from office, at any time, the members of the Board of 

Directors and of the Fiscal Council, when instated; 

c) to set the annual global compensation of the members of the Board of Directors 

and of the Executive Board, as well as of the members of the Fiscal Council, if 

installed; 

d) to amend the By-Laws; 

e) to resolve on any corporate reorganization, including merger, spin-off or 

consolidation (or of shares) and/or another form of business combination, 

pursuant to CVM Resolution no. 665 of August 4, 2011 (or another rule that 

replaces or amends it), as well as any other transaction with similar effects (such 

as, but not limited to, drop down of assets) involving the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries; 

f) resolve on the dissolution, liquidation, termination, or authorization for a request 

for court-supervised or out-of-court reorganization or confession of bankruptcy 

by either the Company or any of its subsidiaries;  

g) to grant share bonuses and resolve on any stock split or reverse split; 

h) to approve the creation and adjustments of stock option plans to its managers 

and employees and to individuals providing services to the Company, and to the 
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managers and employees of other companies that are directly or indirectly 

controlled by the Company; 

i) to resolve, in accordance with a proposal submitted by the management, on the 

establishment or modification of the policy on dividends and allocation of profits 

and results of the fiscal year of the Company (including, but not limited to, the 

distribution of dividends), and to declare and distribute dividends in any amount 

in excess of twenty-five percent (25%) of the Company’s net profit or interest on 

equity in any amount in excess of the amount permitted by the applicable law; 

j) to resolve on any capital increase or reduction or on the issue of shares or other 

securities convertible into shares issued by the Company, unless otherwise 

provided for in article 6 of these By-Laws; 

k) to elect the liquidator, as well as the Fiscal Council that shall operate during the 

liquidation period; 

l) to resolve on delisting as a publicly-held company with the CVM;  

m) to resolve on the Company’s withdrawal from Novo Mercado, which shall be 

notified to B3 in writing, at least thirty (30) days in advance;  

n) to suspend the exercise of rights of the shareholders, as provided for by article 

120 of the Corporation Law; 

o) to choose a specialized company to prepare the valuation report in the events 

and as provided for in these By-Laws;  

p) to approve transactions between the Company and its related parties, except its 

affiliates, involving (a) disposal of vehicles in excess of the amount of 

R$12,000,000.00 per year, provided that the prices charged are in accordance 

with the minimum prices defined in the month of sale by the Semi-New 

Committee; and (b) purchase of parts and services exceeding the amount of 

R$4,000,000.00 per year, provided that in compliance with the terms and 

conditions established in the Purchase Policy in effect at the time of purchase. 

(For purposes of this article: (i) affiliate shall mean any legal entity directly or 

indirectly controlled by the Company; and (ii) related parties shall mean the 

shareholders, officers and members of the Company’s Board of Directors and 

their respective spouses, siblings, ascendants or descendants in first or second 

degree, or any entities in which any shareholders, statutory officers and members 

of the Company’s Board of Directors may elect, under the law, by voting 

agreement or any other kind of agreement, one (1) or more statutory officers or 

members of the Board of Directors), or have any influence on the direction of the 

Company’s activities and guidance of its bodies); 

q) purchase, by the Company, of any other company that operates in the car rental 

industry (rental company) with a fleet of more than ten thousand (10,000) 

vehicles or of a car rental brand other than a substitute of the brand “Unidas”; 

r) the performance of a public offering of shares by the Company, whereby the 

Company’s valuation used for that purpose is smaller than two billion and five 

hundred million Reais (R$2,500,000,000.00) on a pre-money basis; and  
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s) repurchase or redemption of shares or securities convertible into shares issued 

by the Company, except for the repurchase or redemption of shares up to the 

limit of four percent (4%) of its capital stock for transfer to the beneficiaries of 

the call option plans granted by the Company. 

 

CHAPTER V 
FISCAL COUNCIL 

 
Article 32 – The Company’s Fiscal Council shall operate on a non-permanent basis and, whenever 

in operation, it shall be composed of three (3) sitting members and the same number of alternate 

members, who may be shareholders or not, and who may be elected and removed from office 

by the Shareholders’ Meeting at any time. The Company’s Fiscal Council shall be composed, 

implemented and remunerated in compliance with the applicable law. 

 

Paragraph 1 – The members of the Fiscal Council shall be vested in office upon signature 

of the corresponding instrument drawn up on the proper book. The investiture in office of 

the members of the Fiscal Council shall be conditional upon execution of the instrument of 

investiture, which shall include their agreement to be subject to the arbitration clause set 

forth in Article 50 of these By-Laws, and to their compliance with the applicable legal 

requirements. 

 

Paragraph 2 – The members of the Fiscal Council shall also, immediately after they are 

vested in office, communicate to the Company the number and characteristics of the 

securities issued by the Company, its controlling and controlled companies, in these last 

two cases to the extent that they are publicly-held companies, which are directly or 

indirectly held by such members, including Derivatives.  

 

Paragraph 3 – The members of the Fiscal Council shall elect their Chairman at the first 

meeting of the Fiscal Council to be held after creation thereof. 

 

Paragraph 4 – The members of the Fiscal Council shall be replaced by their respective 

alternate members whenever they are absent or impeded. 

 

Paragraph 5 – In case of vacancy in office as member of the Fiscal Council, the respective 

alternate member shall hold office. If there is no such alternate member, the Shareholders’ 

Meeting shall be called to elect a member for the vacant office. 

 

Paragraph 6 – No person who has a relationship with any company that may be deemed a 

competitor of the Company may be elected member of the Company’s Fiscal Council, and 

no person in the following capacities shall be elected as a member of the Fiscal Council: 

(a) employee, shareholder or member of any management, technical or fiscal body of a 

competitor or of a controlling or controlled company of a competitor; (b) spouse or relative 

up to 2nd degree of any member of any management, technical or fiscal body of a 

competitor or of a controlling or controlled company of a competitor.  
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Paragraph 7 – In case any shareholder wishes to appoint one or more representatives for 

the Fiscal Council who were members of the Fiscal Council in the period following the last 

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, such shareholder shall notify the Company in writing 

twenty-five (25) days in advance of the date of the Shareholders’ Meeting that shall elect 

the Directors, informing the name, identification and full professional résumé of the 

candidates.  

 

Article 33 – Whenever the Fiscal Council is in operation, it shall meet whenever required under 

the law, and review the financial statements at least on a quarterly basis. 

 

Paragraph 1 – A meeting shall be deemed regularly called, regardless of any formalities, if 

attended by all members of the Fiscal Council. 

 

Paragraph 2 – The Fiscal Council shall make statements by a qualified majority of votes 

whenever a majority of its members is present. 

 

Paragraph 3 – All resolutions of the Fiscal Council shall be recorded in minutes drawn up 

in the respective Book of Minutes and Opinions of the Fiscal Council, signed by the Members 

present. 

 

Article 34 – The Shareholders’ Meeting that elects the Fiscal Council shall set the compensation 

of its members, which shall not be smaller, for each sitting member, than one-tenth of the average 

compensation set for each Officer, not computing benefits, representation allowances and profit 

sharing. 

 

 

CHAPTER VI 
FISCAL YEAR, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND DISTRIBUTION OF PROFITS 

 

 

Article 35 – The fiscal year shall begin on January 1st and end on December 31 of each year, 

when the balance sheet and the other financial statements for the fiscal year ended shall be 

prepared. 

 

Sole Paragraph – The management shall prepare, for presentation with the financial 

statements of the fiscal year, a proposal of allocation of the net profit, in compliance with 

the provisions of these By-Laws.  

 

Article 36 – Accrued losses, if any, and the provision for income tax and social contribution on 

net profit shall be deducted from the result of the fiscal year before any equity interest. 

 

Paragraph 1 – The net profit for the fiscal year shall be allocated as follows:  
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a) five percent (5%) shall be allocated, prior to any other allocation, to the legal reserve, 

which shall not exceed twenty percent (20%) of the capital stock. In any fiscal 

year in which the balance of the legal reserve accrued by the amount of the 

capital reserves referred to in paragraph 1 of Article 182 of the Corporation Law 

exceeds thirty percent (30%) of the capital stock, the allocation of part of the net 

profit of the fiscal year to the legal reserve shall not be mandatory; 

b) a portion shall be allocated for payment of the annual minimum mandatory dividend 

to the shareholders, which shall not be smaller than twenty-five percent (25%) 

of the net profit ascertained in the fiscal year, with due regard for the main 

provision of this article, paragraph 3 below, and article 202 of the Corporation 

Law;  

c) a portion, as recommended by the management bodies, may be allocated for creation 

of reserve for contingencies, as provided for by article 195 of the Corporation 

Law; 

d) a portion, as recommended by the management bodies, may be withheld based on 

the previously approved capital budget, as provided for by article 196 of the 

Corporation Law; and  

e) any balance shall be allocated as provided by the Shareholders’ Meeting, with due 

regard for the legal provisions. 

 

Paragraph 2 – The Company shall maintain the statutory reserve of retained earnings 

named “Reserve of Investments”, which shall be designed for cash reinforcement to 

conduct of the Company’s business and to enable the organic growth of the Company, to 

be composed of one hundred percent (100%) of the net profit remaining after the legal 

and statutory deductions and allocations, unless otherwise resolved by the shareholders at 

a Shareholders’ Meeting. The maximum limit for establishment of the Reserve of 

Investments shall be the amount corresponding to the Company’s capital stock amount, 

minus the balances of the other reserves of retained earnings of the Company, as provided 

for by article 199 of the Corporation Law, and once said limit has been reached, the 

Shareholders’ Meeting shall resolve on the application of the surplus to capital payment or 

increase or to the distribution of dividends. 

 

Paragraph 3 – The shareholders shall be entitled to receive an annual minimum mandatory 

dividend of twenty-five percent (25%) of the net profit for the fiscal year, decreased or 

increased by the following amounts: (i) amount allocated for establishment of a legal 

reserve; (ii) amount allocated for formation of reserve for contingencies and reversal of 

the same reserves established in previous fiscal years, (iii) amount resulting from reversal 

of the reserve of retained earnings to realize established in previous fiscal years, as 

provided for by article 202, item II of the Corporation Law. 

  

Paragraph 4 – The amount of the mandatory dividend may be limited to the amount of the 

net profit realized under the law. 
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Paragraph 5 – The dividend established in paragraph 4 of this article 36 shall not be 

mandatory in such fiscal year when the Board of Directors notifies the Annual Shareholders’ 

Meeting that the payment of such dividend is incompatible with the Company’s financial 

situation. Said situation shall be notified to the CVM, within five (5) days as from the Annual 

Shareholders’ Meeting, together with the justification submitted by the Board of Directors 

and with an opinion of the Fiscal Council in that regard. 

 

Article 37 – By a proposal of the Executive Board, approved by the Board of Directors, “ad 

referendum” of the Shareholders’ Meeting, the Company may pay or record the credit interest on 

equity to the shareholders, with due regard for the applicable law, which may be attributed to 

the amount of the mandatory dividend established in these By-Laws. 

 

Paragraph 1 – In case of recording of credit of interest to the shareholders during the fiscal 

year and their attribution to the amount of mandatory dividend, the shareholders shall be 

ensured the payment of any remaining balance thereof. In case the amount of the 

dividends is smaller than the amount of recording of credit to them, the Company shall not 

charge the shareholders for the surplus balance. 

 

Paragraph 2 – The actual payment of interest on equity, in case of recording of credit 

during the fiscal year, shall be made by resolution of the Board of Directors, in the course 

of the fiscal year or in the subsequent fiscal year.  

 

Article 38 - The Company may prepare balance sheets biannually or in shorter frequency and its 

Board of Directors may resolve to: 

 

a) declare dividends or interest on shareholders’ equity to be paid into the income account, 

to be calculated on the biannual balance sheet and charged to mandatory dividends, if any; 

b) distribute dividends for periods of less than six (6) months, or interest on shareholders’ 

equity to be charged to mandatory dividends, if any, provided that the total dividend paid 

out in each half of the fiscal year do not exceed the amount of capital reserves; and 

c) declare interim dividends or interest on shareholders’ equity paid into the retained earnings 

or profit reserve account in the latest full- or half-year balance, to be charged to mandatory 

dividends, if any.  

 

Article 39 – The Shareholders’ Meeting may decide to capitalize profit or capital reserves, including 

those recognized in interim balance sheets, subject to the applicable law.  

 

Article 40 - Dividends not received or claimed will be barred by the statute of limitations within 

three (3) years as from the date on which they were available to the shareholder, and will then 

revert in favor of the Company.  

 

 

CHAPTER VII 
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SALE OF CONTROLLING INTEREST, DELISTING AND LEAVING THE NOVO MERCADO 
TRADING SEGMENT  

 

Article 41 - The direct or indirect disposal of the Company’s control through a single transaction 

or a series of successive transactions shall be agreed on condition that the acquirer of control 

undertakes to hold a public offering for Company shares owned by other shareholders subject to 

conditions and terms stipulated in the applicable law and regulations and in the Novo Mercado 

segment rules, in order to ensure that they are given the same treatment as the Selling 

Shareholder.  

 

Paragraph 1 - For purposes of this Article 41, “control” and its related terms shall be 

understood as the power actually used by a shareholder to manage corporate business 

and directly or indirectly exercise significant influence over the actions of the Company’s 

bodies, on a de facto or a legal basis, irrespective of the equity interest held by it.  

 

Paragraph 2 - In case of indirect disposal of the Company’s control, the acquirer shall 

disclose the value attributed to the Company for the purpose of setting the public offering 

price and release a statement showing the basis for setting this price. 

 

Article 42 - After a transaction to sell the Company’s control and the subsequent public offering 

referred to in article 41, the acquirer of control, whenever necessary, shall take appropriate 

measures to obtain at least twenty-five percent (25%) of the Company’s total outstanding shares 

within eighteen (18) months as from acquisition of the control.  

 

Article 43 - Any individual or legal entity, investment fund or other type of investor who acquires 

or becomes the holder of a direct or indirect equity interest of twenty percent (20%) or more in 

the capital stock shall, within sixty (60) days as from the date of acquisition or from the event 

that resulted in direct or indirect ownership of equity interest amounting to twenty percent (20%) 

or more of the Company’s total shares, register or request the registration, as applicable, of a 

public offering for all of the Company’s shares, subject to the applicable CVM regulations, Novo 

Mercado rules, other B3 regulations and the provisions of this article.  

 

Paragraph 1 - The public offering for acquisition of shares shall comply with the following 

principles, and if applicable, others expressly stipulated in CVM Instruction No. 361 of 

March 5, 2002: (i) it shall be addressed to all shareholders of the Company without 

distinction; (ii) be made at an auction to be held at B3; (iii) offer a price determined as 

per Paragraph 2 hereof; and (iv) be paid in cash in Brazilian currency against acquisition 

in the public offering for the Company’s shares. 

 

Paragraph 2 - The purchase price set in the public offering for each share issued by the 

Company shall be the greater of: (i) 130% of the Company’s fair value determined by a 

valuation report prepared as per Article 47 of these By-Laws, divided by the total number 

of shares issued by the Company; (ii) 130% of the issue price of each of the shares in 

the last capital increase made through public distribution in the period of twenty-four 
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(24) months before the public offering of shares, duly adjusted for inflation using the 

IPCA up to the time of payment; and (iii) 130% of the weighted average unit share price 

of the Company’s shares during the ninety (90) days preceding the announcement of the 

public offering.  

 

Paragraph 3 - The public offering for shares as mentioned in the head provision of this 

article shall not exclude the possibility of another shareholder of Company, or the 

Company itself, if applicable, formulating a competing public offering for shares, as per 

applicable regulations.  

 

Paragraph 4 - The public offering for shares mentioned in the head provision of this article 

may be waived by means of the favorable vote of shareholders at a Shareholders’ Meeting 

specially called for this purpose, subject to the following rules: (i) the waiver of acquisition 

of shares will be deemed approved by a simple majority vote of the attending 

shareholders, on the first or second call; and (ii) the shares held by the acquirer for 

purposes of obtaining a quorum for resolution as per item (i) above shall not be 

computed. 

 

Paragraph 5 - The acquirer shall comply with any CVM requests or requirements related 

to the public offering for shares within the maximum periods stipulated in the applicable 

regulations. 

 

Paragraph 6 - If the acquirer does not fulfill the obligations set forth in this article, 

including with respect to compliance with the maximum terms (i) for registering or 

applying to register the public offering for shares, or (ii) to meet any CVM requests or 

requirements, the Company’s Board of Directors shall call a Special Shareholders’ Meeting 

at which the acquirer shall not be able to vote, to resolve on the suspension of the 

exercise of the rights of an acquirer that has not complied with any obligation under this 

article, pursuant to article 120 of Brazilian Corporation Law, without prejudice to the 

Acquiring Shareholder’s liability for losses and damages caused to other shareholders as 

a result of noncompliance with the obligations set forth in this article. 

 

Paragraph 7 - Any individual or legal entity, investment fund or other type of investor 

that acquires other rights or becomes a holder of other rights, including (i) other rights 

under corporate law, such as usufruct or succession to shares issued by the Company, 

purchase or subscription options or exchange, for any reason, which may result in the 

acquisition of shares issued by the Company or any other right that permanently or 

temporarily grants them shareholders’ political or equity rights over shares issued by the 

Company amounting to twenty percent (20%) or more of all Company total shares, or 

which may result in the acquisition of Company shares amounting to twenty percent 

(20%) or more of all shares issued by the Company; or (ii) Derivatives that have rights 

to shares amounting to twenty percent (20%) or more of the Company’s shares, shall 

also register or request the registration, as the case may be, of a public offering for 
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shares on the terms set forth in this Article 43 within sixty (60) days as from the date of 

said acquisition or event.  

 

Paragraph 8 - The obligations stated in Article 254-A of the Brazilian Corporation Law and 

in articles 41 and 42 of these By-Laws shall not exclude the acquirer’s fulfillment of the 

obligations set forth in this article.  

 

Paragraph 9 – The provisions of this Article 43 shall not apply in case a person becomes 

a holder of shares issued by the Company in an amount equal to or in excess of twenty 

percent (20%) of the total shares issued by it as a result of (i) another company being 

absorbed by the Company; (ii) the shares of another company being absorbed by the 

Company; (iii) treasury shares being cancelled; (iv) shares being redeemed; (v) 

Company’s shares being subscribed in a single primary offering approved by the 

Shareholders’ Meeting for a proposed capital increase that has determined the shares’ 

issue price based on the Economic Value obtained as per an economic-financial valuation 

report for the Company compiled by a specialized institution or company with proven 

experience of the valuation of publicly-held companies or through a bookbuilding 

procedure in the context of a public offering of shares; or (vi) succession due to corporate 

reorganization or legal provision - including succession by inheritance - involving 

Company’s shareholders and (a) their respective direct or indirect subsidiaries, or (b) 

their respective direct or indirect controlling shareholders. For purposes of this paragraph, 

control means owning at least fifty percent (50%) plus one share of the voting stock of 

the controlled company and exercising the rights mentioned in subparagraphs (a) and 

(b) of Article 116 of the Brazilian Corporation Law.  

 

Paragraph 10 - For purposes of calculating twenty percent (20%) of all shares issued by 

the Company as mentioned herein, the following shall not be computed: involuntary 

shareholding increases resulting from treasury shares being cancelled, decreases in the 

Company’s capital stock with shares being canceled, redeemed or reimbursed. 

 

Paragraph 11 - The provisions of this Article 43 shall also be observed whenever the 

direct or indirect holding of at least twenty percent (20%) of the capital stock is reached 

by the acquirer through a public offering required by CVM Instruction No. 361/02 or any 

other rules that may replace it. Any difference in unit price per share determined between 

a public offering based on this article and one as required by the abovementioned CVM 

Instruction No. 361/02 shall be paid in favor of the shareholders accepting the public 

offering for shares. 

 

Article 44 - In addition to the provisions of Article 9 of these By-Laws, as from the date on which 

the Company no longer has a controlling shareholder, any individual or legal entity, investment 

fund or other type of investor whose direct or indirect equity interest reaches five percent (5%) 

or more of the Company’s capital stock and who wishes to acquire more outstanding shares, shall 

make each new acquisition in B3, it being understood that private trading or trading on the over-

the-counter market shall be prohibited.  
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Article 45 - In public offerings made by the controlling shareholder or by the Company, when 

cancelling the Company’s listing as a publicly-held corporation, the minimum price to be offered 

shall correspond to the fair price determined by the valuation report, subject to the applicable 

legal and regulatory requirements.  

 

Article 46 - The Company’s delisting from the Novo Mercado segment shall be (i) previously voted 

by the Shareholders’ Meeting and (ii) notified in writing to B3 at least thirty (30) days in advance.  

 

Sole Paragraph: The Company, its senior management and shareholders must comply with 

the Listing Regulations for Issuers and Admission to the Trading in Securities, including 

rules for withdrawal and exclusion of trading in securities admitted to trading on organized 

markets managed by B3.  

 

Article 47 - The valuation report stipulated in the above articles of these By-Laws shall be compiled 

by a specialized institution or company with proven experience and independence in relation to 

the Company’s decision-making power, its managers and controlling shareholders, in addition to 

meeting the requirements of paragraph 1, article 8 of the Brazilian Corporation Law, and state 

liabilities as set forth in paragraph 6 of the same article.  

 

Paragraph 1 - Selecting the institution or specialized company responsible for determining 

the Company’s fair price is the exclusive competence of the Shareholders’ Meeting, and the 

respective resolution, for which blank votes shall not be computed, shall require a majority 

of votes of shareholders representing outstanding shares who attend the Shareholders’ 

Meeting, which, if opened on the first call, must be attended by shareholders representing 

at least twenty percent (20%) of all outstanding shares or, if opened on second call, may 

proceed with the presence of any number of shareholders representing the outstanding 

shares. 

 

Paragraph 2. - The costs of preparing the required valuation report shall be entirely borne 

by the offeror  

 

Article 48 - One single public offering for shares may be formulated for more than one of the 

purposes set forth in this Chapter VII under Novo Mercado segment rules or CVM regulations, 

provided that the procedures for all types of public offering for shares may be reconciled, there 

is no loss for the offering’s addressees, and the CVM’s authorization is obtained if required by the 

applicable legislation. 

 

Article 49 - The Company or the shareholders responsible for making the public offering for shares 

stipulated in this Chapter VII, in Novo Mercado segment rules or CVM regulations, may ensure 

effectiveness thereof through any shareholder, third party or, if applicable, through the company. 

The Company or shareholder, as applicable, shall not be exempted from the obligation to hold a 

public offering for shares through to its conclusion, in compliance with the applicable rules. 
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CHAPTER VIII 
ARBITRATION COURT 

 
Article 50 - The Company, its shareholders, senior management and sitting and alternate 

members of the Fiscal Council (if any), hereby undertake to submit to arbitration conducted by 

the Market Arbitration Chamber under its rules for all and any dispute or controversy that may 

arise between them, related to or arising from their status as issuer, shareholders, directors and 

officers, or fiscal council members, in particular, those arising from Law 6.385/76, Law 6.404, the 

Company’s By-Laws, as well as the National Monetary Council, Central Bank of Brazil and CVM 

rules, and any other rules applicable to the operation of the capital market in general, in addition 

to those stated in the Novo Mercado segment rules, the Market Arbitration Chamber’s rules, B3 

regulations and the Novo Mercado segment’s participation contract.  

 

Paragraph 1 - The Brazilian law alone shall be applicable to the merits of any and all matter 

of controversy, as well as to the execution, interpretation and validity of this arbitration 

clause. The arbitral tribunal shall consist of arbitrators selected in the manner required by 

the Arbitration Rules. The proceedings shall take place in the City of São Paulo, State of 

São Paulo, where the arbitral award shall be rendered. The arbitration shall be administered 

by the Market Arbitration Chamber itself and be conducted and judged as per the relevant 

provisions of the Arbitration Rules.  

 

Paragraph 2 - Without prejudice to the validity of this arbitration clause, any request for 

urgent measures submitted by the Parties before an Arbitral Tribunal has been created 

shall be referred to the Judicial Branch pursuant to item 5.1.3 of the Market Arbitration 

Chamber’s arbitration rules. 

 

 

CHAPTER IX 
LIQUIDATION 

 
Article 51 - The Company shall be dissolved and liquidated in the cases set forth by law, and its 

incumbent upon the Shareholders’ Meeting to determine the type of liquidation, and elect the 

liquidator and Fiscal Council, should this be the case, for this purpose. 
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CHAPTER X 
FINAL AND TRANSITORY PROVISIONS 

 
Article 52 - The Company shall be subject to shareholders’ agreements filed at its principal place 

of business, it being understood that the members chairing Shareholders’ Meetings or sitting on 

the Board of Directors are expressly prohibited from accepting a declaration of vote by any 

shareholder that is a signatory to a shareholders’ agreement duly filed at the Company’s principal 

place of business, to the extent that it is cast in noncompliance with the provisions of said 

agreement, and the Company is also expressly prohibited from accepting and transferring shares 

and/or encumbering and/or assigning the preemptive right for the subscription of shares and/or 

other securities that do not comply with the provisions and rules of a shareholder’s agreement. 

 

Sole Paragraph - Within thirty (30) days as from a request made by any shareholder, the 

Company shall file shareholders’ agreements at the Company’s principal place of business 

and have their obligations or encumbrance recorded in the Company’s books.  

 

Article 53 - Cases not covered by these By-Laws shall be resolved by the Shareholders’ Meeting 

and regulated in accordance with the provisions of the Brazilian Corporation Law and the Novo 

Mercado rules. 

 

Article 54 - Pursuant to Article 45 of the Brazilian Corporation Law, the amount of reimbursement 

to be paid to dissenting shareholders shall be based on shareholder equity posted in the most 

recent balance sheet approved by a Shareholders’ Meeting. 

 

Article 55 – Publications required under the Brazilian Corporation Law shall be published in the 

Official Gazette of the State of São Paulo and in another mass circulation newspaper.  

 

Article 56 - Articles 43 and 44 of these By-Laws shall not apply to the current shareholders or 

Group of Shareholders of the Company (individually or jointly) who already hold twenty percent 

(20%) or more of the total number of shares issued by the Company and its successors on the 

date of publication of the notice of commencement of the first public distribution of Company’s 

shares, applicable exclusively to those investors who acquire shares and become shareholders of 

the Company as from this publication date. 

 

****** 
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